
1NATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025



2 NATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025



iNATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

OUR VISION

OUR MISSION

CORE VALUES

The Fund's Journey

1965
1 2 3

1987 2014

Providend Fund 
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through Cap 258  

as a department under 
Ministry of Labour

Autonomous Provident 
Fund run as a State 

Corporation 1987 under 
a Board of Trustees

2014 transformed into 3 
Funds under NSSF Act 

Cap. 258 
(Pension Scheme, New 
Provident Fund and Old 

Provident Fund) 

To be the Trusted 
Social Security Provider
delivering exceptional
value to our Members

To empower our 
Members
 to achieve financial
security through prudent
investments and
value adding 
solutions

Member - Centric  
Integrity
Innovation
Collaboration
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ACRONYMS AND GLOSSARY 
OF TERMS

AUC	 Asset Under Construction
CEO	 Chief Executive Officer
CGU	 Cash Generating Unit
DCF	 Discounted Cash Flow
DG	 Director General
ECL	 Expected Credit Loss
FVOCI	 Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
FVTPL	 Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
IAS	 International Accounting Standards
IFRS	 International Financial Reporting Standards
KCB	 Kenya Commercial Bank
MT	 Managing Trustee
NSSF	 National Social Security Fund
NT	 National Treasury
OCI	 Other Comprehensive Income
OTC	 Over the Counter
PFM	 Public Finance Management
PPE	 Property, Plant and Equipment
PSASB	 Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
RBA 	 Retirement Benefits Authority
SDG	 Sustainable Development Goals
USD	 United States Dollar
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KEY ENTITY INFORMATION

(a)	 Background information

The National Social Security Fund (NSSF) is established under the National Social Security Fund 
Act Cap 258 Laws of Kenya. At the Cabinet level, NSSF is represented by the Cabinet Secretary in 
charge of Labour and Social Protection. The Fund is governed by a Board of Trustees constituted 
as per the NSSF Act, with a tripartite representation from the most representative workers’ 
organization, the most representative employers’ organization and the Government of Kenya 
(through the Ministry of Labour and Social Protection, and the National Treasury). The Board is 
responsible for the general policy and strategic direction of the Fund.

(b)	 Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Fund is to provide social security to Kenyan workers. We achieve this by 
registering members, receiving their contributions, investing the funds prudently, and processing 
benefits to pay out to eligible members or their dependants when their claims become due.

•	 The Vision of the Fund is to be the Trusted Social Security Provider delivering exceptional 
value to our members.

•	 Mission statement is to empower our members to achieve financial security through prudent 
investments and value adding solutions.

•	 The Core Values of the Fund are: Member-Centric; Integrity; Innovation; Collaboration.

Registration of 
Members

Collection of 
Contributions

Prudent 
Investment 

of Funds

Timely Payment 
of Benefits

MANDATE

KSHS
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Branch Network Map

City Center Branch

Donholm/Buru Buru Branch

Hill Branch

Eastleigh Branch

Kiambu Branch

Kitengela Branch

Ongata Rongai Branch

Westlands Branch

Mlolongo Branch

Ruiru Branch

Kikuyu Branch

Changamwe

Mandera
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Branch Network and Contact Information
NYANZA REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE
Al Imran Plaza 3rd Floor
Oginga Odinga Street
P O Box 1037-40100 
Kisumu
Tel 057-2021703

MIGORI BRANCH
Pesoda Plaza, Ground 
and Part of First Floor. 
Migori Cbd Along 
Migori-
Isibania Highway
P.o Box 513-40400, 
Suna Migori. 
Mobile: 0786222323.
E-Mail: Nssf.migori@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

KISII BRANCH
1st Floor, MAGSON PLA-
ZA, Postal Road
P.O. Box 898-40200, KISII
Telephone: 058-
2030206
Mobile: 0737409394
E-mail: nssf.kisii@nss-
fkenya.co.ke

SIAYA BRANCH
Mwalimu Plaza, Ground 
Floor Oginga Odinga 
Street 
P.O. Box 1169-40600, 
SIAYA
Tel: 057-5321747, 
Wireless 0737 409 390
E-mail: nssf.siaya@
nssfkenya.co.ke

KISUMU BRANCH
Al-Imran Plaza, 3rd floor 
Oginga Odinga Street
P.O. BOX  1037 – 40100; 
Kisumu.
Tel.  0737 409 447, 057-
2024338
E-mail: nssf.kisumu@
nssfkenya.co.ke

NYAMIRA BRANCH
Nash City Building, 1st 
Floor, Miruka Road.
P. O. BOX 249-40500
NYAMIRA
TEL. 058-6144000
MOBILE:0780525249
E-mail: nssf.nyamira@
nssfkenya.co.ke

HOMABAY OFFICE
LUORE PLAZA, 1st 
FLOOR, Bank Street,
P.O. Box 167-40300 
Homabay
Tel: 0737 409 446, 059-
22063
E-Mail: Nssf.homabay@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

WESTERN REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE
1st Floor, Ambwere 
Furaha Centre, Sudi 
Road,
P.o Box 833 -50100, 
Kakamega
Tel: 056-2030428
Mobile: 0737409418

KAKAMEGA BRANCH
1st Floor, Ambwere 
Furaha Centre, Sudi 
Road,
P.o Box 833 -50100, 
Kakamega,
Tel: 056-2030428
Mobile: 0737409418
E-Mail: Nssf.kakamega@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

VIHIGA BRANCH
1st Floor, Cherry House, 
Kakamega 
 Kisumu Highway,
P.o Box 1446 - 50300, 
Maragoli,
Tel: (056)2031110
E-Mail: Nssf.vihiga@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

BUSIA BRANCH
Ground floor; Rasto-
Park  
Plaza, off Kisumu –Busia 
Road
P. O.  Box 109-50400, 
Busia
Tel. No.055-2322270, 
Fax no.055-2322075
Mobile no.0737 409 
441
E-mail: nssf.busia@
nssfkenya.co.ke

BUNGOMA BRANCH	
Ground floor, Christ The 
King Catholic Diocese 
building, Mumias Road.
P. O. Box 572-50200
BUNGOMA.
TEL: 055-30123
Mobile No. 0737409456
E-mail: nssf.bungoma@
nssfkenya.co.ke

SOUTH RIFT REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE
AFC Building, 1st Floor
Kijabe Row, 
P. O. BOX 1510-20100, 
Nakuru
Tel. 051-2216449

NAKURU BRANCH
Polo Centre Ground 
floor 
P O BOX  1510 - 20100, 
NAKURU
TEL 051-
2210952/0737633903
E-mail: nssf.nakuru@
nssfkenya.co.ke

SOTIK BRANCH
Bureti Tea Growers Sac-
co Building, Main Street, 
Mobile: 0737409413
P.O BOX 947 SOTIK.
E-mail: nssf.sotik@nss-
fkenya.co.ke

NAROK BRANCH
Oltalet Mall - Ist Floor 
-Narok 
P.O Box 443-20500, 
NAROK
TEL: 050-2222062
Mobile No. 
0737409439
E-mail: nssf.narok@
nssfkenya.co.ke
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Branch Network and Contact Information
MOLO BRANCH
Maziwa house, ground 
floor, Next to post Bank 
Opposite Riva petrol 
station
Molo Town. 
PO BOX 214-20106 
Molo. 
Mobile 0771889439
E-mail: nssf.molo@
nssfkenya.co.ke

NAIVASHA BRANCH
Wagi House, Kenyatta 
Avenue
P. O. Box 361 - 20117, 
Naivasha
Tel:  050 – 2020146
Mobile: 0737 409437
E-Mail: Nssf.naivasha@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

KERICHO BRANCH
Sinendet Towers, 2nd 
Floor 
Kisumu - Nairobi 
Highway
P. O. Box 586 - 00200
KERICHO
Tel. 0737 409 470
E-mail: nssf.kericho@
nssfkenya.co.ke

NORTH RIFT REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE
Kiptagich House, Off 
Uganda Road 3RD Floor
P.O. Box 1120-30100
Eldoret

ELDORET BRANCH
Kiptagich House, Off 
Uganda Road 2nd Floor
P.O. Box 1120-30100
Eldoret
Tel. 053-2062284, 053-
2061476, 0737409392
E-Mail: Nssf.eldoret@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

KITALE BRANCH
MEGA CENTRE, 1st Floor, 
Makasembo Street
P.O. Box 49 - 30200 
Kitale.
Land Line: 054-30861; 
Mobile No. 0737409463.
E-Mail: Nssf.kitale@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

LODWAR BRANCH
 Northlands Building, 
Next to Doctor’s Mini 
Plaza.
P.O.box 106 -30500
Lodwar.
TEL. 0735 888877.
E-mail: nssf.lodwar@
nssfkenya.co.ke

KABARNET BRANCH
Sunrise Arcade 1st Floor
Next To Mwalimu Plaza 
(Boresha)
Stage Road
P.O. Box 14-30400
Kabarnet
Tel. (053)22162
E-Mail: Nssf.kabarnet@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

KAPSABET BRANCH
AFC Building
Ground Floor
Tel. 053-5252113,   
0735888887
E-Mail: Nssf.kapsabet@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

NANDI HILLS BRANCH
Post Office Building – 
Opposite Nandi Police 
Station
P.O Box 207, NANDI-
HILLS
Tel.053-6643186
Cell 0780440870
E-mail: nssf.nandihills@
nssfkenya.co.ke

ELGEYO MARAKWET 
BRANCH
Soin Plaza
P.O. Box 316-30700
Iten
Tel.0770277488
E-Mail: Nssf.
elgeyomarakwet@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

WEST POKOT BRANCH
Paves Towers, Ground 
Floor
Along Kitale/Lodwar 
Highway
Makutano Town
P.O. Box 494-30600 
Kapenguria, Kenya
Mobile: 0732 206035
E-Mail: Nssf.westpokot@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

NAIROBI REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE
Bruce House, 5th Floor
Tel. 020 222668/9

ONGATA RONGAI 
BRANCH
Masai Mall 2 Floor, 
Magadi Road
P.O Box 665-00511
Ongata Rongai
Tel:045-3123112
Mobile: 0731032088
E-Mail: Nssf.ongataron-
gai@Nssfkenya.co.ke	

EASTLEIGH BRANCH
Eastleigh Mall, First 
Floor, 
Along General Waruinge 
Street (formerly KBS 
GARAGE).
P.O Box 7800-00610 NBI
Tel.no. 0739102003, 
0114709820
E-mail: nssf.eastleigh@
nssfkenya.co.ke

KIAMBU BRANCH
Kiambu Mall,2nd Floor,
Kiambu Ndumberi 
Road near Kiambu 
County Governor’s 
Office.
P O Box 713 - 00900
KIAMBU
Tel: 066 - 2022114
Cell: 0737 633 914
E-mail: nssf.kiambu@
nssf
kenya.co.ke
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Branch Network and Contact Information
CITY CENTRE BRANCH
Bruce House, 5th Floor, 
Standard Street
P.O. Box 50397-0200
Telephone No, 0737 
409453/
2228068/
228276
E-mail: nssf.citycentre@
nssfkenya.co.ke

HILL BRANCH
Social Security House, 
Block C, Bishops Road
P. O. Box 45969 - 00100 
Gpo, Nairobi
Telephone: 020-
2729911/020 
2832899/020 
2713844/46/48/51
Mobile: 0737 633906
E-Mail: Nssf.hillbranch@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

DONHOLM /BURUBU-
RU BRANCH
The Point-Buruburu, 
Along Rabai Road 
(Hamsa Stage) Opposite 
Kenol Petrol Station next 
to Naivas Supermarket
P. O Box 1385-00515, 
NAIROBI
Telephone : 0786998 
818 / 0773 780 210
E-mail: nssf.donholm@
nssf
kenya.co.ke

KITENGELA BRANCH 
Kitengela Mall 2nd 
Floor, Namanga RD
P. O. Box 529 - 00242
KITENGELA
Tel. 0739 102 009
E-mail: nssf.kitengela@
nssfkenya.co.ke

WESTLANDS BRANCH
Rainbow Towers, 
Muthithi Road
P.O BOX  66575-00800 
WESTLANDS
LAND LINE-444109/ 
4444308
CELL PHONE 
-0737409416/
E-mail: nssf.westlands@
nssfkenya.co.ke

INDUSTRIAL AREA 
BRANCH
Simco Plaza 3rd Flr, 
Lusaka Road
P.O.Box 30451-00100, 
Nairobi
Tel: 020-554883/895, 
0737409457
Email: nssf.
industrialarea@
nssfkenya.co.ke

MACHAKOS BRANCH
Nijrang Building 1st 
Fl.Mbolu Malu Rd
P.O.BOX 525-90100
MACHAKOS
TEL:0737409412
E-mail:nssf.machakos@
nssfkenya.co.ke

MLOLONGO BRANCH
Pacific Crest Mall, 4th 
floor Wing A
Syokimau, Mombasa 
Road
P.O Box 220 - 00519 
MLOLONGO
Telephone 
no.0738424638

RUIRU BRANCH
Ruiru Business Center, 
Thika Rd 
P.O.BOX 1834-00232
RUIRU
TEL:  0739784663

KIKUYU BRANCH
Gracewood Plaza,1st 
Floor
P.O.BOX 1100-00902
KIKUYU TOWN
TEL: 0787786407

CENTRAL REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE                     
Sohan Plaza, 2nd Floor 
Kimathi Street
P. O. Box 308 – 10100 
NYERI
Tel. 061 -2031140

NYERI BRANCH
Sohan Plaza, 1st Floor,
P.O.Box 38-10100 Nyeri.
Tel:- 0112731840 
Mobile :- 0737-409455
E-mail: nssf.nyeri@
nssfkenya.co.ke

THIKA BRANCH
Thika House Ground 
Floor on Kwame 
Nkurumah Street
Postal Address : 844-
01000, Thika
Telephone contact : 
067-2222279
Mobile: 0737 409391
E-mail: nssf.thika@
nssfkenya.co.ke

MARALAL BRANCH
Samburu United 
House, First floor, Next 
to Morris Guest House
 P. O. BOX 258-20600, 
MARALAL.
 TEL. NOs. 065-
5062047 / 0737409433
E-mail: nssf.maralal@
nssf
kenya.co.ke

KERUGOYA BRANCH
Bingwa SACCO 
Building, 1st Flooor
P. O. Box 600-10300
Kerugoya
Mob. 0737 409471
E-mail: nssf.kerugoya@
nssfkenya.co.ke

NYAHURURU BRANCH
BARCLAYS BANK 
HOUSE , SHARP ROAD
P O BOX 148- 20300- 
NYAHURURU
TEL- 065-2032943
MOB. 037409459
E-mail: nssf.nyahururu@
nssfkenya.co.ke

NANYUKI  BRANCH
Silver  Plaza  Ground  
Floor
Kenyatta  Avenue
PO  Box 226-10400
Nanyuki
Tel 0622031659
Cell 0737 409 444
E-Mail: Nssf.nanyuki@
Nssfkenya.co.ke
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Branch Network and Contact Information
EASTERN REGION:

MERU BRANCH
Mohamed Moti Plaza
1st Floor.opp.meru Police 
Station
Njuri Ncheke Street
Mobile No 0737 
409 474. Tel No 064 
3132912
E-Mail: Nssf.meru@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

MWINGI BRANCH
P.O. BOX: 432-90400
MWINGI
Location: Evakon 
heights building
Ground floor.
Between shell and Delta 
petrol stations.
Nairobi -Garisssa Road.
Telephone no.(044)-
822339/822340 
Cell Phone 0737409465.
E-mail: nssf.mwingi@
nssfkenya.co.ke

KITUI BRANCH
C-House, Kitui Nairobi 
Rd.
P. O. BOX 641-90200, 
Kitui.
Tel: 044-4422239, 
Mobile:0737 409 417.
E-mail: nssf.kitui@
nssfkenya.co.ke

MARSABIT BRANCH 
Ngamia Mall, Opposite 
Shell Petrol Station, 
P.o Box 88-60500 
Marsabit
Tel. 0702 463901
E-Mail: Nssf.marsabit@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

THARAKA NITHI 
BRANCH
Chuka Plaza, Ground 
Floor
Along Meru Nairobi 
Highway
P.O Box 320 - 60400, 
Chuka, Kenya 
T: 0731 88 33 32       
E-Mail: Tharakanithi@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

ISIOLO BRANCH
Silawan Building, Along 
Isiolo-Moyale Highway
1st Floor
P.o. Box 730-60300
Isiolo
Mobile 0702463888
E-Mail: Nssf.isiolo@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

MAKUENI BRANCH
Junction Mall, 1st Flr. 
Along Machakos Wote  
Rd
P.o.Box 306-90300 
Makueni
Tel.  No. 0737 409 428
E-Mail: Nssf.makueni@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

MAUA BRANCH
MCK Nyambene Synod 
Complex - Ground 
Floor
P.o Box 3 -60600 Maua.
Cellphone 
;0731883362
E-Mail: Nssf.maua@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

EMBU BRANCH
Eastern Emporium 
Building, Ground Flr. 
Kenyatta Ave. (Main Nbi 
– Meru Highway)
P.o. Box 316 - 60100
Embu.
Mobile 0737 409 460  
And 0734 317 315
Ip 4800 And 4801
E-Mail: Nssf.embu@
Nssfkenya.co.ke

COAST REGION:

REGIONAL OFFICE 
Social Security House, 
5th Floor
Nkrumah Road,
P. O. BOX 90490-80100, 
Mombasa
Tel. 041-2223426/19, 
041-2317123

MOMBASA BRANCH
Social Security House, 
Ground Floor
Nkurumah Road , 
Mombasa
E-Mail: Nssf.mombasa@
Nssfkenya.co.ke 
Tel.(041) 2223426/19 
Mob. 0737 409 415

VOI BRANCH
Haji Plaza,Ground Floor,
Biashara street,  Voi ,  
Kenya .
T: 043-2030129, Cell: 
0737409398
E-mail: nssf.voi@
nssfkenya.co.ke

UKUNDA BRANCH
Tiosgima Plaza, Diani 
Beach Road,
P.o.  Box 1076-80400 
Ukunda.
Wireless. 053 8015545 
Mobile 0737 409434
E-Mail Nssf.ukunda@
Nssf
kenya.co.ke:
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Branch Network and Contact Information
MALINDI BRANCH
1st Floor AL- NOOR 
PLAZA- Jomo Kenyatta 
Road
P. O. Box 290- 80200, 
MALINDI.
TEL:(254) 42 2130003
FAX:(254) 42 2120819
CELL No.0737 409 449
E-mail: nssf.malindi@
nssfkenya.co.ke

MTWAPA BRANCH
Mtwapa Mall, 1st Floor
New Mombasa-Malindi 
Road
E-mail: nssf.mtwapa@
nssf
kenya.co.ke
Mobile no. 0786 222 
322

CHANGAMWE 
BRANCH
Manipur Plaza
Msa-Magoingo Rd
P.o.box 93003-80102
Mombasa
Tel:0737090131

LAMU BRANCH
Sea Front
P. O.  Box 389 
-80500,Lamu, Kenya
Tel:(+254) 42 4632380
Mob: 0737 409410
E-Mail Nssf.lamu@
Nssfkenya.co.ke:

NORTH EASTERN REGION

REGIONAL OFFICE
Doctors Plaza,Opp.
Garissa County Referal 
Hospital 
Kismayu Road,
P.o Box 378-70100, 
Garissa

GARISSA BRANCH
1st Floor, Lilac Centre, 
Kismayu Road,
P.O Box 378-70100, 
GARISSA,
TEL: 0462102110. Fax 
0462102253
Mobile: 0737409468
Email: nssf.garissa@
nssfkenya.co.ke

TANA RIVER BRANCH 
Said Omar House
P. O. Box 204 -70101 
HOLA
MOB. 0780002200/ 
0788376688/ 
07738110858
E-mail: nssf.tanariver@
nssfkenya.co.ke

WAJIR BRANCH,
Juba Building, Orahey 
-Works Road  
GROUND FLOOR
P.O.BOX 326-70200.
TEL.0737409411
E-mail: nssf.wajir@
nssfkenya.co.ke

MANDERA BRANCH
Huduma Centre
P.o.box 39
Mandera
Tel: 0716387404

(c)	 Trustees

No. Trustee Position Appointment

1 Hon. David Kariuki Njeru Board Chairman 13.03.2024

2 Mr. Shadrack Mwangolo 
Mwadime, EBS

PS Labour & Skills Development 05.10.2023

3 Dr. Chris K. Kiptoo PS, National Treasury 01.12.2022

4 FCPA Dr. Anne Owuor, EBS Trustee representing FKE 28.03.2025

5 Mr. Isaac Mbingi Okello Trustee representing COTU 28.11.2024

6 Ms. Rose Omamo Trustee representing COTU 11.07.2025

7 Dr. Isaac Kaberia Kubai Independent Trustee 24.02.2023

8 Dr. Musa Nyandusi Alternate to PS Labour 06.03.2023

9 Mr. Amos Cheptoo Alternate to PS Treasury 24.03.2023

10 Dr. Milkah Chebii Independent Trustee 24.02.2023

11 Mr. Michael Macharia Trustee representing FKE 17.05.2023

12 FA David Tito Koross, MBS Managing Trustee/CEO 26.05.2023

(d)	 Corporate Secretary
	 Ms. Kellen Njue
	 P.O. Box 30599-00100, 
	 Nairobi.
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(e)	 Corporate Headquarters and Registered Office

Social Security House, Bishops Road,
P.O Box 30599-00100  
Nairobi, Kenya.
Telephone: +254 020 2729911

Toll Free: 0800 2212744
E-Mail: info@nssfkenya.co.ke
Website: www.nssf.or.ke
Twitter: nssf_ke Facebook: nssfkenya

(f)	 Corporate Bankers

1. KCB Bank Kenya Limited 6. National Bank of Kenya

2. Co-operative Bank of Kenya 7.  Equity Bank Kenya

3. Diamond Trust Bank 8. Stanbic Bank Kenya

4. Standard Chartered Bank 9. E Citizen

5. Mpesa

(g)	 Independent Auditors			   (h)	 Principal Legal Advisor

Auditor-General
The Office of the Auditor General
Anniversary Towers, University Way 
P.O. Box 30084-00100, 
Nairobi, Kenya

	
FUND MANAGERS
African Alliance Asset Management Ltd
Kenya Re Towers, Upperhill
P.O Box 27639 – 00506
Nairobi, Kenya.

Coop Trust Investment Services Ltd
Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O. Box 48231-00100
Nairobi, Kenya.

GenAfrica Investment Management Ltd,
14 Riverside Business Park, 1st Floor,
P.O. Box 79127-00200,
Nairobi, Kenya.

Genghis Capital Limited
3rd Floor Purshottam Place, Westlands Road
P. O. Box 9959 - 00100
Nairobi, Kenya.

FUND CUSTODIANS
Kenya Commercial Bank Custody Services, 
KCB Towers, 7th Floor, Kenya Road, Upper Hill
P.O. Box 30664-00100,
Nairobi, Kenya.

Standard Chartered Securities Services 
Kenya, 48 Westlands Road,
P.O. Box 40984-00100, 
Nairobi, Kenya.

Co-operative Bank Custody
Co-operative House, Haile Selassie Avenue,
P.O. Box 48231 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya.

Stanbic Bank Ltd
Stanbic Centre
P.O. Box 72833-00100
Nairobi, Kenya.

FUND ACTUARIES & INVESTMENT CONSULTANTS
Zamara Actuaries, Administrators and Consultants Limited
Landmark Plaza 
P.O. Box 52439-00200,
Nairobi, Kenya.

The Attorney General
State Law Office and Department of Justice
Harambee Avenue
P.O. Box 40112 - 00200
Nairobi, Kenya.
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THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES3

Hon. Njeru is the Chairman of the Board of Trustees. He holds an 
MBA (Entrepreneurship) from Kenyatta University, and a Bachelor’s 
Degree in Business Administration (Accounting & Finance) from 
Kenya Methodist University, a Diploma in Human Resource 
Management from the Kenya Institute of Management. He is a 
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and currently pursuing a PhD in 
Entrepreneurship at the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture 
and Technology. He is a goal-driven business management 
professional with a wealth of experience in finance, business 
administration and human capital management. Hon.Njeru has 
held various C-Suite positions in several institutions. He is the 
immediate former Deputy Governor of the County Government 
of Embu. Before then, he was the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Winas Savings and Credit Cooperative Society Limited.Hon. David Kariuki Njeru 

Chairman

Mr. Macharia is currently pursuing a Masters Degree in Law, is 
the holder of a Bachelors Degree in law from the University of 
London as well as Bachelor of Science, Hospitality Management 
from Almeda College and University in the US.  He is a seasoned 
hospitality and labour sector professional with over 20 years of 
experience and has been involved in shaping and influencing 
policy in various areas over the years. 

He is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the Kenya Association 
of Hotelkeepers & Caterers (KAHC) as well as the National Vice 
President of the Federation of Kenya Employers (FKE). He is a 
Member of National Labour Board and Chairman of the Board 
Boma International Hospitality College (BHC). He served on the 
Board of the Kenya Private Sector Alliance (KEPSA) and among 
other honorary assignments. 

Mr. Michael Macharia 
Trustee Representing FKE

Dr. Musa Nyandusi 
Alternate to PS State 
Department for Labour & Skills 
Development 

Dr. Nyandusi is the alternate member to the Principal Secretary- 
State Department for Labour & Skills Development in the Ministry 
of Labour and Social Protection.

He is the Secretary, Occupational Safety and Health- Directorate 
of Occupational Safety and Health Services (DOSHS) Safety in the 
Ministry of Labour and Social Protection. Prior to that, he served in 
the directorate in various positions. He participated in the drafting 
of the Code of Practice on Occupational Safety and Health in the 
construction Sector, as well as the Bill raising Occupational Safety 
and Health as a Fundamental Worker’s Right at the International 
Labour Organization.

A medical doctor by profession, Dr. Nyandusi holds a Masters’ 
Degree in Medicine from the University of Nairobi and a Bachelor 
of Medicine Degree from Moi University.
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Mr. Isaac Okello Mbingi 
Trustee Representing COTU

Dr. Milkah Kimonda 
Chebii
 Independent Trustee

Dr. Kaberia Isaac Kubai 
Independent Trustee

Mr. Mbingi is an Advocate of the High Court of Kenya and a holder 
of a Bachelor of Laws Degree from The University of Nairobi. He also 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce and a Master of Commerce degree 
in Business Administration and Management from The University of 
Indore. He is the Administrative Secretary-Central Organization of 
Trade Unions-Kenya with over 30 years’ experience in both Board and 
management practice specializing in Human Resource Management, 
Leadership and Administration and Law.

He is a Member and Vice Chairman of the Employment and Labour 
Relations Court Rules Committee, Member of the Mediation 
Accreditation Committee of the Judiciary. He is a Member of the Law 
Society of Kenya, the Kenya Institute of Management and the Institute 
of Human Resource Management.

Dr. Chebii holds a PhD in Business Administration, a Masters and 
Bachelor’s Degree in Marketing. Dr. Chebii is an Independent 
Consultant with interest in Financial inclusion, Social Protection, 
Gender & Women’s Economic Empowerment (WEE), Climate change, 
government, private sector and community engagement. She has had 
a distinguished career in the banking and financial services sector, with 
over 20 years of experience driving innovative financial solutions across 
various disciplines such as retail banking operations, risk management, 
and change management. She possesses a wealth of experience in 
designing and implementing social protection programs and payment 
solutions, leveraging private sector partnerships to deepen financial 
inclusion in Kenya. Dr. Chebii led the development and successful 
implementation of the Inua Jamii choice-based social payments 
delivery models in Kenya. A certified Executive Coach involved 
in academic pursuits and community activities. She is passionate 
about using policy to address the needs of vulnerable and excluded 
populations, working towards a sustainable and inclusive growth.
Dr.Chebii has authored several publications.

Dr. Kubai holds a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Religious Studies & 
Ethics, a Master of Philosophy in Theological Studies and Bachelor 
of Theology. He has specialized in political ethics. He is a certified 
ISO Auditor (QMS and ISMS). He has extensive training in audit, 
risk management and human resource management. He is a Senior 
University Lecturer with over 14 years’ experience, currently teaching 
at the University of Embu. He is a Member of the Board of the Karumo 
Technical Training Institute and Member of the Kenya Methodist 
University Council. 
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Dr. FCPA Anne Elizabeth 
Owour Ph.D., EBS, HSC- 
Trustee Representing FKE

Ms. Rose A Omamo
Trustee Representing COTU

Mr. Amos  Kipronoh 
Cheptoo 
Alternate to PS National 
Treasury

Dr. Owour is an accomplished professional with a PhD in Leadership 
and Management, and advanced degrees an MBA in Finance and an 
MSc in Audit Management and Consultancy. She is also a Certified 
Internal Auditor, Fellow Certified Public Accountant, Certified Risk 
Management Assurance Professional, and a Certified Forensic 
Investigator. She has undertaken numerous leadership-training 
courses from esteemed institutions such as Cranfield Management 
School, Harvard Business School, and Strathmore Business School 
amongst others. Her experience spans the public sector, including 
roles as a Commissioner in the Salaries and Remuneration Commission, 
Board Member at the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board and 
various managerial positions at Kenya Power and Lighting Company 
as well as in the civil service. She also served in various boards both 
nationally and internationally, Including the International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards Board and the international Institute of Internal 
Auditors. The President of Kenya has recognized her with the Elder of 
the Burning Spear (EBS) and Head of State Commendation (HSC) for 
her contributions. Currently she is a Board member at the Federation 
of Kenyan Employers and is an accomplished Consultant.
 

Ms. Omamo is the current General Secretary of Amalgamated Union of 
Kenya Metal Workers. She has over 28 years’ experience on Collective 
Bargaining, Dispute resolution and Social Dialogue. She is the Deputy 
General Secretary of the International Trade Union Confederation 
Africa and the Vice President of Industrial Global Union working to 
ensure that Labour standards are upheld. She is a Board Member of 
the Central Organization of Trade Unions Kenya and a Member of the 
National Labour Board. She represents Africa in the ACP-EU Follow 
up committee that monitors the implementation of Agreements and 
partnerships between ACP Countries and the EU and plays an advisory 
role.

Mr. Cheptoo is a holder of Master of Science Degree in Economic 
Policy Analysis and holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics and 
Sociology. He has in attended many professional courses globally 
on macroeconomic policy management. He has worked for over 30 
years as a public sector economist and international civil servant. He is 
currently serving as the Director for Resource Mobilization Department 
at the National Treasury. Prior to this position, he had served as the 
Executive Director at the African Development Bank representing 
countries in Eastern Africa, after having served as Senior Advisor to 
the Board of the same Bank Group. He also worked previously as a 
Programme Officer and Manager at the Macroeconomic & Financial 
Management Institute of Eastern and Southern Africa (MEFMI) and the 
Central Bank of Kenya as an Economist.
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FA David Koross, MBS 
Managing Trustee / CEO

Ms. Kellen Njue
General Manager/
Corporation Secretary/Legal 
Services

Mr. Koross is a Masters in Public Policy & Management from Strathmore 
University and a holder of Bachelor of Arts (Economics) from University 
of Nairobi. He has participated in the Global Leadership Program at 
Gordon Institute of Business of Science, University of Pretoria. He is 
the immediate former Chief Executive Officer of LAPFUND having 
served in that position for 10 years. He has a wealth of experience in 
the Pension and Banking Sectors spanning over 26 years. Mr. Koross 
comes to the Fund with extensive exposure and specialized skills in 
pension administration, regulation and supervision, customer service, 
investment management and custody operations.
 

Ms. Njue is an advocate of the High Court of Kenya of 18 years standing. 
She has over 15 years’ experience in public service. She is a Certified 
Public Secretary, Certified Legal Auditor and a Certified Trustee. She 
holds a Master of Laws Degree (LLM) (UON), Bachelor of Laws Degree 
(LLB)(UON), Postgraduate Diploma in Law (KSL), Strategic Leadership 
Development Programme (KSG), Senior Management Course (KSG). 
She is a member of the Law Society of Kenya, EastAfica Law Society  
and the Institute of Certified Public Secretaries in good standing. She 
joined the Fund on 12 February, 2024.
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KEY MANAGEMENT TEAM4

FA David Koross
Managing Trustee / CEO

CPA Ronald Nyamosi  
General Manager, Finance 
& Investment

Ms. Millicent Awiti
General Manager 
Strategy,Research and Risk 

Mr. Koross is a Masters in Public Policy & Management from Strathmore 
University and a holder of Bachelor of Arts (Economics) from University 
of Nairobi. He has participated in the Global Leadership Program at 
Gordon Institute of Business of Science, University of Pretoria. He is the 
immediate former Chief Executive Officer of LAPFUND having served 
in that position for 10 years. He has a wealth of experience in the Pension 
and Banking Sectors spanning over 26 years. Mr. Koross possesses 
extensive exposure and specialized skills in pension administration, 
regulation and supervision, customer service, investment management 
and custody operations. He was appointed Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Trustee of NSSF on 26th May 2023.

CPA Nyamosi holds a BCom degree (Accounting Option) First Class 
Honors from Kenyatta University and MBA degree from the same 
University. He is currently pursuing a PhD. in Entrepreneurship at JKUAT. 
He is a CPA(K) and member of ICPAK. He is also a Certified Productivity 
and Engagement Coach and a member of the International Coaching 
Federation (ICF). He has undergone various training programs including 
Corporate Governance, Strategic Leadership, Bullet Proof Manager 
among others. He has over 23 years of extensive experience in the 
fields of finance, investments, and pension management having held 
senior leadership positions in several prestigious organizations among 
them Equity Insurance Group, Liberty Insurance Group, ICEA LION 
and Jubilee Insurance.He has impressive experience in the Insurance 
and Pension industry. His robust skill set includes Managerial Finance, 
Financial Analysis, Accounting, Strategic Planning, Risk Management 
and more. In his career he has made tremendous contribution and 
valuable insights to the industry. He Joined the Fund on 12th February 
2024.

Ms.  Awiti    joined the Fund in 2011 and is currently the  General 
Manager, Strategy, Research and Risk. She holds a Masters of Business 
Administration degree from the University of Nairobi and a Bachelor 
of Education in English and Literature degree from Catholic University 
of Eastern Africa. She is currently pursuing a Doctor of Philosophy in 
Business Administration at the University of Nairobi. She was appointed 
in her current role 12th February 2024.
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Ms. Kellen Njue
General Manager/
Corporation Secretary/
Legal Services

CPA Paul Mwaura 
General Manager Audit

Mr. Evans Ombui 
General Manager Social 
Security

Ms. Njue is an advocate of the High Court of Kenya of 18 years standing. 
She has over 15 years’ experience in public service. She is a Certified 
Public Secretary, Certified Legal Auditor and a Certified Trustee. She 
holds a Master of Laws Degree (LLM) (UON), Bachelor of Laws Degree 
(LLB)(UON), Postgraduate Diploma in Law (KSL), Strategic Leadership 
Development Programme (KSG), Senior Management Course (KSG). 
She is a member of the Law Society of Kenya, EastAfica Law Society  
and the Institute of Certified Public Secretaries in good standing. She 
joined the Fund on 12th February, 2024.

CPA Mwaura joined the Fund in February 2024. In his capacity, he 
oversees the operations of the Internal Audit Division. He holds an 
MSc in Finance & Investments, an MBA in Accounting and a Bachelor 
of Commerce degree Accounting option, all from The University of 
Nairobi. He is a Certified Public Accountant of Kenya CPA(K), a Certified 
Information Systems Auditor (CISA) and a member of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors (IIA), Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya 
(ICPAK), and the Information Systems Audit and Control Association 
(ISACA). He has also undertaken certifications in Management and 
Leadership from Kenya School of Government and in ISO 9001 QMS 
audit. Mr. Mwaura has extensive experience in the audit profession 
both in public and private sectors. He joined the Fund in his current 
role on 12th February, 2024.

Mr. Ombui, is a career social security practitioner, with over  30 years 
of experience. He holds a Masters of Business Administration degree 
from Kenyatta University and a Bachalor of Arts degree from University 
of Nairobi. He is a member of the Institute of Human Resource 
Management (IHRM) and holds various  post graduate qualifications in 
governance, leadership, business administration and human resource 
management. His key responsibility is the formulation, coordination 
and implementation of social security policies and strategies for 
achieving  the Fund’s mandate. He was appointed in his current role 
12th February, 2024.
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Ms. Hellen N. Wasike 
General Manager Human 
Resource & Administration

Ms. Wasike holds an MSc. Human Resource Management (JKUAT) and 
a Bachelor of Arts from University of Nairobi. She is also a Certified 
Public Secretaries (CPS) and Certified Human Resource Professional 
(CHRP). She also has qualifications in Public Policy and in Project 
Management from the Strathmore Business School. She is a Practicing 
Member of the Institute of Human Resource Management (IHRM). 
She has over 20 years senior management in the corporate world 
and public sector (specifically in state corporations). Ms. Wasike has 
strategic leadership experience in overseeing startups, turnarounds 
and growth/transformation focused organizations having worked 
with the Kenya Trade Network Agency (KenTrade), The Kenya Vision 
2030 Delivery Secretariat (VDS) and The Coffee Development Fund 
(now Commodities Fund) amongst others.  She is passionate about 
leadership, governance and service to humanity hence also an active 
member of the Women on Boards Network (WOBN) and the Rotary 
International (RI). She joined the Fund on 12th February, 2024.
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FIDUCIARY MANAGEMENT 5

The key management personnel who held office during the financial year ended 30th June 2025 
and who had direct fiduciary responsibility were:

No. Designation Name 

1. Managing Trustee/CEO  Mr. David Koross

2. General Manager, Finance & Investment  Mr. Ronald Nyamosi

3. General Manager Legal & Corporate Services  Ms. Kellen Njue

4.  Finance Manager  Ms. Marietta Mutinda

5. Manager, Supply Chain  Mr. Bethuel Chemitei

Fiduciary Oversight Arrangements

The National Social Security Fund being a retirement benefits scheme exists to protect the interest 
of its members who have entrusted their savings with the Fund. The Board of Trustees holds the 
overall fiduciary responsibility of approving major financial and risk-related decisions. The Board 
uses the following fiduciary oversight arrangements in achieving this responsibility: -

Audit and Risk Committee of the Board

The Audit and Risk Committee provides independent oversight of the Fund’s financial reporting, 
internal controls, risk management, and compliance with laws and regulations. 

The Committee:

•	 Reviews financial statements and audit findings.
•	 Monitors the effectiveness of internal and external audit functions.
•	 Oversees risk management frameworks and ensures key risks are identified and managed 

appropriately.
•	 Ensures follow-up on audit recommendations and internal control issues.

Finance and Investment Committee of the Board

The Finance and Investments Committee oversees the financial health and strategy of the 
organization. 

The Committee:

•	 Reviews and recommends budgets, financial plans, and financial policies.
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•	 Monitors financial performance, including income, expenditures, and forecasts.
•	 Assesses financial sustainability and resource allocation.
•	 Supports strategic investment decisions and reviews major procurement or capital expenditure 

proposals.

Other Oversight Arrangements

Other mechanisms that contribute to fiduciary oversight in the Fund include:

•	 Internal Audit division which provides ongoing, independent assurance on governance, risk, 
and controls.

•	 External Auditors who offer independent assessment of financial statements and compliance 
with regulations.

•	 Regulatory Bodies (RBA, SCAC, CMA, CBK) that ensure adherence to laws, financial regulations, 
and ethical standards.

FA David Koross, MBS
Managing Trustee / CEO 

CPA Ronald Nyamosi  
General Manager, Finance 
& Investment

Mr. Koross is a holder of Masters degree in Public Policy & Management 
from Strathmore University and Bachelor of Arts (Economics) degree 
from University of Nairobi. He has participated in the Global Leadership 
Program at Gordon Institute of Business of Science and University 
of Pretoria. He is the immediate former Chief Executive Officer of 
LAPFUND having served in that position for 10 years. He has a wealth 
of experience in the Pension and Banking Sectors spanning over 26 
years. Mr. Koross possesses extensive exposure and specialized skills in 
pension administration, regulation and supervision, customer service, 
investment management and custody operations. Mr. Koross is the 
CEO and Accounting officer of the Fund and Secretary to the Board of 
Trustees. He reports to the Board of Trustees.

CPA Nyamosi holds a BCom degree (Accounting Option) First Class 
Honors and MBA degree both from Kenyatta University. He is currently 
pursuing a PhD. in Entrepreneurship at JKUAT. He is a CPAK and 
member of ICPAK. He is also a Certified Productivity and Engagement 
Coach and a member of the International Coaching Federation (ICF). 
He has undergone various training programs including Corporate 
Governance, Strategic Leadership, Bullet Proof Manager among 
others. He has over 23 years of extensive experience in the fields of 
finance, investments, and pension management having held senior 
leadership positions in several prestigious organizations among them 
Equity Insurance Group, Liberty Insurance Group, ICEA LION and 
Jubilee Insurance. He has impressive experience in the Insurance 
and Pension industry. His robust skill set includes Managerial Finance, 
Financial Analysis, Accounting, Strategic Planning, Risk Management 
and more. In his career he has made tremendous contribution and 
valuable insights to the industry. He Joined the Fund on 12th February 
2024. CPA Nyamosi is the overall head of Finance and Investment.
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Ms. Kellen Njue
General Manager/
Corporation Secretary/
Legal Services

Ms. Marietta Mutinda
Manager, Finance

Bethuel Bett Chemitei
Manager Supply Chain 
Management

Ms. Njue is an advocate of the High Court of Kenya of 18 years standing. 
She has over 15 years’ experience in public service. She is a Certified 
Public Secretary, Certified Legal Auditor and a Certified Trustee. She 
holds a Master of Laws Degree (LLM) (UON), Bachelor of Laws Degree 
(LLB)(UON), Postgraduate Diploma in Law (KSL), Strategic Leadership 
Development Programme (KSG), Senior Management Course (KSG). 
She is a member of the Law Society of Kenya, EastAfica Law Society  
and the Institute of Certified Public Secretaries in good standing. She 
joined the Fund on 12th February, 2024.

Ms Marietta Mutinda is a holder of MBA degree (Finance) from Kenyatta 
University and a Bachelor of Commerce degree (Accounting Option) 
from the same University. She is a Certified Public Accountant CPA(K), 
a Member of ICPAK and a SAP FICO Certified Application Associate. 
She holds a Strategic Leadership Development Programme Cerficate 
from Kenya School of Government. Ms. Marietta has served in different 
capacities within Finance Department at NSSF for over 25 years. 
Currently, she is the head of Finance Department. 

Mr. Chemitei holds a MSC degree in Procurement and Logistics from 
JKUAT, a BCom degree (Procurement and Supplies Management 
Option) from UON, a Diploma in Procurement and Supply (CIPS), a 
Diploma in Sales and Marketing from Technical University of Kenya. 
He is a member of Kenya institute of Supplies Management (KISM) 
in good standing and Chartered institute of Purchasing and Supplies 
(CIPS). He has over 23 years working experience in the public 
sector, specifically in state corporations managing procurement 
and supply chain systems including procurement planning, supply 
chain management, contracting among others. He is passionate in 
supporting the vulnerable in the society and service to humanity hence 
a Board Member and Trustee of Mwangaza Rehabilitation Centre(MRC) 
which is a charitable Non-Governmental organization supporting the 
street Children. Mr. Chemitei is the head of Supply Chain Management 
Department. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT6

Hon. David Kariuki Njeru
Chairman, National Social Security Fund  

I
t is with great pride and a deep sense of 
responsibility that I present the Chairman’s 
Statement for the financial year 2024/2025. 
This year has been one of transformative, 
resilience, and progress for the National 

Social Security Fund. Amid evolving economic 
conditions and rising expectations from our 
members and stakeholders, the Fund has 
remained steadfast in its mission to provide 
reliable and sustainable social security for all 
Kenyans. Our performance this year reflects not 
only sound governance and strategic foresight 
but also the collective commitment of our 
Board of Trustees, Senior Management, staff, 
and partners to deliver value and impact.

Governance and Oversight

The Board of Trustees continued to provide 
strong governance and oversight throughout 
the 2024/2025 financial year, ensuring that the 
Fund operated with integrity, transparency, 
and accountability. We upheld the highest 
standards of corporate governance, guided 
by the principles of ethical leadership, risk 
management, and compliance with statutory 
obligations. Our board committees remained 
active in providing strategic direction, 
monitoring performance, and ensuring that the 
Fund’s operations aligned with its mandate and 
the expectations of our stakeholders.

Strategic Direction

This year marked the second year of 
implementing our Corporate Strategic Plan 
2023–2027, which is anchored on four themes: 
Organizational Resilience, Operational 
Excellence, Financial Sustainability & Growth 
and Customer Experience. We made 

We upheld the 
highest standards 

of corporate 
governance, 

guided by the 
principles of 

ethical leadership, 
risk management, 

and compliance 
with statutory 

obligations.

“
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significant progress in aligning our initiatives 
with this roadmap, including the rollout of 
digital platforms, expansion of informal sector 
coverage, and enhancement of internal 
capabilities. These efforts are designed to 
position NSSF as a modern, efficient, and 
inclusive social security institution.

Financial Performance

The Fund recorded robust financial 
performance in FY 2024/2025. Total assets 
under management grew to Kshs 575 billion 
reflecting a growth of 43%, driven by increased 
member contributions and strong investment 
returns. Member contributions rose by 35%, 
reaching Kshs 83.97 billion from previous 
year Kshs. 62.29 billion , a clear indication of 
growing public confidence in the Fund. Net 
investment income grew by 152% to reach 
Kshs. 105 billion, supported by a diversified 
portfolio across fixed income, equities, real 
estate, and alternative assets. Administrative 
expenses were maintained within the statutory 
ratio of 1.47% of total assets, reflecting prudent 
financial management and operational 
efficiency.

Stakeholder Engagement

We deepened our engagement with key 
stakeholders—including members, employers, 
regulators, and strategic partners—through 
regular consultations, digital outreach, 
and service delivery improvements. 
This commitment to transparency and 
responsiveness has strengthened trust and 
collaboration across the board. In particular, 
stakeholder engagement forums have proven 
essential in enhancing compliance with the 
NSSF Act, Cap.258 by fostering awareness and 
providing a platform to educate employers 

and members on their legal obligations, clarify 
policy changes such as the revised contribution 
structure, and address compliance challenges. 
We also expanded our outreach to the 
informal sector, leveraging mobile platforms 
and community partnerships to onboard new 
members and promote a culture of saving for 
retirement. By encouraging open dialogue 
and incorporating stakeholder feedback, the 
Fund continues to improve service delivery and 
ensure its operations align with both regulatory 
requirements and member expectations.

Looking Forward

As we look ahead, we remain focused on 
delivering the objectives of our strategic 
plan while adapting to emerging economic, 
technological, and demographic trends. Our 
priorities include enhancing member value, 
accelerating digital innovation, strengthening 
risk management, and exploring sustainable 
investment opportunities. We are also 
committed to aligning our operations with 
national development agenda and global best 
practices in social protection.

Conclusion
On behalf of the Board of Trustees, I extend 
my sincere appreciation to our members, staff, 
partners, and stakeholders for their continued 
support and dedication. The achievements of 
this financial year reflect our shared commitment 
to building a secure and dignified future for all 
Kenyans. Together, we will continue to grow the 
Fund for Good.

Hon. David Kariuki Njeru
Chairman of the Board of Trustees  
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REPORT OF THE MANAGING 
TRUSTEE / CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER

7

FA David Koross, MBS
Managing Trustee / Chief Executive Officer
National Social Security Fund  

I 
am honoured to present the financial 
performance report of the National 
Social Security Fund for the financial year 
2024/2025. This has been a remarkable year 
of transformation and resilience. Despite a 

challenging economic environment, we have 
delivered robust performance, streamlined 
operations, and expanded our national 
coverage. These achievements underscore our 
commitment to securing the future of every 
Kenyan worker through sustainable social 
protection. I thank our members, partners, and 
staff for the shared vision that has guided us 
forward.

Operational Efficiency and Service Delivery

The Fund achieved significant strides in 
operational efficiency through the digitization 
of member services, which notably reduced 
the turnaround time for claims processing 
from 30 days to just 10 days. Additionally, 
the automation of compliance monitoring 
enhanced employer registration and improved 
the tracking of contributions. Through effective 
cost optimization, administrative expenses 
continued on a downward trend closing at 
1.47% of total assets, in line with statutory 
provisions. Leveraging digital transformation, 
mobile enrolment, and targeted outreach 
to the informal sector, the Fund successfully 
expanded its coverage, onboarding more new 
members into the social security system to an 
active membership of 3.5 million members.

The digitization of key services has been a 
cornerstone of the Fund’s operational strategy, 
significantly enhancing service delivery by 
enabling members to access services more 

Despite a 
challenging 

economic 
environment, 

we have 
delivered robust 

performance, 
streamlined 

operations, and 
expanded our 

national 
coverage. 

“
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conveniently, efficiently, and in real time. 
This transformation has streamlined internal 
processes, reduced service turnaround times, 
and improved overall member experience.

Financial Management and Investment 

The Fund delivered strong financial results in the 
2024/2025 financial year, marked by significant 
growth in both investment income and member 
contributions. We recorded Kshs. 83.97 billion 
in member contributions—a remarkable 108% 
budget achievement, reflecting the growing 
trust and confidence our members have in the 
Fund.

During the same period, the Fund disbursed 
Kshs. 8.78 billion worth of benefits to 91,851 
exiting members. This is a 10% decline from the 
Kshs. 9.71 billion paid in the previous year. The 
decline is attributable to lower member claims 
received during the year. 128,836 claims were 
received in 2024/2025 compared with 148,326 
received in 2023/2024, a decline of 13%. 
On the investment front, Fund’s investments 
continued to deliver a double-digit return this 
time reaching 22% for its members, an upward 
trajectory from the 12% achieved in 2023/2024 
financial year, while maintaining long-term 
sustainability and resilience in the face of 
market volatility. 

To ensure long-term sustainability and 
resilience, the Fund continues to diversify its 
investment portfolio and as a result, the Fund’s 
total assets grew to Kshs. 575 billion as of June 
30, 2025 from Kshs. 402 billion in June 2024, 
recording a growth of 43%.

Strategic Initiatives & Investment 
Diversification

The Fund continued to diversify its investment 
portfolio to enhance returns and ensure long-
term sustainability. Fixed income securities, 
particularly government bonds, remained the 
largest allocation, providing capital preservation 

and consistent returns. In the equities segment, 
the Fund made strategic investments in listed 
companies on the Nairobi Securities Exchange 
(NSE) to capitalize on market growth. The real 
estate portfolio saw ongoing development in 
both commercial and residential properties, 
contributing to asset growth and income 
generation. Additionally, the Fund explored 
alternative assets, including infrastructure and 
private equity opportunities, aimed at boosting 
long-term performance and resilience against 
market volatility.

Compliance, Governance & Audits

The Fund received an unqualified audit 
opinion for the financial year 2024/2025 from 
the Office of the Auditor General, affirming 
the integrity of its financial statements. While 
the Auditor General flagged a few legacy 
issues, including matters related to land, idle 
properties, and rent arrears, the Fund has taken 
proactive steps to address them. In response, 
NSSF has strengthened internal controls and 
enhanced transparency to reinforce member 
confidence. Furthermore, the Fund maintained 
full compliance with all relevant statutory and 
regulatory frameworks, including the Retirement 
Benefits Authority (RBA) regulations, the Public 
Finance Management Act, and the NSSF Act 
Cap 258, particularly in areas concerning 
contribution remittance and timely benefit 
disbursement.

Opportunities & Forward Initiatives

We remain focused on expanding informal 
sector coverage through digital platforms, 
enhancing investment diversification portfolio, 
strengthening governance, member education, 
and regional pension integration.

Driving Performance through Human Capital

During the financial year 2024/2025, the Fund 
welcomed a cohort of newly recruited staff, 
injecting fresh energy, skills, and synergy into 
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our operations. This strategic investment in 
human capital significantly enhanced our 
operational efficiency, service delivery, and 
responsiveness to member needs. The new 
talent has played a pivotal role in supporting 
our digital transformation agenda, streamlining 
internal processes, and reinforcing a culture 
of performance and accountability across the 
Fund.

Looking forward

This financial year marks a turning point in 
NSSF’s growth trajectory. We achieved record-
breaking results in contributions, revenue, 
and coverage while simultaneously improving 
service delivery and embracing a forward-
thinking investment strategy.

We are building a fund that not only safeguards 
retirement security but also contributes 
meaningfully to national development. Looking 
ahead, our focus remains on expanding 
informal sector coverage and participation, 
strengthening compliance, resolving legacy 
audit issues, and optimizing investment 
returns. With the momentum we have built, 
I am confident that NSSF is firmly on course 
to become a trillion-shilling institution and a 
benchmark for pension fund excellence in the 
region.

Conclusion

In conclusion, I wish to sincerely acknowledge 
the outstanding efforts of our staff, whose 

unwavering commitment has been instrumental 
in delivering on the Fund’s mandate. Their 
dedication continues to drive our success.

As we look to the future, we remain optimistic 
and confident in our ability to sustain our 
growth trajectory. The achievements of this 
financial year are a testament to our collective 
resolve and shared vision of securing a better 
future for all Kenyans.

We will continue to prioritize innovation, 
member-centric service delivery, and 
operational excellence to create sustainable 
value proposition for all our stakeholders.

I extend my heartfelt gratitude to our 
stakeholders, members, and strategic partners 
for their steadfast support and collaboration. 
The lessons we’ve learned this year will guide 
us as we enter the next phase of growth, 
ensuring we continue to meet and exceed the 
expectations of our members. 

Together, we are building a stronger brand and 
a more prosperous future—true to our promise: 
Growing You. For Good.

Thank you, and may God bless you all.

FA David Koross, MBS
MANAGING TRUSTEE / CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER



xxviii NATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST PREDETERMINED 
OBJECTIVES FOR FY 2024/25

8

The National Social Security Fund has four strategic themes and four objectives within the current 
Strategic Plan for the FY 2023-2027. These strategic themes are as follows: 

Theme 1: Customer Experience 
Theme 2: Financial Sustainability and Growth
Theme 3: Operational Excellence 
Theme 4: Organizational Resilience 

NSSF develops its annual work plans based on the above four pillars. Assessment of the Board’s 
performance against its annual work plan is done on a quarterly. During the period under review 
performance targets set for the FY 2024/2025 period for its four strategic pillars, as indicated in 
the diagram below:

CORPORATE SCORECARD
THEME KEY 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

UNIT OF 
MEASURE 

Weight TARGET FOR 
2024/2025

ACTUAL 
2024/2025

REMARKS

Customer Ex-
perience

Customer 
Satisfaction

% 5 84 71.25

Interest declared % 10 10

Benefits Turn 
Around Time 

Working Days 10 10 9

Positive Brand 
Visibility (Media 
Tonality)

% 5 81 73.00

Weight Sub Total 30

Financial 
Sustainability 
and Growth

Contributions 
Collected 

KES (B) 10 78 83.97

Fund Value(B) KES (B) 10 523 575

Return on 
Investments

% 5 13 22.23

Investment Income KES (B) 5 40 105.30

New Member 
Registrations and 
activation 

Number 10 650,000 611,037

Weight Sub Total 40

Operational 
Excellence

Reduction in 
Contributions in 
Transit

% 2.5 30% 30%

Admin Cost as a 
percentage of Fund 
Value

% 2.5 1.4 1.47
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THEME KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

UNIT OF 
MEASURE 

Weight TARGET FOR 
2024/2025

ACTUAL 
2024/2025

REMARKS

ICT Projects 
Milestone 
Completion Rate 

% 10 50 50

Weight Sub Total 15

Organizational 
Resilience

Employee 
Engagement

% 2.5 68 73

Productivity Index Number 2.5 3.92 3.41

Training and 
Development 
Participation Rate

% 2 50 43

Performance 
Contract Rating 

Number 2 2.9 2.68

Closure of legacy 
audit queries 

% 2 100 76

Legal and 
Governance Audit

% 2 N/A N/A

Operationalization 
Framework for 
NSSF Act No. 45 of 
2013 

% 2 N/A 50

Weight Sub Total 15

Total Weight Total 100
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To be the Trusted
Social Security

Provider delivering
exceptional value
to our members

To be the Trusted
Social Security

Provider delivering
exceptional value
to our members

Strategic Outcomes and Strategy Map

Product
Diversity

Increase
Interest to
Members

Improve
Delivery of
Service

Improve
Efficiency &
Effectiveness

Reduction
of Costs

Improve
Organizational
Culture and
Performance

Member Centricity InnovationInnovation Integrity Collaboration

Enhance
Stakeholder
relations and
Management

Increase
Fund Value

Increase
Number
of active
Members

Enhanced
Customer
Experience

Enhanced
Corporate
Image

Average TAT

Increase in
brand Image

Return on
investment

95% customer
satisfaction
by 2027

Double digit
every year

Growth in
Fund Value

Increase in active
membership

Kes 1 trillion
by 2027

500,000 new
members every
year

Digitization of
Processes

Enhance
integrations and
business insights

Fund Value to
Operating costs

Positive media
tonality

Increase in
employee
happiness index

x + 2 every year

x + 2 every year

x + 2 every year

1.5% by 2027

95% by 2027

1 day by 2027 Improve service delivery
across all channels,
enhance the brand of
the Fund and develop
new product offerings
and markets

Grow voluntary, Tier 2
and Enhance diaspora
compliance levels,
Diversification of the
investment portfolio

Upgrade ICT
infrastructure,
consolidate and
integrate business
systems, develop data
analytics capability and
adopt international
standards and
benchmarks

Increase in media
presence, Review and
validate HR instruments
implement a culture
and attitude
change programe

Measures Targets Initiatives

To empower our members
to achieve financial

security through
prudent investments

and value adding
solutions

2.

4.

1.

1.

Financial
Sustainability
and Growth

STRATEGIC
THEMES

MISSIONVISION

Customer
Experience

Operational
Execellence

Organizational
Resilience

1.

3.

2.

4.

Increased
Customer
Lifetime
Value

Create a High
Performance
Organization

Inspire
Stakeholder
Confidence

Create a Solid
Foundation
for Long-term
Success

STRATEGIC
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Cu
st

om
er

 
Ex

pe
ri

en
ce

Fi
na

nc
ia

l
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y

an
d 

G
ro

w
th

O
pe

ra
ti

on
al

Ex
ec

el
le

nc
e

O
rg

an
iz

at
io

na
l

R
es

ili
en

ce

AMEMBER AS OF 2024



xxxiNATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT

9

T
he Fund sets corporate governance at the centre of its activities to ensure that its 
operations align with the interests of its stakeholders. This governance model is 
inspired by the NSSF Act Cap 258 and Mwongozo the code of governance for State 
Corporations. At the top of the governance structure of the Fund lies the Board of 
Trustees which is constituted in a tripartite fashion with membership drawn from the 

most representative workers’ union, employers’ federation, and government. The board of 10 
members, including the CEO, is responsible for the effectiveness of Board itself, transparency 
and disclosure practices of the Fund, accountability, risk management, internal controls, ethical 
leadership and good corporate citizenship of the Fund.

Appointment of Trustees 

The Board of Trustees is fully constituted with nine Trustees’ and the Managing Trustee/CEO as the 
ex-officio member of the board, the appointment of which consists of the Principal Secretary in the 
Ministry for the time being responsible for social security, the Principal Secretary responsible for 
matters relating to Finance, and seven persons appointed by the Cabinet Secretary responsible 
for matters relating to Social Security.

The seven persons include two nominated by the most representative employers’ organization 
with knowledge and experience in matters relating to employers, other two nominated by the 
most representative workers’ organization by virtue of their knowledge and experience in matters 
relating to employees, and three appointed by the Cabinet Secretary by virtue of their knowledge 
and experience in matters relating to administration of scheme funds, actuarial science, insurance, 
accounting and auditing or law.  The Cabinet Secretary appoints the Chairperson from amongst 
these three Trustees.

Roles and Functions of Trustees 

The Board of Trustees is mandated to acquire, control, and supervise the assets of the Fund to 
promote its mission. It lays down policies and guidelines for the proper operations and management 
of all the funds collected by the Fund. Moreover, the board hires senior staff approves contracts 
and other activities undertaken by the Management on behalf of the Fund whose value requires 
Board approval.

The board may appoint agents to perform any of its functions, including investing of funds that are 
not immediately required for Fund activities, opening and operating bank accounts for the Fund, 
and setting up and supporting Fund employee welfare system. The Board is also responsible for 
legal and ethical conduct of its Trustees, including on matters of conflict of interest, due diligence, 
and good corporate governance practices.
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Succession Planning and Board Charter

Members of the board are appointed in a staggered manner, with a two-month hiatus. This provides 
stability in oversight of the Fund by ensuring that there is always a proportion of trustees on the 
board with requisite institutional memory concerning, not only the business of the Fund, but also 
its long-term strategic perspective. The board has a Board Charter and an approved Governance 
Framework. These provide trustees with the guiding principles to enable the effective discharge 
of their duties in overseeing the affairs of the Fund.

Removal of Trustees 

The Cabinet Secretary responsible for Social Security can remove a trustee on a number of reasons 
including absence from Board meetings without the permission of the chairperson, bankruptcy, 
operation of the law, infirmity, criminal offence that questions his integrity standing.

Committees of the Board

During the year under review, the Board of Trustees reviewed board committees and increased 
these from three to four principal committees namely:

The Board of Trustees also reviewed composition of the board committees to ensure Circular Ref: 
OP/CAB.9/1A dated March 11 2020 on Management of State Corporations. These committees 
meet under well-defined terms of reference set up by the full board. This is intended to achieve 
efficient decision -making by the Board of Trustees in discharging its duties and responsibilities.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Finance and 
Investment 
Committee

Social Security 
Committee

Human Resource, 
Legal and Strategy 
Committee

KSHS
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Finance and Investment Committee Members
1.	 Dr. Milkah Chebii - Chairperson
2.	 Mr. Isaac K. Mbingi Okello
3.	 Mr. Amos Cheptoo
4.	 Dr. Musa Nyandusi
5.	 Mr. Michael Macharia

Responsibilities 
Directing the investment and financial management function of the Fund. The committee also assists 
the Board in fulfilling its core mandate in customer care, marketing, registration, contributions, 
benefits payment, product development and investment policy oversight. Other responsibilities 
include review and approval of budgets, periodic performance, review and approval of financial 
statements, review and guide on ICT strategy and review and approval of accounting policies’ and 
procedures. 

Human Resource and Legal Committee Members
1.	 Mr. Isaac Mbingi Okello - Chairman
2.	 Mr. Amos Cheptoo
3.	 Dr. Milkah Chebii
4.	 Dr. Kaberia Isaac Kubai
5.	 FCPA Dr. Anne Owuor, EBS

Social Security
1.	 Mr. Michael Macharia - Chairman
2.	 Ms. Rose Omamo
3.	 Dr. Musa Nyandusi
4.	 Mr. Amos Cheptoo

Responsibilities
Direct the social security function of the Fund and assisting the Board in fulfilling its core mandate 
in customer care, marketing, registration, contributions, benefits payment, product development 
and investment policy oversight

Audit and Risk Committee members
1.	 Dr. Anne Owuor, EBS - Chairperson
2.	 Dr. Musa Nyandusi
3.	 Dr. Kaberia Isaac Kubai
4.	 Ms. Rose Omamo

Responsibilities
The Audit Committee is the only mandatory committee of the board as per the corporate 
governance provisions shown in Mwongozo. The committee is entrusted with the responsibility of 
ensuring overall compliance, governance and risk management. Specific roles include reviewing 
and approving the board charter, internal and external audit findings and preventive measures, 
systems and internal controls. The committee may also initiate special investigation of any 
allegations of malpractices within the Fund.
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Annual General Meetings

The Fund is required to hold annual general meetings as part of its corporate governance practice 
and in compliance with the law and regulations as set up by the Retirement Benefits Authority. 

Accountability and Audit 

The Board of Trustees seats at the apex of the accountability and audit function through its 
Audit and Risk Committee. It approves the internal and external audit program, and reviews the 
findings, preventive measures, risk, systems and internal controls. The committee initiates special 
investigation on allegations on corruption and accountability
                                                                                       
Capacity Building for Board of Trustees

During the year, Trustees were trained on the Code of Governance for State Corporations 
(Mwongozo) and induction was done for new trustees.

Internal Controls 	                                                                                                      
The Board of Trustees has put in place adequate internal controls to ensure there is no loss or 
pilferage of Fund’s resources / Assets. Risk mitigation strategies are incorporated into the control 
structures that include a functional internal audit department.

Integrated Management Policy Statement 

The National Social Security Fund is committed to provide adequate income replacement to 
members through prudent investments and prompt payment of benefits. The Fund shall do this 
by:

1.	 Establishing integrated Management objectives at the beginning of every financial year based 
on the Corporate Strategic Plan, monitored and reviewed on quarterly basis. 

2.	 Seeking to understand and satisfy the needs and expectations of customers and interested 
parties.

3.	 Continually measuring, analysing and evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
Integrated Management System for continual improvement. 

4.	 Having committed Trustees and staff performing their roles and responsibilities with integrity 
and accountability.

5.	 Embracing best practice, innovation and appropriate technology in all operations
6.	 Ensuring that all activities are aligned to NSSF Act, Cap 258 Laws of Kenya and satisfy all 

applicable requirements.
7.	 Maintaining and improving information security with the aim of minimizing exposure to risk 

within the Fund, leading to provision of timely and reliable services.
8.	 Embracing a knowledge management culture by ensuring the right knowledge is available to 

the right people, at the right time.
9.	 Ensuring continuity in delivery of products and services in the event of any disruption.
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Enterprise Risk Management

An effective enterprise risk management framework is essential to the survival of any organization 
and achievement of its objectives. The Board of Trustees and Management endeavours to 
manage risks to acceptable levels in all its activities. The Fund is committed to embedding risk 
management principles and practices into its strategic and operational plans, decision making 
process, all levels of the Fund, on major projects undertaken, and major transactions entered with 
third Parties.

Board’s Work Plan

The Board of Trustees draws a work-plan that guides its annual work calendar. Special meetings 
are convened whenever an issue arises that need the board’s attention outside the annual work-
plan. The Fund has three board committees established as per the descriptions of the Board 
Charter. The trustees’ remuneration is duly approved by the Cabinet Secretary responsible for 
Labour and Social Protection in compliance with the State Corporations Advisory Committee 
(SCAC) guidelines and the disclosure is in line with Mwongozo, the code of governance for State 
Corporations. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS

10

The Funds Operational and Financial Performance

The Fund’s operational and financial performance is based on the 2023-2027 strategic plan, Budget 
for 2024/2025, and the set targets as per 2024/2025 Performance Contract signed between the 
Board of Trustees and the Principal Secretary Department of Labour of the Ministry of Labour and 
Social Protection, cascaded down to the Board of Trustees, Managing Trustee and all staff. 

(a)	 Summary financial performance

•	 During the financial year ending 30 June 2025, the Fund achieved member contribution 
of Kshs.83.97 billion, which is 8% performance above budget of Kshs. 78 billion, and 
35% growth compared to Kshs. 62.21 billion achieved in 2023/2024 financial year.

  •	 Benefits paid to exiting members amounted to Kshs.8.74 billion, which is 20% 
performance below budget of Kshs. 10.96 billion, and 10% reduction when compared 
with Kshs. 9.71 billion paid in the previous financial year. 

•	 Net surplus from dealing with members of amounted to Kshs. 75.24 billion, which is 
12% above budget and 43% higher when compared with performance achieved in 
2023/2024 financial year. Net dealings represent the net funds which are deployed into 
investment.

•	 Net investment income amounted to Kshs.105.30 billion , which is 75% performance 
above budget and 152% growth compared with Kshs. 41.7 billion achieved in the 
previous financial year. 

•	 The Fund recorded Kshs. 552 million other income which is Kshs. 59 million less than 
what was recorded in the previous financial year.

•	 Overall, the Fund managed to record total revenue from dealings with members, 
investments income and other income of Kshs. 191 billion compared to Kshs. 105 billion, 
from previous year which is an impressive 81% performance higher when compared 
with previous year’s performance. 

•	 The Fund managed to reduce the ratio of operating cost to total fund assets to 1.47% 
from the 1.72% recorded in the previous year. This means that the Fund has achieved the 
statutory threshold on ratio of operating cost to fund assets

•	 The Fund recorded a net increase in scheme funds of Kshs.  172.63 billion  up from Kshs. 
88.02 billion recorded 2023/2024 financial year.  

•	 This enabled growth of fund assets to reach Kshs. 575 billion as at 30 June 2025, up from 
Kshs. 402 billion as at 30 June 2024. 
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Summary Performance Highlights

Parameter 2025 2024 Growth

Member Contribution      83,972,180,926      62,288,402,382 35%

Active Members                3,604,769                3,331,611 8%

Active Employers                     77,764                     78,009 (0.3%)

Benefits paid        8,736,065,966        9,713,289,277 (10%)

Members paid                     91,851                   103,744 (11%)

Investment Income    105,298,492,267      41,703,591,501 152%

Cost to fund value 1.47% 1.71% 14%

Return on Investment 22% 12% 85%

Increase in Net Assets    172,625,001,662      88,024,375,781 96%

Members' Funds    572,771,209,039    400,146,207,377 43%

Fund Assets    575,072,247,926    402,173,981,547 43%

(b)	 Active Members, Employers and Contribution

Active Members and employers

Year 
Financial

Members
No of active

Employers
No. of active

2024/2025 3,604,769 77,764

2023/2024 3,331,611 78,009

2022/2023 2,961,677 78,549

2021/2022 2,604,199 76,907

2020/2021 2,390,820 73,237

2019/2020 2,461,986 74,368

2018/2019 2,502,239 73,308

2017/2018 2,629,701 73,896

Fund active members increased by 273,158 in the 2024/2025 financial year which is a 8% increase 
in active membership. The increase is mainly attributed to registration of public servants who were 
previously not members of the Fund. During the same period, active employers reduced 254 
employers to settle at 77,764 from 78,009. This reflects the economic environment that has led to 
closure of businesses. 

Member Contribution in Billions
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Member contribution increased to Kshs. 83.97 billion in 2024/2025 financial year from Kshs. 62.29 
billion recorded in 2023/2024. This increase is attributed to the continued implementation of the 
NSSF Act Cap 258.

(c)	 Benefit Paid

Benefits paid to members annually has increased from Kshs. 4.43 billion paid in 2019/2020 
financial year to Kshs. 8.74 billion paid in 2024/2025 financial year. In 2024/2025 financial year, 
there was a drop by Kshs. 997 million to close at Kshs. 8.74 billion. The drop was occasioned by 
a systems downtime as a result of a cyber security attack that ate into benefits processing time. 
The same has been resolved and enhanced security measures put in place to avert similar event 
taking place in the future.

The Fund’s investment income is on an upward trajectory and has remained consisted to the 
Fund’s long-term strategy

(d)	 Unrealized/Fair Value Gain (Loss) on Valuation of Investments

The Fund’s investment assets fully recovered the paper loses booked in the last 6 years ensuring 
value retention and long-term growth.
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(e)	 Total Investment Income

6 Year Trend on Investment Income

The Fund’s investments continue to give an attractive return on investment and in 2024/2025, net 
investment income crossed the Kshs.100 billion mark which translates to a 22.23% ROI. 

(f)	 Operating Cost

Operating cost increased to Kshs. 8.46 billion in 2024/2025 mainly due to the recruitment of staff 
to fill vacant positions in accordance with the approved staff establishment. For many years, many 
critical positions have remained vacant affecting the implementation of the Funds programmes. 
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(g) 	 Operating Cost to Fund Assets Ratio

However, the operating cost to fund assets ratio has reduced from as high as 2.37% in 2021/2022 
to 1.47% in 2024/2025 and therefore falling within the statutory threshold. 
	
(h)	 Fund Assets

2022/2024

Fund assets crossed the 500 billion mark and are expected to reach Kshs. 1 trillion in 2027/2028.
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Major Factors that contributed to the Financial Performance

1.	 Rollout of year 3 statutory contributions under the NSSF Act Cap 258.
2.	 Recruitment of Senior Management Staff.
3.	 Appreciation of the Kenya Shilling against major currencies.
4.	 Onboarding of public sector employees who previously were not members of NSSF.
5.	 Recovery of the Investment market resulting into unrealised gain and rise in interest rates for 

fixed income assets.

Challenges and Opportunities  

However, despite the challenges the Fund has a lot of opportunities in voluntary contribution, 
wide coverage to all parts of the country, and development of the available land for investment 
income generation.

Procurement Policy Statement

The Fund procures goods, works and services as per the provisions of the Public Procurement 
and Asset Disposal Act 2015, other relevant laws and Government guidelines with the objective 
of optimal use of the Fund’s resources.

All procurement complies with the relevant budget and the procurement plan.

Key Projects and investment decisions budgeted for in the 2024/2025 financial are as tabulated 
below:-

Key Projects and investment decisions
No NSSF Details  Budget

1 EDMS (Electronic Document Management System)      100,000,000 

2 Equipment        43,000,000 

3 Furniture        45,000,000 

4 Fitting & Finishing        10,000,000 

5 Motor Vehicle      100,000,000 

6 IT Equipment        75,000,000 

7 Refurbishment - Other Investment Buildings      100,000,000 

8 Field offices Renovation      150,000,000 

9 Refurbishment - SSH Nairobi      700,000,000 

10 Refurbishment - Hazina Polana      150,000,000 

13 SAP/SSPAS Upgrade      170,000,000 

14 Network upgrade        25,000,000 

15 Kenyatta Avenue   1,000,000,000 

16 Proposed Machakos Housing      700,000,000 

17 Proposed Kisumu Housing      700,000,000 

18 Hazina Village Mavoko   1,100,000,000 

19 Software Defined Network (SDN)      150,000,000 

20 Security Device refresh & air Gap with DNS & DHCP 
Security

     180,000,000 

21 Application Performance Monitoring           7,000,000 

Totals  5,505,000,000 
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Going Concern 

The Fund is in the process of reviewing the Performance Measurement and Management System. 
The envisioned system will enhance and facilitate the evaluation of performance of the Fund 
through four perspectives namely: Financial, internal process, customer, and people & culture 
perspectives. This is in line with the requirement of Mwongozo that the going concern of an 
organization be measured using the Triple Bottom Line concept which focuses not only on profit, 
but also on people and the planet. 

The implementation of the performance system will also facilitate the inculcation of performance-
oriented culture among staff and based on various surveys carried out by external consultants, 
the trend of Fund repositioning positively is on the increase. During the year, performance reports 
were generated using the balance score card performance management system. 

Code of Ethics and Conduct and Whistle-Blowing policy 

The Board of Trustees and staff are committed to enhancing ethics and integrity in the Fund 
in accordance with Chapter 6 and Article 232 of the Constitution of Kenya on Leadership and 
Integrity and Values and Principles of Public Service respectively. 

The commitment is demonstrated by formulation of the Leadership & Integrity Code and Whistle 
Blower Policy. The two policies have been posted in the NSSF website for all stakeholders to 
familiarize themselves with them. The aim of posting is to enlist support from the stakeholders in 
enhancing ethics and integrity in the Fund. 
In addition, all employees are required to sign an Acknowledgement Form confirming that they 
have read, understood and will abide by the Code. 

Compliance with statutory Requirements 

The Fund is fully compliant with statutory requirements 

Compliance with Retirement Benefits ACT 

The NSSF Act Cap 258 provides that NSSF shall be subject to all the provisions of the Retirement 
Benefits Act. Rule 28 (2) of the occupational rules for a retirement benefit scheme requires the 
Fund to maintain an account under which all transactions should be recorded. 

Key Exposure Risks 

Based on the enterprise risk management framework, the following key exposure risks have been 
identified and strategies put in place to manage them: 

(a)	 Change of NSSF Act – the Fund is constantly lobbying for a stable legal environment that will 
enable achievement of mandate. 

(b)	 Competition of Tier II opting out- The Fund has embarked on an aggressive reengineering 
of its products, processes and delivery channels. 

(c)	 Legacy debts especially amount owed by government entities (contribution and tax 
refunds)- the Fund is aggressively lobbying government, and adoption of alternative dispute 
resolution methods and enhancement of debt monitoring system.
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(d)	 Market volatility- the Fund has ventured into alternative investments for diversification of 
assets and markets.

(e)	 Low returns- the Fund has reviewed its contracts with investment service providers to be 
performance based and incorporation of strict performance monitoring.

(f)	 Cybersecurity threats- the Fund is in the process of implementing holistic cyber security 
solutions to detect, deter and prevent intrusion.

(g)	 Data integrity- the Fund is in the process of cleaning member databases to ensure correct 
ledgers and obligations

(h)	 Culture- the Fund is currently implementing a culture change program that will address 
historical injustices and culture of conservatism, risk averseness and indecisiveness.

(i)	 Frequent changes in Board membership and political interference- the Funds endeavors to 
adhere to good corporate governance practices

Material Arrears in Statutory and Other Financial Obligations

The Board of Trustees confirm that: -
•	 the Fund does not have any material pending bills, outstanding taxes, outstanding staff & 

pension obligations. 
•	 The Fund does not have any actuarial deficit on its pension scheme obligation. 
•	 The Fund operates under three schemes i.e. the Old provident Fund, New provident Fund 

and the Pension Fund as provided in NSSF Act Cap 258.



xlvNATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING

11

The National Social Security Fund (NSSF) exists to transform lives and protect Kenyans from old 
age poverty through its clearly defined mission: to empower members to achieve financial security 
through prudent investments and value-adding solutions.

As part of its commitment to sustainability, the Fund uses environmental and sustainability 
reporting to communicate its environmental impact, performance, and dedication to sustainable 
practices to both internal and external stakeholders. This reporting is typically submitted to key 
government bodies and other relevant statutory agencies. It also includes disclosures that reflect 
the Fund’s transparency regarding its environmental practices and the measures taken to minimize 
its ecological footprint, in line with national sustainable development initiatives.

NSSF has made significant strides in promoting environmentally sustainable practices that deliver 
meaningful benefits to the communities targeted by these initiatives. This reporting further 
reinforces the Fund’s accountability and ongoing efforts to champion sustainable development 
across its operations.

(i)  Sustainability strategy and profile

The Fund’s top management remains deeply committed to advancing sustainability as a strategic 
priority. This commitment is driven by the recognition that sustainable development is essential 
for improving the quality of life for current and future generations.

In line with this vision, the Fund has undertaken a broad range of initiatives that support 
environmental, social, and economic sustainability. These efforts are closely aligned with the 
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which provide a global framework for 
addressing pressing development challenges.

(a)   Contribution to Sustainable Development Goals

The Fund’s operations and programs contribute both directly and indirectly to the achievement 
of several Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). These include SDG 1, by supporting initiatives 
aimed at eradicating poverty in all its forms; SDG 3, through promoting access to quality healthcare 
and wellness programs for all age groups; and SDG 4, by enhancing access to inclusive, equitable, 
and quality education while promoting lifelong learning opportunities. The Fund also advances 
SDG 5 by promoting gender equality and empowering women and girls through targeted policies 
and programs. Additionally, it supports SDG 8 by fostering inclusive and sustainable economic 
growth, productive employment, and decent work for all, and contributes to SDG 11 by supporting 
the development of inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable urban environments.
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(b)  Upholding National Values and Governance Principles

In addition to its alignment with global sustainability goals, the Fund is steadfast in its 
implementation of the national values and principles of governance as outlined in Article 10 of 
the Constitution of Kenya. These principles—such as integrity, transparency, accountability, and 
sustainable development—are embedded in the Fund’s policies, operations, and stakeholder 
engagements.

This dual commitment to both international and national sustainability frameworks underscores 
the Fund’s role as a responsible and forward-looking institution.

(ii)  Environmental performance 

At the NSSF, we are committed to promoting sustainable development and minimizing our 
environmental footprint. Our environmental performance during the 2024/2025 financial year 
reflects our ongoing dedication to responsible climate action, in alignment with the Government’s 
directives.

Throughout the year, the Fund has actively participated in initiatives aimed at promoting 
environmental conservation and reducing ecological impact. Notably, NSSF continues to 
support tree-growing campaigns in collaboration with the Kenya Forest Service, schools, and 
other stakeholders. These efforts align with the Government’s national tree-planting agenda and 
demonstrate our commitment to long-term environmental stewardship.

We recognize the critical role we play in fostering a culture of environmental responsibility. By 
integrating sustainability into our operations, we aim to create lasting positive change for both 
current and future generations.

Looking ahead, we remain focused on enhancing our environmental performance. We are 
committed to making a meaningful contribution to the global fight against climate change through 
sustainable practices, strategic partnerships, and environmentally conscious investments.

In conclusion, our achievements in the 2024/2025 financial year have laid a solid foundation 
for a greener, more sustainable future. NSSF will continue to pursue environmental excellence, 
ensuring that our actions and investments reflect our unwavering commitment to environmental 
protection and climate resilience.

(iii)	 Employee welfare (Productivity Mainstreaming) 

Productivity mainstreaming in the public service is a strategic approach aimed at embedding 
productivity principles into all aspects of organizational planning, policy-making, and service 
delivery. It involves the integration of efficiency, effectiveness, and performance measurement 
practices across public institutions to enhance value for citizens. NSSF being a public organization, 
productivity mainstreaming ensures that resources are utilized optimally, service delivery is 
continually improved, and operations align with national development goals, such as those 
outlined in Kenya Vision 2030 and the Bottom-Up Economic Transformation Agenda (BETA).
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Productivity mainstreaming within NSSF is being integrated as part of broader public sector reforms 
aimed at enhancing service delivery and operational efficiency. Guided by the performance 
contracting guidelines and supported by the National Productivity and Competitiveness Centre 
(NPCC), NSSF has adopted the structured productivity management practices which includes the 
formation of productivity mainstreaming committees, training internal productivity champions, 
and sensitization of staff on the importance of measuring and improving productivity. The goal is 
to ensure that Fund’s resources—labour, capital, and technology—are optimally utilized to deliver 
high-quality, cost-effective services to contributors and beneficiaries.

The Fund is on a transformative path to improve retirement savings and expand coverage, especially 
to the informal sector workers through the uptake of the Haba Haba product. This transformation 
includes phased increase in contributions as per the NSSF Act Chapter 258 following its full 
implementation, digital innovations, and broader inclusion of previously uncovered populations. 
By aligning these reforms with productivity mainstreaming efforts, NSSF is not only improving its 
financial sustainability but also enhancing transparency, accountability, and member centrism. 
The integration of productivity indicators into its operations will help fast track efficiency, inform 
policy decisions, and foster a culture of continual improvement across the Fund.

The NSSF Senior Management team participated in a three-day sensitization workshop on 
Productivity Mainstreaming in Public Service, held at Lake Naivasha Resort, Naivasha County. 
Facilitated by the National Productivity and Competitiveness Centre (NPCC), the training focused 
on transitioning from activity-based to results-driven productivity reinforcing our dedication to 
efficiency, quality service, and value-driven outcomes for our members.efficiency, quality service, 
and value-driven outcomes for our members.
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(iv)	 Market place practices 

The Fund promotes responsible business practices through a number of areas:

Responsible competition practice

The Fund upholds responsible competition practices in its procurement activities by promoting 
fair competition among prospective suppliers of goods and services. Bid evaluations are 
conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 
2015, and other relevant legal frameworks that support the fight against corruption. To ensure fair 
competition within the pension industry, the Fund fully complies with the regulatory requirements 
of the Retirement Benefits Authority, the industry’s governing body.

Responsible supply chain and supplier relations

The Fund upholds ethical and sound business practices in its dealings with suppliers by honouring 
contractual terms and adhering to agreed payment timelines.

Responsible marketing and advertisement

The Fund has made significant efforts to ensure that its members receive accurate and timely 
information through mainstream media, social media, and direct engagements with stakeholders. 
NSSF is committed to upholding transparency, trust, and credibility as core principles in its 
interactions with members and the public, with the aim of building and sustaining public 
confidence.

As part of this commitment, the Fund ensures that all marketing materials and advertisements 
accurately reflect the services offered and the benefits due to members. This emphasis on 
transparency and truthfulness helps prevent misinformation that could negatively impact potential 
members’ understanding and decision-making.

Marketing communication plays a critical role in creating awareness and educating the public on 
the importance of social security and the value of saving for a secure future. The development 
of informative and targeted content is central to reaching and engaging the intended audiences 
effectively.

In line with responsible marketing practices, the Fund also considers the environmental impact 
of its campaigns. NSSF has embraced sustainable approaches—such as leveraging digital 
communication—to minimize the use of paper materials, thereby supporting environmental 
conservation through technology-driven solutions.

Product stewardship

The Fund is committed to protecting consumer rights and interests by implementing an internal 
whistleblowing policy and establishing clear reporting channels. These mechanisms enable 
members and other stakeholders to make inquiries or raise concerns regarding the services 
provided. Additionally, the Fund collaborates with government agencies such as the Office of 
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the Ombudsman, offering an external avenue for stakeholders to voice their dissatisfaction when 
service expectations are not met.

Furthermore, the National Social Security Fund (NSSF) has adopted a proactive approach to 
ensure that its products and services meet the highest standards of quality and transparency, in full 
compliance with the provisions of the NSSF Act Cap 258 Laws of Kenya. Through the adoption of 
product stewardship practices, NSSF demonstrates its commitment to delivering innovative and 
competitive retirement benefits. These efforts not only enhance the attractiveness of its offerings 
but also safeguard the interests of its members, significantly contributing to their financial security 
in retirement.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY / COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENTS 

At NSSF, we recognize the vital role we play in enhancing the well-being and development of the 
communities and stakeholders we serve. We understand that responsible corporate citizenship 
extends beyond our core business operations, and we are deeply committed to making a 
meaningful impact on society through our Corporate Social Responsibility and Investment (CSR/
CSI) initiatives and community engagement efforts.

Driven by a strong sense of duty to give back, we continuously strive to be a positive force in 
the communities we operate in. Our CSR/CSI activities are not mere formalities—they reflect 
our dedication to creating lasting, positive change in the lives of those we touch. The Fund has 
integrated social and environmental considerations into its business operations and stakeholder 
interactions, reinforcing our commitment to sustainable development.

Through active stakeholder engagement, the Fund has achieved improved returns on investment, 
evidenced by increased revenue from arrears, penalties, and membership growth. These outcomes 
are supported by numerous success stories that highlight the tangible impact of our initiatives.

During the financial year ending 30th June 2025, the Fund invested Kshs. 19,597,010 in CSR/
CSI sponsorships across key pillars aligned with our CSR policy: education, social welfare, sports, 
health, and environmental conservation.

Education

NSSF is committed to enhancing access to quality education for disadvantaged and vulnerable 
communities in Kenya. The Fund recognizes that school children represent the future generation 
of contributors, and by supporting their education today, we help secure a more prosperous 
tomorrow.

The education sector in Kenya faces significant challenges due to limited resource allocation, 
which continues to hinder efforts to provide a conducive learning environment. In response, the 
Fund promotes education as a key Sustainable Development Goal through various corporate 
social responsibility initiatives. These include infrastructure development, library stocking, and the 
rehabilitation of sanitation facilities in schools across the country.
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By investing in education, NSSF aims to empower young people with the knowledge and skills 
they need to build a better future for themselves, their families, and their communities.

Health

NSSF Kenya recognizes that a healthy population is essential for sustainable social and economic 
development. As such, the Fund actively supports healthcare initiatives aimed at improving access 
to essential medical services, particularly in marginalized and underserved communities.

To advance public health, NSSF collaborates with the Government and other reputable 
organizations to address key health challenges. These efforts focus on critical areas such as 
HIV/AIDS, malaria, malnutrition, reproductive health, and maternal and child health. The Fund 
also supports the creation and implementation of health awareness campaigns to educate and 
empower communities on these vital issues.

Sports                                                                                                                         

Kenyans strongly identify with sporting activities, particularly athletics and football. NSSF 
recognizes the important role of sports in promoting healthy lifestyles, nurturing talent, and 
fostering community cohesion through marathons.
The Fund’s involvement in sports is driven by the need to instil a culture of social security within 
a sector that has historically had low uptake of social protection. Many sportsmen and women, 
despite enjoying celebrated careers, have retired into poverty due to lack of proper financial 
planning and savings.

Supporting sports also offers a strategic platform to engage with the youth and promote a saving 
culture within this largely untapped market segment.

As part of its commitment, the Fund has partnered with key stakeholders in the sports industry, 
including the Sports Personality of the Year Awards (SOYA), an annual event that honours 
outstanding athletes who have brought pride to the nation. 

Social Welfare

NSSF is committed to promoting social welfare and inclusivity. The Fund has partnered with various 
local agencies and neighbouring communities to support vulnerable populations, including 
orphaned children, elderly individuals, and persons with disabilities. As part of these efforts, the 
Fund distributed food supplies to children’s homes and families living in areas severely affected 
by poverty.

Many vulnerable individuals continue to suffer the harsh effects of socio-economic distress, which 
has led to a significant decline in their purchasing power and, consequently, a deterioration in their 
quality of life. Through its interventions, NSSF aims to alleviate these challenges and contribute to 
building more resilient and dignified communities.
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Eldoret Branch Manager, Mr. Evans Tonui, and his team visited Jawabu Rehabilitation Centre for 
Children with Disabilities on 18th December 2024. They were warmly received by Pastor Korir, 
who runs the Centre and expressed his appreciation to the team for bringing joy and smiles to the 
children.

1.  Environmental conservation

NSSF is committed to environmental conservation and sustainability. The Fund actively engages in 
initiatives aimed at protecting the environment and mitigating the effects of climate change. These 
efforts are focused on reducing greenhouse gas emissions, halting and reversing deforestation, 
and restoring 5.1 million hectares of deforested and degraded landscapes.

Key activities include nationwide tree-growing campaigns to restore and preserve forest cover, 
promoting proper waste management and recycling initiatives, and encouraging energy efficiency 
practices. By championing environmental responsibility, NSSF seeks to contribute to a greener, 
healthier, and more sustainable future for Kenya.

The Fund remains dedicated to playing a vital role in environmental conservation through its 
annual tree-planting initiatives and other related programs that aim to create long-lasting positive 
environmental impact.
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Voi Branch Manager, Ms.Mariam Mohamed, and her team during a tree planting exercise in Voi.
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2.  Stakeholder Engagement

NSSF places strong emphasis on stakeholder engagement as a key strategic pillar. During the 
2024/2025 financial year, the Fund conducted a series of stakeholder engagement forums in 
preparation for the second phase of the implementation of the NSSF Act, Cap. 258.

The Fund believes that effective and meaningful engagement with stakeholders is essential for 
developing impactful and sustainable initiatives. Stakeholder engagement enables NSSF to 
understand the diverse needs, expectations, and concerns of the individuals and communities it 
serves, ensuring that its strategic efforts are aligned with their priorities.

To guide this process, NSSF has mapped out its stakeholders based on their unique needs and 
expectations, in accordance with the Fund’s Stakeholder Engagement Policy.

Mombasa Branch Manager, Ms. Ibtisam Mohamed, and her team conducted a stakeholder 
sensitization workshop on March 5, 2025, at Premier Inn Hotel, Mombasa. The workshop aimed to 
educate and sensitize stakeholders on the NSSF products and services.

The Nairobi Regional Manager,Ms. Alice Kamuri accompanied the Westlands Branch Manager, Ms. 
Lilian Siparo, and her team to conduct stakeholders sensitization workshop on March 6, 2025, at 
Jacaranda Hotel, Nairobi. The workshop aimed to educate and sensitize employers on the NSSF 
products and services.
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Labour and Social Protection Cabinet Secretary Alfred Mutua (centre) with the Secretary General of the In-
ternational Social Security Association Marcelo Abi-Ramia Caetano,NSSF Board Chairman David Njeru,NSSF 
CEO David Koross,County Pension Group MD Hosea Kili,NSSF Uganda MD Patrick Ayota, Director General 
of NSSF Tanzania Masha Mshomba, Public Service Pension Fund CEO of Eswatini Masotja Vilakati and NSSF 
Trustee Mike Macharia during the International Social Security Association Technical Seminar in Nairobi.

The CEO of the Kenya Association of Hotel Keepers and Caterers (KAHC), Mr. Mike Macharia, engaged 
key stakeholders in the tourism industry to explore ways of unlocking Kenya’s tourism potential. Mr. Evans 
Ombui, the NSSF General Manager for Social Security, delivered a thought-provoking presentation on the 
role of pension schemes in tourism development. H.E. Hon. Gladys Wanga, Governor of Homa Bay County, 
spoke and encouraged hotel owners to invest in Homa Bay County. This took place during the KAHC Annual 
Symposium held at Sarova Whitesands Beach Resort & Spa, Mombasa, from 26th to 28th June 2025.

Stakeholder Engagement
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REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES12

The Board of Trustees submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the 
year ended June 30, 2025, which show the state of the National Social Security Fund’s affairs.

(i)  Principal activities

The principal activities of the Fund, as provided under Section 4 of the NSSF Act Cap 258, are to 
register members, receive their contributions, invest the funds, process and ultimately pay out 
benefits to eligible members or their dependents. 

Results

The results of the Fund for the year ended June 30, 2025 analysed as below: -
Parameter 2025 2024 Growth

Member Contribution      83,972,180,926      62,288,402,382 35%

Active Members                3,604,769                3,331,611 8%

Active Employers                     77,764                     78,009 (0.3%)

Benefits paid        8,736,065,966        9,713,289,277 (10%)

Members paid                     91,851                   103,744 (11%)

Investment Income    105,298,492,267      41,703,591,501 152%

Cost to fund value 1.47% 1.71% 14%

Return on Investment 22% 12% 85%

Increase in Net Assets    172,625,001,662      88,024,375,781 96%

Members' Funds    572,771,209,039    400,146,207,377 43%

Fund Assets    575,072,247,926    402,173,981,547 43%

(ii)  Investment of funds

Fund managers are responsible for the day-to-day management of investment funds. However, the 
overall responsibility for investment and performance lies with the Board of Trustees. We confirm 
that there is no self-investment, nor have any Fund assets been used as security or collateral on 
behalf of the employer or any connected business or individual. The Fund’s net assets position as 
at 30 June 2025 was as follows:
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Compliance with RBA Investment Requirements
Particulars 2025 2024  

Categories of as-
sets

Value % RBA Max 
% Req

Value % RBA 
Max % 
Req

Investment Portfolio
Cash and Demand 
Deposits 

4,856,249,075 0.87% 5% 5,723,666,000 1.47% 5%

Fixed Deposits 13,350,712,539 2.39% 30% 5,720,825,210 1.47% 30%

GoK Securities 389,678,224,550 69.83% 90% 260,982,317,129 66.97% 90%

Corporate bonds 1,573,474,195 0.28% 20% 1,723,248,494 0.44% 20%

Quoted Equities 85,135,034,479 15.26% 70% 61,185,359,154 15.70% 70%

Unquoted equities 199,486,740 0.04% 5% 199,486,740 0.05% 5%

Immovable property 35,447,457,956 6.35% 30% 35,389,483,481 9.08% 30%

Real Estate Investment 
Trusts

1,584,707,271 0.28% 30% 928,539,454 0.24% 30%

Private Equity & 
Venture Capital

7,298,119,647 1.31% 10% 3,306,167,443 0.85% 10%

Debt instruments 
for the financing of 
10% infrastructure or 
affordable housing 
projects

0.00% 10% 0.00% 10%

Offshore investment 2,605,317,531 0.47% 5% 1,063,938,283 0.27% 5%

Others 16,320,969,881 2.92% 10% 13,489,447,272 3.46% 10%

Investment Assets 558,049,753,864 100.00%   389,712,478,660 100%

Other assets 17,022,494,063   12,461,502,887  

Total Assets 575,072,247,926   402,173,981,547  

(iii)  Member interest 

Section 2 of the NSSF ActCap 258 Laws of Kenya requires that investment income be credited 
to the accounts of individual members, at such rates as the Board may, in consultation with the 
Actuary or such other qualified person, determine and approve at least annually, having regard 
to the income on the Fund’s assets.  Interest declared and paid in the last five years is as follows:

Financial Year Declared interest %

2017/2018 7

2018/2019 3

2019/2020 3

2020/2021 10

2021/2022 4

2022/2023 2.5

2023/2024 11

The 2024/2025 interest declaration will be done at the AGM to be scheduled after the audit of 
the financial statements by Auditor General and actuarial valuation.
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(iv)  Trustees

The members of the Board of Trustees who served during the year are shown on the table. In 
accordance with NSSF Act Cap 258, trustees serve for a maximum of two terms of three (3) years 
each subject to reappointment after the initial term.

(v)  Fiduciary Responsibility Statement

The Board of Trustees believes that governance is a key issue and as such, strives to ensure that 
the highest governance standards are applied in its operations. It is committed to ensuring that its 
policies and practices reflect high standards of corporate governance practices, which includes 
embracing the following principles:

•	 Observation of high standards of ethical and moral behaviour. 
•	 Acting in the best interests of members and stakeholders.
•	 Establishment of a formidable risk management system.
•	 The scheme has complied with the laws, regulations and guidelines that govern retirement 

benefits schemes and the scheme’s business operations.
•	 The trustees have ensured that the fund managers and custodians have carried out all scheme 

investments and that all scheme assets and funds are held by the custodians.

(vi)  Auditors

The Auditor-General is responsible for the statutory audit of the Fund in accordance with Article 
229 of the Constitution of Kenya and the Public Audit Act 2015 for the year ended June 30, 2025.

By Order of the Board

…………………………………………….
Ms. Kellen Njue
Corporation Secretary
Date
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

13

Section 81 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012, National Social Security Fund Act Cap 
258, the Retirement Benefits Act, 1997, and Section 14 of the State Corporations Act No. 446 
require the Trustees to prepare financial statements in respect of the Fund, which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the National Social Security Fund for the financial year and the 
operating results of the Fund for that year. The Trustees are also required to ensure that the Fund 
keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position 
of the Fund. The Trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Fund.

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Fund’s financial 
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Fund for and as at the 
end of the financial year ended on June 30, 2025.  This responsibility includes: (i) Maintaining 
adequate financial management arrangements and ensuring that these continue to be effective 
throughout the reporting period,(ii) maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the entity, (iii)Designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements, and ensuring that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error or 
fraud, (iv)Safeguarding the assets of the Fund, (v)selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies, and (vi)Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Trustees confirm that, during the year under review, in the execution of their duties 
they have complied with all legal requirements and wish to confirm that:

•	 Adequate accounting records were kept inclusive of proper minutes of all resolutions passed 
by the Board of Trustees;

•	 They took such steps as were reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Fund 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities;

•	 Proper internal control systems were employed by or on behalf of the Fund;
•	 Adequate and appropriate information was communicated to the members including their 

rights, benefits and duties in terms of the rules of the Fund;
•	 Reasonable steps to ensure that contributions, where applicable, were paid timely to the Fund;
•	 Expert advice was obtained on matters where they lacked sufficient expertise;
•	 The rules, operation and administration of the Fund complied with all applicable legislation; 

and,
•	 Funds were invested and maintained in accordance with the Fund’s investment policy 

statement.
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Approval of the annual financial statements

The Trustees’ accept responsibility for the Fund’s financial statements, which have been prepared 
using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and in the manner 
required by the PFM Act, 2012 and the State Corporations Act and the Retirement Benefits Act. 

The Board of Trustees is of the opinion that the Fund’s financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the state of Fund’s transactions during the financial year ended June 30, 2025, and of the Fund’s 
financial position as at that date. The Board of Trustees further confirm the completeness of the 
accounting records maintained for the Fund, which have been relied upon in the preparation of 
the Fund’s financial statements as well as the adequacy of the systems of internal financial control.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Trustees has assessed the Fund’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Nothing has come to the attention of the Board of Trustees to 
indicate that the Fund will not remain a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the 
date of this statement.

Fund’s financial statements were approved by the Board on 19 August 2025 and signed on its 
behalf by:

……………………………………				    ……………………………………..
Hon. David Kariuki Njeru					     FA David Koross, MBS
CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF TRUSTEES				    CEO/MANAGING TRUSTEE
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	 Note	 2025	 2024
 		  Kshs	 Kshs

DEALINGS WITH MEMBERS FUNDS:				  

Remitted member contribution	 6a	 81,939,367,930	 59,143,557,370

Unremitted member contribution	 6b	 2,032,812,996	 3,144,845,013

Contributions receivable		  83,972,180,926	 62,288,402,382

			 

Benefits Paid	 7	 (8,736,065,966)	 (9,713,289,277)

Net Surplus from dealings with members		  75,236,114,959	 52,575,113,105

				  

INVESTMENT INCOME:				  

Investment Income (realised)	 8	 55,774,467,944	 39,617,489,184

FV gain/(loss) on revaluation of Investments	 9	 46,062,474,212	 2,988,668,249

Gain/(loss) on realisation of investments	 10	 4,559,526,660	 (215,684,206)

Investment Management Expenses	 11	 (1,097,976,550)	 (686,881,726)

Net Investment Income		  105,298,492,267	 41,703,591,501

Other Income	 12	 552,293,199	 611,518,345

Net Income		  105,850,785,466	 42,315,109,846

OPERATING COST:				  

Administration cost	 13	 (8,151,426,240)	 (6,950,213,769)

Provisions	 14	 (310,472,523)	 84,366,599

Total operating cost		  (8,461,898,763)	 (6,865,847,171)

			 

NET INCREASE IN THE FUND FOR THE YEAR		  172,625,001,662	 88,024,375,781

As previously reported		  400,146,207,377	 312,121,831,596

As restated		  400,146,207,377	 312,121,831,596

NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE		  572,771,209,039	 400,146,207,377
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE 
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	 Note	 2025	 2024
 		  Kshs	 Kshs

INVESTMENT ASSETS:				  
Term and Demand Deposits	 15	 18,002,961,614	 11,444,491,210
Government Securities- (Treasury bills)	 16	 -	 8,771,040
Government Securities- (Treasury bonds)	 17	 355,391,628,577	 253,804,875,051
Eurobonds	 18	 34,286,595,973	 7,168,671,038
Corporate bonds	 19	 1,573,474,195	 1,723,248,494
Accrued Income	 20	 14,237,287,465	 10,946,061,715
TPS Loans	 21	 2,083,682,416	 2,543,385,556
Unquoted Equities	 22a	 199,486,740	 199,486,740
Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS)	 22b	 1,584,707,271	 928,539,454
Private Equity 	 22c	 7,298,119,647	 3,306,167,443
Money Market Funds	 22d	 204,000,000	 -
Offshore Investments	 22e	 2,605,317,531	 1,063,938,283
Quoted Stocks	 23	 85,135,034,479	 61,185,359,154
Investment property	 24	 35,447,457,956	 35,389,483,481
Total Investment Assets	  	 558,049,753,864	 389,712,478,660

OTHER ASSETS:		  		
Property, plant and equipment	 25	 470,983,776	 433,365,273
Intangible assets	 26	 -	 -
Assets under construction	 27	 1,265,325,610	 128,016,172
Inventory	 28	 26,026,958	 45,257,906
Staff Mortgage Scheme 	 29	 1,329,439,690	 1,304,830,014
Staff Loans	 30	 135,217,038	 158,331,610
Receivables and Prepayments	 31	 10,201,624,713	 8,191,311,181
Cash and bank balances	 32	 3,593,876,278	 2,200,390,732
Total Other Assets	  	 17,022,494,063	 12,461,502,887
Total Assets	  	 575,072,247,926	 402,173,981,547
				  
REPRESENTED BY				  
Payables and accruals	 34	 2,301,038,887	 2,027,774,170
Total Liabilities	  	 2,301,038,887	 2,027,774,170
				  
MEMBER LIABILITIES				  
Unremitted Member Contribution	 6b	 5,177,658,008	 3,144,845,013
Accumulated members’ funds	 35	 457,323,098,156	 353,693,475,456
Member reserve accounts	 35	 110,270,452,875	 43,307,886,919
Total Member Liabilities		  572,771,209,039	 400,146,207,377
FUND BALANCE	  	 575,072,247,926	 402,173,981,547

The financial statements were approved by the Board on  19th August 2025 and signed on its 
behalf by:

…………………………….	 ……………………………	 …………………………….
Hon. David Kariuki Njeru	 FA David Koross		  CPA Ronald Nyamosi	
Chairman of the Board	 CEO/Managing Trustee       	 GM, Finance & Investment                                        
						      ICPAK M/NO: 3849
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
ACCUMULATED MEMBERS’ FUNDS FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025
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	 Note	 2025	 2024 	
		  Kshs	 Kshs

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			 
Net increase in assets		  172,625,001,662	 88,024,375,781
			 
Adjustments:			 
Foreign exchange losses	 8h	 (35,946,845)	 1,023,451,512
Fair value gain/(loss) on revaluation 	 9	 (46,062,474,212)	 (2,988,668,249)
Increase /(decrease) in provision for Pay 
in Lieu of Leave 	 13a	 (5,498,089)	 19,498,333
Increase/(decrease) in provisions	 14	 310,472,523	 (84,366,599)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment	 25	 203,122,253	 217,985,926
Amortization of intangible assets	 26	 0	 90,188,217
Operating surplus/(deficit) before working 
capital changes		  127,034,677,292	 86,302,464,921
			 
Changes in Working Capital:			 
Increase/(decrease) in TPS Loans	 21	 459,703,141	 157,126,779
Decrease/(increase) in inventories	 28	 19,230,948	 (14,011,271)
Increase/(decrease) in Staff Mortgage Scheme 	 29	 (24,609,676)	 (23,591,818)
Increase/(decrease) in Staff Loans	 30	 23,114,571	 15,120,790
Decrease/(increase) in debtors & prepayments	 31	 (2,010,313,532)	 (1,610,638,235)
Decrease/(increase) in accrued income	 20	 (3,291,225,749)	 (3,362,379,517)
increase/(decrease) in payables and accruals	 33	 273,264,717	 207,889,364
Net Changes in working capital		  (4,550,835,579)	 (4,630,483,909)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities		  122,483,841,712	 81,671,981,012
			 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			 
Placement/withdrawal of deposits with financial 
institutions	 15	 (6,564,183,029)	 2,854,969,579
Purchase/ redemption of Treasury bills	 16	 8,771,040	 1,203,423,777
Purchase/sale or redemption of Treasury bonds	 17	 (74,772,089,525)	 (66,156,324,471)
Purchase/sale or redemption of Eurobonds	 18	 (30,192,413,240)	 (8,803,947,549)
Redemption of corporate bonds	 19	 169,294,084	 18,598,267
Purchase/sale of unquoted equities	 22	 (6,076,991,555)	 (4,991,670,225)
Purchase/sale of quoted equities	 23	 (2,481,734,116)	 (4,739,652,176)
Purchase, development/sale of land and buildings	 24	 59,025,525	 269,741,975
Additions to property, plant and equipment	 25	 (240,711,946)	 (111,294,975)
Additions to assets under construction	 27	 (1,137,309,438)	 (95,033,455)
Receipts from TPS and other loans		  137,986,035	 (117,824,195)
Net cash flows from investing activities		  (121,090,356,166)	 (80,669,013,448)
Net increase/(decrease in cash and cash equivalents		  1,393,485,546	 1,002,967,564
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July 2024		  2,200,390,732	 1,197,423,167
Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 2025		  3,593,876,278	 2,200,390,732
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Budget Explanations

(a)   Recurrent Budget

(i )	 Member Contribution - The Fund collected Kshs. 83.97 billion compared with budget 
of Kshs. 78.06 budget which is 8% performance above budget. This performance is 
attributed to the implementation year two NSSF contribution rates as per the NSSF Act 
Cap 258. 

(ii)	 Benefits - The Fund paid out member benefits amounting to Kshs.8.73 billion compared 
to budget of Kshs. 10.96 billion which is 20% performance below budget. The lower than 
budget performance is attributable to low system challenges occasioned by cyber-attacks 
which took time to resolve leading to backlogs crossing to the next financial year.

(iii)	 Dividend Income - The Fund earned dividend income amounting to Kshs.6.77 billion 
in the year under review compared with Kshs. 4.66 billion budget or 45% performance 
above budget. This improved performance is attributable to good dividend earned from 
investments in BAT, EABL, KPLC, EAPC, Coopbank, DTB, MTN Uganda, CRDB and Acorn 
I’REIT and D’REIT. However, reduced dividend was recorded from Absa bank, Safaricom 
and SCB.

(iv)	 Interest income - The Fund’s fixed income instruments earned Kshs. 47.5 billion against 
budget of Kshs.45.4 billion or 5% performance above budget. The performance is 
attributed to steady interest rates regime that reigned during the year.

(v)	 Rent Income - The Fund’s investment properties earned Kshs.1.24 billion rent income 
against budget of Kshs. 1.29 billion, or 8% performance below budget mainly due to low 
occupancy in the HTC building which was budgeted for.

(vi)	 TPS Interest - The Fund earned Kshs. 230 million interest from TPS schemes against 
budget of Kshs.246 million or 6% performance below budget. The reduced interest from 
TPS scheme has continued to reduce because of early repayment of loans by tenants and 
the Fund’s significant decrease in investment in housing projects under TPS.

(vii)	 Fair value gain on investments  - The Fund’s investments experienced a fair value 
gain Kshs. 46 billion compared to Kshs.9.4 billion budget or 391% performance above 
budget. This is an impressive performance is attributable to the impressive performance 
of investments at the Nairobi Securities Exchange. 

(viii)	 Realized gain on sale of investments - The Fund earned capital gain of Kshs. 4.55 billion 
mainly from the sale of Bamburi shares and treasury bonds sold during the year. This 
performance is 1203% higher than budget of Kshs. 0.35 billion. 

(ix)	 Other income - The Fund earned Kshs. 0.55 billion other income mainly from fines and 
penalties levied on late remittance of employee contribution to NSSF by employers. This 
performance translates to 998% of budget of Kshs. 0.05 billion.
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(x)	 Investment management expense- The Fund incurred Kshs.1.1 billion on management 
expense against budget of Kshs. 1.27 billion, or 14% below budget. 

(xi)	 Depreciation and amortization - The Fund incurred Kshs. 203 million on depreciation of 
assets and amortization of software compared to budget of Kshs. 422 million. The under 
expenditure is attributed to failure to procure softwares that were planned to be procured 
during the year.

(b)	 Capital Expenditure

(i)	 EDMS (Electronic Document Management System - The budget was fully utilized as 
budgeted.

(ii)	 Equipment - The un absorbed budget was occasioned by delayed procurement of other 
office equipment.

(iii)	 Furniture - The un absorbed budget was occasioned by delayed procurement of other 
office furniture.

(iv)	 Fitting & Finishing -The un absorbed budget was occasioned by delayed procurement 
of office blinds after they are partitioned.

(v)	 Motor Vehicle -below budget absorption was attributed to reduction in number of 
vehicles to be procured due to high prices.

(vi)	 IT Equipment -The budget was fully utilized as budgeted.

(vii)	 Refurbishment - Other Investment Buildings - below budget uptake was due to delayed 
in procurement process on commercial buildings.

(viii)	 Field offices Renovation - below budget uptake was due to delayed in procurement 
process on earmarked branches.

(ix)	 Refurbishment - SSH Nairobi - below budget uptake was due to delayed in procurement 
process on earmarked partitions in various floors.

(x)	 Refurbishment - Hazina Polana - The project is a multi-year, still ongoing hence the 
unabsorbed amounts will be compensated in the incoming years.

(x)	 Server Upgarde - The budget was fully utilized as budgeted.

(xii)	 SAP/SSPAS Upgrade - none utilization was occasioned by delayed procurement of 
proposed ERPs (Upgrade of SAP) as a result of a non-responsive tender.

(xii)	  Network upgrade - The budget was fully utilized as budgeted.
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(xiv)	 Kenyatta Avenue - The project was tendered, evaluated and awarded as PPP.  It’s a 
multiyear project and the current year budget is fully committed.

(xv)	 Proposed Machakos Housing - The proposed project was shelved to be undertaken in 
2025/2026 hence budget was not absorbed.

(xvi)	 Proposed Kisumu Housing - The project was tendered, evaluated and awarded. it being 
multiyear project. It’s a multiyear project and the current year budget is fully committed.

(xvii)	 Hazina Village Mavoko  - The plot fencing is being finalized, below budget absorption is 
due to delayed procurement process for phase 1 construction.

(xviii)	 Software Defined Network (SDN)  - The project was fully committed and was within the 
budget

(xix) 	 Security Device refresh & air Gap with DNS & DHCP Security - The project was fully 
committed and was within the budget.

(xx)	 Application Performance Monitoring - The project was rescheduled for 25/26.

(xxi)	 Biometric - The project was fully committed and was within the budget.

	 NOTE/ The delay in Budget approval for capital projects for year under review delayed 
the procurement processes hence late awards of contract which in turn led to carry over 
of the budgets to the current Financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

20

1.  	General Information

The National Social Security Fund was established by and derives its authority and accountability 
from the National Social Security Fund Act, 2013. The NSSF is wholly owned by workers who are 
members and contributors to the Fund. The Fund is domiciled in Kenya and its principal activity is 
a provision of social security to workers in Kenya.

2.	 Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the measurement 
at re-valued amounts of certain items of property, plant and equipment, marketable securities and 
financial instruments at fair value, impaired assets at their estimated recoverable amounts and 
actuarially determined liabilities at their present value. The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) allows the use of estimates and 
assumptions. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the 
entity’s accounting policies. The financial statements have been prepared and presented in Kenya 
Shillings, which is the functional and reporting currency of the Fund. The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the PFM Act 2012, the State Corporations Act 2015, Income 
Tax Act (Revised) 2012 and the National Social Security Fund Act Cap 258 Laws of Kenya, and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting policies adopted have been 
consistently applied to all the years present.

3.	 Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)

(i)	 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue and effective in the year 
ended 30 June 2024.

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 titled Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (issued 
in January 2020, amended in October 2022). 

The amendments, applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2024, clarify a 
criterion in IAS 1 for classifying a liability as non-current: the requirement for an entity to have the 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier 
application is permitted.
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•	 Amendment to IFRS 16 titled Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (issued in September 
2022)

The amendment, applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2024, requires 
a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it 
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss.

The amendment, applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2024, requires 
a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it 
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier 
application is permitted.

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 titled Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (issued in October 
2022).

The amendments, applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2024, improve 
the information an entity provides about liabilities arising from loan arrangements for which an 
entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period is subject to the entity complying with conditions specified in the loan arrangement.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier 
application is permitted.

The Board of Trustees have assessed the applicable standards and amendments. Based on their 
assessment of impact of application of the above, they do not expect that there will be a significant 
impact on the Fund’s financial statements. 

Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

(ii)	 New and Amended Standards and Interpretations in Issue But Not Yet Effective in the 
Year Ended 30 June 2024.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial statements

The objective of IFRS 18 is to set out requirements for the presentation and disclosure of 
information in general purpose financial statements (financial statements) to help ensure they 
provide relevant information that faithfully represents an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income 
and expenses.

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027. Earlier 
application is permitted.

The Board of Trustees do not plan to apply any of the above until they become effective. Based on 
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their assessment of the potential impact of application of the above, they do not expect that there 
will be a significant impact on the company’s financial statements.

(ii)	 Early Adoption of Standards

The Fund did not early – adopt any new or amended standards in the financial year. 
	
4.	 Summary of Material Accounting Policies

The principle accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below:

(a)	 Member Contribution 

Comprises statutory, voluntary and other payments  by NSSF members and employers under the 
NSSF Act Cap 258, towards the Pension Scheme (Tier I, Tier II and enhanced contributions),  Old 
Provident Fund, and the New Provident Funds.  The Fund accounts for contribution when due.

(b)	 Grants from National Government 

Grants from National Government are recognized in the year in which the entity actually receives 
such grants. Recurrent grants are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Development/capital grants are recognized in the statement of financial position and realised in 
the statement of comprehensive income over the useful life of the assets that has been acquired 
using such funds.

(c)   FRS 15- Revenue Recognition

Revenue from Contracts With Customers
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Fund and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding 
discounts, rebates, sales taxes or duty, and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Fund expects to be entitled in a 
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The  entity 
recognizes revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. The following 
are the revenues items: -

Interest Income 
Interest income on all interest-bearing instruments is recognized using the effective interest 
method in statement of changes in net assets available for benefits. The effective interest method 
is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts financial instruments estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through its expected life or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options), but does not 
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to 
the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts.

The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive or negative adjustment 
to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability on the balance sheet with a corresponding 
increase or decrease in interest income/expense calculated using the effective interest method.

Dividend income - is recognized in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 
in the year in which the right to receive the payment is established, which is generally after 
declaration of dividends and approval by the shareholders of investee companies.

Rental Income 
Rental income from investment properties is recognized in the statement of changes in net assets 
available for benefits when it accrues, on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Other Income 
Other income relates to fines, penalties, recovered expenses form tenants, interest earned from 
staff loans and profit from disposal of the property, plant and equipment. It is recognized as it 
accrues. 

Sale of Properties
The Fund sales undeveloped property and or develops and sells residential properties in cash or 
on TPS Scheme. 

When property is sold in cash, revenue is recognized at a point in time when legal title has passed 
to the buyer. The Fund has arrangements for full or partial prepayment of consideration under its 
standard property sale contracts. A contract liability for the advance payment is recognized at the 
time of cash receipt. Revenue is recognized when the property sale is concluded as described 
above.

When sold under Tenant Purchase Scheme and Loan Advances – accrue when the Fund creates 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  
They arise when the Fund provides loans, directly to debtors with no intention of trading the 
receivables.  TPS loans and receivables fall under this category and are stated at amortized costs.  

Contract Balances

Contract Assets
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the 
customer. If the Fund performs by transferring properties to a customer before payment is due, a 
contract asset is recognised for the earned portion of the consideration.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Significant Financing Component
The Fund receives advance rent payment from its customers in the normal course of business. 
Using the practical expedient in IFRS 15, the Fund does not adjust the promised amount of 
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception, 
that the period between the transfer of the promised good or service to the customer and when 
the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.

Contract Liabilities
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Fund 
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer 
pays consideration before the Fund transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability 
is recognized when the payment is made, or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract 
liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Fund performs under the contract.

(d)	 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9: Financial Instruments)

Recognition and Derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Fund becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.

A financial liability is recognised when its extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as 
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires 
the Fund to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. 
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses 
are recognized.

Summary of Material Accounting Policies

Classification and Initial Measurement of Financial Assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and 
are measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified 
into one of the following categories:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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•	 Amortised at cost
•	 Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), or
•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be measured 
subsequently at amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
Specifically: -

•	 debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured subsequently at 
amortized cost; 

•	 debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the 
contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual 

•	 cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding, are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI);

•	 all other debt investments and equity investments are measured subsequently at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

In the period presented, the Fund does not have any assets categorised as FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:
•	 the Fund’s business model for managing the financial asset, and
•	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All revenue and expenses relating to financial assets and are recognised in profit and loss are 
presented within investment income, or other financial items, except for impairment of trade 
receivables which is presented within other expenses.

Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets

Financial Assets are Measured at Amortised Cost 
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and 
are not designated as FVTPL):

•	 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and 
collect contractual cash flows, and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets held within different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or hold to collect 
and sell’ are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of the business model used, financial assets 
whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for 
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at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designated 
and effective as hedging instruments, for which hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 13 ‘Fair 
Value Measurement’.

The Fund accounts for its investments at FVTPL where assets are measured at fair value with 
gains or losses recognised in profit and loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are 
determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no 
active market exists.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)
The Fund accounts for financial assets at FVOCI) if the assets meet the following:
•	 they are held under a business model whose objective it is ‘hold to collect’ the associated cash 

flows and, sell,
•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Any gains or losses recognised in OCI will be recycled upon derecognition of the asset.

Impairment of Financial Assets 
IFRS 9 requires the Fund to recognize a loss allowance for expected losses i.e. apply expected 
credit loss (ECL) model). Instruments within this scope of the requirements include: Debt 
investments – loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, 
trade receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments 
and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through 
profit and loss. Measured subsequently at amortized cost or at FVTOCI. 

In particular, IFRS 9 requires the Fund to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument 
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) if the credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a 
purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial asset. 
 
At each balance sheet date, the Fund considers a broad range of information when assessing 
credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, 
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash 
flows of the instrument. 

Instruments within the scope of the requirements included loans and other debt-type financial 
assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, contract assets recognised and 
measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the 
issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Fund considers a broader 
range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including 
past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 
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(a)	 Financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and

(b)	 Financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 
date. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category (ie Stage 1) while ‘lifetime 
expected credit losses’ are recognised for the second category (ie Stage 2).

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

(d)	 Benefits Paid to Members

Benefits to members are accounted for in the period in they are paid. However, member accounts 
accrue interest on a compound basis.

•	 Age benefits – payable to a member who has reached the retirement age of 60 years; 
•	 Withdrawal benefits – payable to a member who has attained the age of 50 years, and is out 

of regular employment for one year; 
•	 Invalidity benefits – payable to a member who because of illness or any occurrence develops 

incapacity to engage in gainful employment; 
•	 Survivors benefits – payable to the dependents survivor(s) in the unfortunate event of 

member’s death;
•	 Emigration grants – payable to a member who is leaving the country for good. 

(e)	 Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits 
upon utilization of the service or as incurred. 

(f)	 Property, Plant and Equipment (IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment)

All categories of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Certain categories of property, plant and equipment are 
subsequently carried at re-valued amounts, being their fair value at the date of re-valuation less 
any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Increases in the carrying amounts of assets arising from re-valuation are credited to other 
comprehensive income. Decreases that offset previous increases in the carrying amount of the 
same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve account; all other decreases are charged 
to profit or loss in the income statement. Gains and losses on disposal of items of property, 
plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from the disposal with the net 
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carrying amount of the items, and are recognized in Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available 
for Benefits. 
(Where the scheme has elected to revalue items of PPE, it should be done in accordance with IAS 
16, Property, Plant and Equipment)

Depreciation and Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated. Capital work in progress relates 
mainly to the cost of ongoing but incomplete works on buildings and other civil works and 
installations. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognized in the Statement of 
Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of each 
asset or the re-valued amount to its residual value over its estimated useful life. 

The annual rates in use are:
Annual Rates %

Buildings and civil works Nil

Freehold Land and Buildings Revaluation

Motor Vehicles, including motorcycles 20

Computers and related equipment 33.33

Office Furniture 10

Office Equipment 12.5

Fittings and Furnishings 20

Low Value Assets 100

Depreciation charge is recognized both in the year of asset purchase and in the year of asset 
disposal on prorata basis. Items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for 
impairment. Where the carrying amount of an asset is assessed as greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized so that the asset is written down immediately 
to its estimated recoverable amount.

(g)	 Accounting for Leases-(IFRS 16: Leases)

Leases under which the fund is the Lessee
On the commencement date of each lease (excluding leases with a term, on commencement, of 
12 months or less and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value) the Scheme recognizes 
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid on that 
date. The lease payments include fixed payments, variable payments that depend on an index or 
a rate, amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees, and the exercise price of 
a purchase option if the Scheme is reasonably certain to exercise that option. The lease payments 
are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Scheme’s incremental borrowing rate is used. For leases that contain non- lease components, 
the Scheme allocates the consideration payable to the lease and non-lease components based 
on their relative stand-alone components.



19NATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial measurement of the lease 
liability, any lease payments made on or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs 
incurred, and an estimate of the costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition required 
under the terms of the lease. Subsequently the lease liability is measured at amortized cost, 
subject to remeasurement to reflect any reassessment, lease modifications, or revised fixed lease 
payments.

All right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write-down the cost of each asset to 
its residual value over its estimated useful life. If the ownership of the underlying asset is expected 
to pass to the Scheme at the end of the lease term, the estimated useful life would not exceed the 
lease term.

For leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months or less and leases for which the underlying 
asset if of low value, the total lease payments are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease period.

Leases under which the Fund is the Lessor
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset 
to the lessee are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
Payments received under operating leases are recognized as income in the profit or loss account 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h)	 Intangible Assets (IAS 38: Intangible Assets)

Intangible assets value is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortization is calculated to write off the cost   in line with the requirements 
of IAS 38-Intangible assets.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognized as an expense 
as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable 
and unique software products controlled by the Fund are recognized as intangible assets when 
the following criteria are met:

•	 it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
•	 management intends to complete the software product and use;
•	 there is an ability to use the software product.
•	 it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic 

benefits.
•	 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the software product are available; and
•	 the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured.
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Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset 
in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognized as assets are amortized over a period of 3 
years which is the recognised useful life of software by Fund policy. 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortized on the basis of the expected 
useful lives. 

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, 
as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in profit or loss 
in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. Intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash 
generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortized.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in 
the statement of net assets when the asset is derecognized.

(i)	 Investment Property (IAS 40: Investment Property)
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation 
(including property under construction for such purposes), is measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit 
or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the 
date the recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in surplus or deficit in the period 
of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the requirements for 
determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a 
transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. When the use of property changes from 
owner occupied to investment property, the property is re-measured at fair value and reclassified 
as investment property.
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Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are presented as investment 
property.

(j)	 Assets Under Construction

Assets Under Construction (AUC) relates to ongoing capital projects of investment or operational 
nature. Additions to AUC are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at fair value.

(k)	 Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognized at fair values less allowances for any uncollectible 
amounts. These are assessed for impairment on a continuing basis. An estimate is made of 
doubtful receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end. Bad debts are 
written off after all efforts at recovery have been exhausted.

(l)	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the 
weighted average cost method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less 
all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

The Fund makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and 
records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls 
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the 
financial instrument. In calculating, the Fund uses its historical experience, external indicators, and 
forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix. 

The Fund assesses impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared 
credit risk characteristics they have been grouped based on the days past due. Refer to Note 36 
for a detailed analysis of how the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are applied.

(m)	Provision for Staff Leave Pay

Employees’ entitlements to annual leave are recognized as they accrue at the employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave at the reporting date.

(n)	 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the Fund’s non-financial assets other than investment properties and 
inventories are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If such condition exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and an 
impairment loss recognized in surplus or deficit whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount.
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An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value 
less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used.

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits 
in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Fund estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is 
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount or exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, had 
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the 
statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.

(o)	 Taxation Income Tax

The Fund is exempted from income tax under the Income Tax Act Cap 470 subject to compliance 
to the National Social Security Fund Exemptions Rules of 2002. 

(p)	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, short-term deposits on call 
and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, 
which are not considered investment assets. Bank account balances include amounts held at the 
Central Bank of Kenya and at various Commercial Banks at the end of the reporting period. For 
the purposes of these financial statements, cash and cash equivalents also include short term 
cash imprests and advances to authorized public officers and/or institutions which were not 
surrendered or accounted for at the end of the financial year.

(q)	 Borrowings

Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at fair value being received, net of issue 
costs associated with the borrowing. Subsequently, these are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any issue 
cost and any discount or premium on settlement. Finance charges, including premiums payable 
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of settlement or redemption are accounted for on accrual basis and are added to the carrying 
amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Loan interest accruing during the construction of a project is capitalized as part of the cost of the 
project.

(r)	 Retirement Benefit Obligations

(i)	 Gratuity
	 The Fund’s terms and conditions of employment provide for gratuity to employees who are 

on contract equivalent to 31% of the monthly salary per year of service to the organization. 
This employment benefit is accrued on a monthly basis and paid at the point of exit or at the 
end of contract. The provision in the financial statements takes account of service rendered 
by employees up to the reporting date and is based on the calculated staff benefits payable.

(ii)	 Staff Pension Scheme
	 The entity operates a defined contribution scheme for all full-time employees. The scheme 

is administered under a separate pension scheme from the Fund run by an independent 
Board of Trustees and is funded by contributions from both the Fund and its employees. 

	 The contributions payable to the plan are in proportion to the services rendered to the Fund 
by the employees and are recorded as an expense under ‘staff costs’ in the statement of 
changes in net assets available for benefits. Unpaid contributions are recorded as a liability.

(iii)	 Contribution to National Social Security Fund (NSSF)
	 The Fund also contributes to the statutory National Social Security Fund (NSSF). This is a 

defined contribution scheme registered under the National Social Security Act. The Fund’s 
obligation under the scheme is limited to specific contributions legislated from time to time 
and is currently at Kshs. 2,140 per employee per month.

(s)	 Members’ Funds

The Fund is funded through contributions from members and investment income. Members’ funds 
(contributions and interest accrued) qualify as a financial liability as the Fund has a contractual 
obligation to pay cash benefits as claimed by members upon qualifying.

•	 The Fund recognises a liability to pay benefits to members composed of contributions declared 
on the account of each member and interest accumulated on each account in accordance 
with the obligations laid out in the NSSF Act.

•	 Interest is allocated to each members’ account at the rate approved by the Board of Trustees 
with the advice of the actuary each year and is recognised in the statement of changes in 
accumulated members’ funds.

•	 Interest payments to members: Interest payable on members’ accumulated contributions 
is calculated based on the opening accumulated contributions (standard contribution plus 
interest) less benefits paid during the year. The effective 
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•	 Interest rate used to compute interest accrued to members is approved by the of the Board 
of Trustees.

•	 The recognition of the expense and respective interest provision is based on the requirement 
under the NSSF Act to recognise member balances as a debt obligation. 

•	 Benefits payments to members are made upon meeting criteria for payment as set out in the 
NSSF Act. Such payments recognised as a charge in the statement of changes in net assets 
available for benefits, and as a reduction from members’ funds when paid.

•	 Contributions from members: Member contributions remitted by their employers are 
•	 Received. Contributions due but not yet received at the end of the financial year are not 

accrued but accounted for and recognized in subsequent years when received.

(t)	 Accumulated Reserves

Accumulated reserves account is credited with net surplus for the year. The special contributions 
and fines and penalties are credited directly to the reserve account. After declaration of interest, 
the amount of interest is credited to members accounts by debiting the accumulated reserves 
and crediting members’ funds.

(u)	 Exchange Rate Differences

The accounting records are maintained in the functional currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates, Kenya Shillings. Transactions in foreign currencies 
during the year/period are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Any foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in profit or loss.

(v)	 Budget Information 

The original budget for FY 2023-2024 was approved by the Principal Secretary, State Department 
for Labour and Skills Development on 3rd August, 2023. Subsequent revisions or additional 
appropriations were made to the approved budget in accordance with specific approvals from 
the appropriate authorities. The additional appropriations are added to the original budget by 
the entity upon receiving the respective approvals in order to conclude the final budget. 

The entity’s budget is prepared on a different basis to the actual income and expenditure 
disclosed in the financial statements. The financial statements are prepared on accrual basis using 
a classification based on the nature of expenses in the statement of financial performance, whereas 
the budget is prepared on a cash basis. The amounts in the financial statements were recast from 
the accrual basis to the cash basis and reclassified by presentation to be on the same basis as the 
approved budget. A comparison of budget and actual amounts, prepared on a comparable basis 
to the approved budget, is then presented in the statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts. In addition to the Basis difference, adjustments to amounts in the financial statements are 
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also made for differences in the formats and classification schemes adopted for the presentation 
of the financial statements and the approved budget.

A statement to reconcile the actual amounts on a comparable basis included in the statement 
of comparison of budget and actual amounts and the actuals as per the statement of financial 
performance has been presented under section 20 of these financial statements.

(w)	Service Concession Arrangements 

The Entity analyses all aspects of service concession arrangements that it enters into in determining 
the appropriate accounting treatment and disclosure requirements. In particular, where a private 
party contributes an asset to the arrangement, the Entity recognizes that asset when, and only when, 
it controls or regulates the services the operator must provide together with the asset, to whom 
it must provide them, and at what price. In the case of assets other than ’whole-of-life’ assets, it 
controls, through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise – any significant residual interest 
in the asset at the end of the arrangement. Any assets so recognized are measured at their fair 
value. To the extent that an asset has been recognized, the Entity also recognizes a corresponding 
liability, adjusted by a cash consideration paid or received.

(x)	 Comparative Figures

Where necessary comparative figures for the previous financial year have been amended or 
reconfigured to conform to the required changes in presentation.

(y)	 Events After the Reporting Period

There have been no events subsequent to the financial year end with a significant impact on the 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2024.

5.	 Use of Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experiences, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results ultimately may differ from these 
estimates. The accounting policies that involve high judgement in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are:
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Provision for expected credit losses of financial assets – The Fund annually assess all financial 
assets for impairment i.e. Cash and cash equivalents, debt instruments and receivables. The 
Fund uses the simplified approach to impair receivables or groups of receivables as might be 
appropriate based on its average historical loss rate. Depending on the data, the Fund applies 
either of two ways of computing the loss rate per period. 

A loss rate may be computed as the ratio of outstanding invoice amounts beyond the default 
period and raised invoices at the beginning of each period. In the case where payments are 
available, the recovery rate may be computed as a ratio of payments made on bills raised per 
time period before the default date. The loss rate is then obtained as 1 – recovery rate. A common 
approximation is to cap recovery rates at 100% where payments exceed invoice amounts. The 
single loss rate is adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment using movements and forecasts for inflation rates, GDP and foreign exchange. 

The single loss rate estimates are applied to each category of gross receivables. The Fund 
considers whether ECLs should be estimated individually for any period-end receivables, e.g. 
because specific information is available about those debtors.

The Fund has applied the simplified approach to all other financial assets recognized as other 
receivables e.g. dividends receivable, an approach that does not include an explicit probability of 
default as an input per se. 

The loans and advances held by the Fund are mainly with corporate entities and has, therefore, 
used credit rating agency information rather than internal risk weighting methods. The information 
about the ECLs on the Fund’s deposits with commercial banks, government treasury bills and bonds 
and corporate bonds and Loans and advances is disclosed in Notes 16,19 and 21, respectively.

(i) 	 Impairment of non-financial assets – Impairment exists when the carrying amount of an 
asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation 
is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for 
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. 
The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the 
budget for the next five  years and do not include restructuring activities that the Fund is not 
yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the 
assets of the CGU being tested.

	 The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as 
the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. The 
Fund also assessed impairment for the assets and no additional impairments were required. 
The Fund’s non-financial assets include investment properties, property and equipment, 
intangible assets inventories, assets Under Construction and inventory with carrying amounts 
as disclosed in notes 24, 25, 26, 27 and 28 respectively.

(iii) 	 Property, plant  and equipment – Critical estimates are made by the management in 
determining the useful lives and residual values to property and equipment based on the 
intended use of the assets and the economic lives of those assets.
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	 Subsequent changes in circumstances or prospective utilization of the assets concerned 
could result in the actual useful lives or residual values differing from initial estimates. Details 
of the Fund’s property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 25.

(iv) 	 Determining fair values – The determination of fair value for financial assets for which there is 
no observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques. For financial instruments 
that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and 
requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of 
market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. Further 
information on determination of fair value is disclosed in Notes 25, and 40.

(v) 	 Provisions and contingencies – A provision is recognized if, as a result of past events, the 
Fund has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Management has made judgements in determining contingencies disclosed in Note 35.

(vi) 	 Valuation of investment properties – The Fund carries its investment properties at fair 
value, with changes in fair value being recognized in surplus or deficit. Details of significant 
estimates and judgements made regarding the Fund’s investment properties are disclosed 
in Note 24.

The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the 
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in future periods.

6.	 Contribution from Members

2025 2024

Kes Kes

6a Contribution received

Pension Tier I 28,806,205,875 24,213,741,144

Pension Tier II 52,535,717,497 34,173,151,301

Old provident 28,904,881 28,609,237

New Provident 568,539,677 648,318,592

Others - 79,737,096

Total contribution received for the year 81,939,367,930 59,143,557,370

6b Unremitted member contribution

Member contribution 1,016,406,498 1,572,422,506

Employers contribution 1,016,406,498 1,572,422,506

Total contribution accrued for the year 2,032,812,996 3,144,845,013

Contribution receivable for the year 83,972,180,926 62,288,402,382
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With effect from 2023/2024 financial year, the Fund began accounting for contribution arrears in 
the financial statements. Previously contribution arrears were only disclosed in notes to financial 
statements. The Fund collected member contribution amounting to Kshs. 83.97 billion during 
the year under review. The contribution relates to amounts remitted in respect of the three funds 
under the NSSF Act Cap 258 (old provident fund, new provident fund and the pension fund). The 
Fund also accrued uunremitted contributions amounting to Kshs. 5,177,658,008. These accrued 
arrears have attracted penalty amounting to Kshs. 11,622,536,851 which is not included in the 
financial statements because of prudence considerations. The Fund has instituted recovery efforts 
through alternative dispute resolution, court action, and Intergovernmental Relations Technical 
Committee (for cases involving defunct local authorities).

7.	 Benefits Paid To Exiting Members

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Age benefit 3,852,474,987 3,816,746,950

Survivors benefit 298,757,206 422,217,185

Invalidity benefit 11,945,124 19,192,543

Withdrawal benefit 867,361,547 1,064,221,238

Emigration benefit 33,362,882 24,114,914

Interest 3,672,164,220 4,366,796,448

Net benefits for the period 8,736,065,966 9,713,289,277

A total of 128,836 benefit claims were processed and paid to 91,851 exiting members during the 
year. The claims processed were 13% lower than the previous year whereas the members paid 
were 16% lower than the previous financial year 2023/2024.

8.	 Investment Income

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Interest Income (note 8a) 47,484,484,544 34,871,715,164

Dividend Income  (note 8b) 6,773,284,027 4,198,497,148

Rent Income (note 8c) 1,007,336,723 979,781,168

Parking Fees (note 8e) 81,224,059 98,524,998

Notional Rent ( 8d) 141,348,600 141,348,600

Mast Rent (8f) 11,486,243 10,528,242

Interest on TPS loans (note 8g) 230,103,930 272,943,048

Other Investment Income (note 8h) 45,199,819 (955,849,185)

      55,774,467,944     39,617,489,184 

The Fund’s investments earned Kshs. 55.77 billion gross investment income, or 41% higher than 
the previous year. This was an impressive performance considering the effects of the Global 
geopolitics, rise of interest rates and volatility of the Kenyan currency. However, the Fund’s 
management remains cautious and continues to monitor the situation going forward.
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The various sources of interest income are analysed below: -

2025 2024

Kes Kes

8a Interest Income

Treasury bonds 43,121,517,853 33,007,054,820

Euro bonds 2,928,856,040 -

Corporate bonds 204,850,451 219,427,466

Treasury bills 159,100 21,422,129

Term & Demand deposits 1,229,101,101 1,623,810,749

  47,484,484,544 34,871,715,164

Increase in interest earned is as a result of increased investment in treasury bonds and term and 
demand deposits.

2025 2024

Kes Kes

8b DIVIDEND INCOME

Bamburi Cement Ltd 1,241,561,005 372,128,148

Absa Bank Kenya Plc 289,751,014 256,636,609

British American Tobacco Kenya Ltd 118,513,450 118,513,450

CFC Stanbic of Kenya Holdings Ltd 144,288,221 105,869,981

East African Breweries Ltd 251,833,997 81,475,705

E.A.Portland Cement Co. Ltd 24,300,000 -

I&M Holdings Ltd 11,539,200 9,808,320

Kenya Commercial Bank Ltd 977,202,576 -

Kenya Power Ord 49,954,803 -

Kenya Power 4% Pref 20.00 1,420 525

Kenya Power 7% Pref 20.00 525 1,420

NCBA Bank Ltd 95,844,440 82,774,716

Safaricom Ltd 1,423,348,596 1,311,315,099

The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Ltd 284,249,049 284,442,848

Jubilee Holdings Ltd 1,527,463 1,160,100

Kenya Re Insurance Corporation Ltd 27,173,799 27,173,799

Equity Bank Ltd 1,104,077,946 1,022,928,184

Diamond Trust Bank Kenya Ltd 60,176,083 51,579,500

KenGen Co. Ltd 127,949,239 61,920,446

Centum Investment Co Ltd 1,883,456 3,531,480

Standard Chartered Bank Kenya Ltd 444,243,023 284,115,520

ILAM FAHARI I-REIT 7,140,000 16,660,000

MTN Uganda 22,166,641 24,485,388

Umeme Ltd 19,216,181 50,421,925

CRDB Bank Plc 10,274,529 2,436,750

Acorn Students Association I-REIT 23,110,287 19,042,286

Acorn Students Association D-REIT 11,957,085 10,074,951

  6,773,284,027 4,198,497,148

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Dividend income for the year was higher by 61% as compared to the last 2023/2024 financial 
year. This improved performance is attributable special dividend paid by Bamburi Cement, good 
dividend earned from EABL, Kengen, KCB, KPLC, and SCB. However, reduced dividend was 
recorded from Umeme, MTN Uganda and Centum.

2025 2024

8c Rent Income Kes Kes

SSH Nairobi 457,524,459 474,443,656

SSH Mombasa 80,123,200 79,685,356

Bruce House 144,400,808 143,036,553

View Park Towers 72,784,625 88,027,234

Hazina Towers 49,962,885 57,701,078

Hazina Trade Centre 189,265,582 123,346,844

Hazina South B 12,987,164 13,162,448

Kisumu Milimani 288,000 378,000

1,007,336,723 979,781,168

Rental income relates to income earned from investment properties. Tenants are charged rental 
fees based on the square metres occupied at agreed rental charges as specified in the tenancy 
agreements. Rental income is recognised over time.

During 2024/2025 financial year, rent income increased by 3% when compared to 2023/2024 
financial year is attributable to increased occupancy of Hazina Trade Centre.

2025 2024

8d Parking Fees Kes Kes

SSH Nairobi         28,851,800         40,100,481 

SSH Mombasa           4,793,340           5,978,921 

Bruce House         16,689,333         17,928,367 

View Park Towers           2,880,000           4,260,000 

Hazina Towers           2,879,206           4,953,000 

Hazina Trade Centre         25,130,380         25,304,228 

        81,224,059         98,524,998 

The 18% decline in parking fees is due to reduced walk in clients at the Parking Silo and HTC as 
a result of allotment of parking spaces to tenants who pay monthly rates which are lower than 
hourly rates.

2025 2024

8e Notional Rent Kes Kes

SSH Nairobi       126,043,680       126,043,680 

SSH Mombasa           7,500,480           7,500,480 

Bruce House           7,123,200           7,123,200 

View Park Towers              389,760              389,760 

Hazina Towers              291,480              291,480 

        141,348,600       141,348,600 
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Notional rent relates to spaces occupied by NSSF for its operations and management within the 
investment properties as tabulated above.

2025 2024

8f Mast Income Kes Kes

SSH Nairobi           6,957,157              990,000 

SSH Mombasa              720,000           3,534,732 

Bruce House           1,376,678              564,534 

View Park Towers              967,680              967,680 

Hazina Towers              949,998           3,954,802 

Hazina Trade Centre              514,730              516,494 

          11,486,243         10,528,242 

Mast income increased by 9% because new tenants at SSH Nairobi and Bruce House.

2025 2024

8g Interest from TPS Loans Kes Kes

Staff 31,656,175 33,799,721

Other Customers 198,447,756 239,143,327

  230,103,930 272,943,048

The reduction on interest earned from Tenant Purchase Scheme (TPS) of 16% is as a result of 
reduced TPS loans by 18 % as a result of repayment mainly Nyayo Embakasi Estate.

2025 2024

8h Other Investment Income Kes Kes

Profit/(loss) from sale of houses 10,974,475 48,758,025

Unrealized Forex gain(loss) 35,946,845 (260,500,561)

Foreign exchange gain(loss) (15,335,182) (762,950,951)

Other miscellaneous receipts 13,613,680 18,844,302

  45,199,819 (955,849,185)

The Fund earned Kshs. 45 million other investment income from selling of houses, unrealized 
forex gain and other miscellaneous receipts.

9. 	 Fair Value Gain on Revaluation

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Treasury bonds (note 17) 23,989,859,981 1,296,617,921

Euro Bonds (note 18) (3,074,488,305) (1,609,038,501)

Corporate bonds (note 19 19,519,785 (127,535)

Unquoted equities (note 22) 200,615,424 (282,302,709)

Quoted equities (note 23) 24,809,967,327 3,459,519,074

Investment property (note 24) 117,000,000 124,000,000

  46,062,474,212 2,988,668,249

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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The Fund’s investments experienced an improved fair value gain on valuation of treasury bonds, 
quoted equities and investment property, private equity and offshore investments. However, 
Eurobonds returned a loss on revaluation. Overall, the Fund investments recorded an impressive 
fair value gain of Kshs. 46 billion in 2024/2025, which is 1443% higher than the 2.99 billion 
recorded in the previous year. 

10. 	 Gain on Realisation of Investments

2025 2024

Kes Kes

T bonds 2,824,804,020 (233,083,273)

C bonds 6,952,919 8,574

Unquoted equities 106,327,608 852,907

Listed equities 1,621,442,113 16,537,587

  4,559,526,660 (215,684,206)

The realized gain of Kshs. 4.56 billion is mainly attributed to the sale of treasury bonds and Bamburi 
shares by Fund Managers. 

11. 	 Investment Management Expense

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Fund managers' fees 756,919,240 471,146,798

Custodian fees 181,316,952 124,216,722

Actuarial & investment management fees 69,999,072 45,358,043

Land rent & rates 12,796,235 (28,785,142)

Asset valuation expense 20,400,400 20,596,500

RBA Levy 5,000,000 5,000,000

Estate Management fees 47,070,734 49,116,806

Pre-feasibility study cost 4,473,916 232,000

  1,097,976,550 686,881,726

The Fund incurred Kshs. 1,097 million on investment management costs which translates to about 
0.02% of the value of assets under management.

12. 	 Other Income

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Miscellaneous Income          43,323,184        81,747,797 

Interest on staff loans          33,109,409        32,296,072 

Fines and penalties        467,001,873       489,065,754 

Miscellaneous expenses recovered            3,360,644          6,485,496 

Write back of returned benefits            5,498,089          1,923,227 

         552,293,199       611,518,345 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Other income represents miscellaneous receipts earned by the Fund mainly from penalties 
charged on late remittance of member contributions by employers, interest charged on staff 
loans, fines charged on customers who issue unpaid cheques and other miscellaneous receipts.

13. 	 Administrative Cost

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Staff cost (note 13a) 5,658,570,624 4,585,675,718

Trustee' Emoluments 71,556,027 68,782,807

Meetings, travelling and subsistence 246,524,416 317,586,319

Motor vehicle running expenses 52,391,124 51,026,216

Rent expense 426,434,378 314,846,466

Staff Training 84,412,115 71,993,147

Printing, Stationery and Photocopying 64,999,392 40,563,357

Communication services and supplies 92,279,244 86,603,074

Electricity, Water, Security and Conservancy 109,871,672 118,341,929

Repairs and general maintenance 371,190,739 410,888,300

Consultancy & professional services 6,220,650 17,251,480

Legal fees 149,613,636 235,090,408

Audit fees 9,280,000 9,280,000

Bank charges 37,214,887 29,100,278

Policy development 37,404,649 19,307,937

General Insurance 45,512,121 37,742,566

AGM expense 20,990,896 923,720

Fringe benefit tax 34,987,756 66,493,249

ISO expense 18,751,189 25,003,432

Advertising, Exhibition and Marketing 83,055,764 101,902,829

CSR cost 20,092,185 16,520,545

Project claims 277,640,484 -

Other operating expenses 29,310,041 17,115,850

Depreciation and amortization 203,122,253 217,985,926

Amortization of softwares 0 90,188,217

  8,151,426,240 6,950,213,769

2025 2024

13a Staff cost Kes Kes

Salaries and allowances 4,595,435,424 3,679,925,494

Pension contribution 593,395,733 503,815,376

Staff Medical expense 357,855,989 284,830,188

Staff Welfare 76,057,368 48,035,782

Staff Insurance 35,826,109 49,570,546

Provision for Pay in Lieu of Leave - 19,498,333

  5,658,570,624 4,585,675,718
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2025 2024

Average number of employees at the end of 
the year was

Kes Kes

Contract - management 25 81

Permanent employees - Technical 980 482

Permanent employees - unionisable 585 515

Temporary and contracted employees 50 67

Total 1,640 1,145

14. 	 Provisions/Adjustments

2025 2024

Kes Kes

 Athi River Mining (note 33) - 16,414,125

Outering Ring road plot 181,089,600 -

Increase in provision for doubtful debts (note 33) 129,382,923 (100,780,724)

  310,472,523 (84,366,599)

15. 	 Deposits

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Call deposits (note 15a) 4,652,249,075 5,723,666,000

Fixed deposits (note 15b) 8,406,949,888 2,490,146,000

Batian Fund (note 15c) 2,633,297,383 2,630,592,165

USD Denominated deposits (note 15 d) 2,310,465,268 600,087,045

  18,002,961,614 11,444,491,210

Movement

Opening balance 11,444,491,210 14,930,219,070

Additions during the year 142,726,856,628 148,536,473,266

Reductions during the year (136,162,673,598) (151,391,442,845)

Exchange loss (5,712,625) (630,758,282)

Closing balance 18,002,961,614 11,444,491,210

2025 2024

15 a Call & Demand Deposits Kes Kes

Stanbic bank 40,849,075 105,000,000

Cooperative Bank Ltd 2,902,600,000 2,879,862,000

Equity Bank Ltd - 132,018,000

KCB Bank Ltd - 600,000,000

Housing Finance 500,000,000 500,000,000

I & M Bank - 300,200,000

NCBA Bank Ltd 1,139,800,000 1,206,586,000

Diamond Trust Bank 69,000,000 -

  4,652,249,075 5,723,666,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2025 2024

15 b Fixed & Term Deposits Kes Kes

ABSA Bank Ltd 1,000,000,000 -

Cooperative bank 1,906,629,294 423,400,000

Equity bank - 553,746,000

Kenya Commercial Bank 2,192,424,445 -

NCBA Bank Ltd 1,869,924,193 63,000,000

Stanbic Bank Ltd 1,437,971,956 650,000,000

Sidian Bank - 800,000,000

Imperial bank 206,126,260 206,126,260

8,613,076,148 2,696,272,260

Less: Provision for doubtful deposits (206,126,260) (206,126,260)

 Deposits net of provisions 8,406,949,888 2,490,146,000

Maturity analysis:

Already due 206,126,260 206,126,260

Maturing within 90 days 8,406,949,888 2,490,146,000

  8,613,076,148 2,696,272,260

The deposits are carried at amortised cost and are made for varying periods of between 1 and 365 
days. The provision of Kshs. 206,126,260 relates to the remaining amounts of deposits placed in 
Imperial Bank. Imperial Bank was placed under statutory management by Central Bank of Kenya 
(CBK).

2025 2024

15 c Batian Fund Kes Kes

Kenya Commercial Bank - 900,000,000

Cooperative bank 600,000,000 900,000,000

Equity bank - 830,592,165

NCBA Bank Ltd 2,033,297,383 -

  2,633,297,383 2,630,592,165

2025 2024

15d USD Denominated USD  Kes USD Kes

Equity bank - - 4,056,108 525,858,032

Stanbic Bank 1,555,125 200,952,941 - -

Absa Bank ltd 4,648,016 601,454,581 - -

Cooperative bank 11,667,700 1,508,057,746 567,500 74,229,013

  17,870,841 2,310,465,268 4,623,608 600,087,045
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. 	 Treasury Bills (Summary and Movement)

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,771,040 1,212,194,817

Additions - 18,685,260

Proceeds on maturity/disposals (8,771,040) (1,222,109,037)

Balance at the end of the year - 8,771,040

Maturity Analysis: 

Between 0 and 90 days - 8,771,040

Between 91 and 120 days - -

Between 121 and 180 days - -

Between 181 and 365 days - -

  - 8,771,040

17. 	 Treasury Bonds (Summary and Movement)

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Balance at the beginning of the year 253,804,875,051 186,564,962,441

Purchase during the year 113,675,760,218 74,712,206,954

Disposal/Redemptions during the year (38,903,670,693) (8,555,882,483)

Foreign exchange loss - (213,029,782)

Realised gain on sale 2,824,804,020 -

Add: Fair value gain/(loss) 23,989,859,981 1,296,617,921

Balance at the end of year 355,391,628,577 253,804,875,051

Maturity Analysis: 

Within 1 year 4,244,007,333 7,471,874,517

Between 1 and 3 years 28,052,510,743 13,555,641,293

Between 3 and 5 years 62,448,174,699 48,833,089,669

Between 5 and 10 years 108,358,266,554 83,184,040,956

Between 10 and 20 years 138,163,193,743 94,888,755,159

More than 20 years 14,125,475,506 5,871,473,456

  355,391,628,577 253,804,875,051

Treasury bonds represent 64% of the Fund’s investment assets and earned 94% of total investment 
income. The Fund increased its Fixed Income exposer to mitigate the equity fluctuation that 
eroded value because of a poor run at the Nairobi Securities Exchange.
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18. 	 Eurobonds (Summary and Movement)

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Balance at the beginning of the year 7,168,671,038 -

Purchase during the year 30,192,413,240 9,636,206,661

Disposal/Redemptions during the year - (832,259,112)

Foreign exchange loss - (26,238,010)

Add: Fair value gain/(loss) (3,074,488,305) (1,609,038,501)

Balance at the end of year 34,286,595,973 7,168,671,038

Maturity Analysis: 

Between 5 and 10 years 10,044,935,764 1,625,504,009

Between 10 and 20 years 182,943,429 -

More than 20 years 24,058,716,781 5,543,167,029

  34,286,595,973 7,168,671,038

19. 	 Corporate Bonds

2025 2024

Nominal 
Value

Price Market Value Nominal 
Value

Price Market Value

Imperial 5.25YR 
FXD Bond

132,200,000 100 132,200,000 132,200,000 100 132,200,000

REALPPLE5Y-
RFXD Bullet Note

183,750,000 100 183,750,000 183,750,000 100 183,750,000

FXDCHASE2015 534,700,000 100 534,700,000 534,700,000 100 534,700,000

Family Bank 5.5yr 
Bond

904,500,000 101 911,091,996 904,500,000 100 904,210,560

KMRC Fixed 
Bond

95,007,167 104 99,117,747 131,146,537 100 131,086,078

EABL_
MTN_2021_Note

560,510,105 100 563,264,452 704,970,105 100 706,669,083

  2,410,667,272 2,424,124,195 2,591,266,642 2,592,615,721

Less: Provision for doubtful bonds

Imperial 5.25YR 
FXD Bond

132,200,000 100 132,200,000 132,200,000 100 132,200,000

FXDCHASE2015 534,700,000 100 534,700,000 534,700,000 100 534,700,000

REALPPLE5Y-
RFXD Bullet Note

183,750,000 100 183,750,000 183,750,000.00 100 183,750,000.00

Sub-total 850,650,000 850,650,000 850,650,000 850,650,000

  1,560,017,272 1,573,474,195 1,740,616,642 1,741,965,721
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2025 2024

Movement Kes Kes

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,573,898,494 2,592,615,721

Purchases - -

Disposal/redemption (169,294,084) (18,598,267)

Foreign exchange gain - 8,574

Add: Fair value gain/(loss) 19,519,785 (127,535)

2,424,124,195 2,573,898,494

Less: Provision for doubtful bonds 850,650,000 850,650,000

1,573,474,195 1,723,248,494

Provision relates to Imperial bank, Chase Bank and RealPeople bonds which have been assessed 
as doubtful investments following the placement of the two banks and the micro finance under 
statutory management by CBK and subsequent suspension of the respective securities from 
trading at the NSE.

20. 	 Accrued Income

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Accrued Dividend Income (20 a) 1,135,601,767 1,523,761,041

Interest from T. bills and bonds (20b) 13,000,501,641 9,289,157,137

Interest from Call and Fixed Deposits (20c) 63,763,716 105,818,272

Batian Fund deposits (20d) 5,055,223 7,582,251

USD Deposits (20e) 15,969,397 -

Interest from Corporate Bonds (20e) 19,633,981 22,981,275

Interest from Imperial and Chase bank 260,445,135 260,445,135

REALPPLE5YRFXD Bullet Note 12,540,938 12,540,938

Total accrued income 14,513,511,798 11,222,286,048

Less: Provision for doubtful interest

Interest from Imperial and Chase bank (260,445,135) (260,445,135)

REALPPLE5YRFXD Bullet Note (12,540,938) (12,540,938)

Uchumi Supermarket (1,095,510) (1,095,510)

Scangroup (2,142,750) (2,142,750)

Total provisions (276,224,333) (276,224,333)

14,237,287,465 10,946,061,715

20a.  Accrued Dividend Income

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Bamburi Cement - 372,128,148

Jubilee Holdings Ltd Ord 5.00 1,111,763 966,750

Diamond Trust Bank Kenya Ltd Ord 4.00 - 51,579,500

Equity Bank Ltd Ord 0.50 1,104,077,946 1,022,928,184

MTN Uganda - 12,496,421

Kenya Re-insurance Corporation 27,173,799 27,173,799
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2025 2024

Kes Kes

Umeme - 33,249,979

Uchumi Supermarket 1,095,510 1,095,510

Scangroup 2,142,750 2,142,750

1,135,601,767 1,523,761,041

Less: Provision for doubtful debt

Uchumi Supermarket (1,095,510) (1,095,510)

Scangroup (2,142,750) (2,142,750)

(3,238,260) (3,238,260)

1,132,363,507 1,520,522,781

2025 2024

20b Accrued Interest from Govt bonds Kes Kes

Treasury bonds 11,723,386,328 9,011,216,295

Treasury bills - 1,069,860

Eurobonds 1,277,115,313 276,870,982

13,000,501,641 9,289,157,137

2025 2024

20c Accrued Interest from Call and Fixed Deposits Kes Kes

ABSA Bank Ltd 1,438,356 -

Coop Bank Ltd 34,370,514 39,234,097

DTB Bank Ltd 369,801 -

Equity Bank Ltd - 8,356,260

I&M Bank Ltd - 4,605,808

Housing Finance 8,198,630 2,760,274

KCB Bank Ltd 9,169,075 2,876,712

NCBA Bank Ltd 7,167,956 25,972,825

Sidian Bank Ltd - 10,489,041

Stanbic Bank Ltd 3,049,383 11,523,253

  63,763,716 105,818,272

2025 2024

20d Accrued Interest from Batian Fund Deposits Kes Kes

Stanbic (Batian Fund) - 2,389,375

KCB (Batian Fund) - 2,589,041

NCBA (Batian Fund) 1,615,497

Coop (Batian Fund) 3,439,726 2,603,836

  5,055,223 7,582,251



40 NATIONAL SOCIAL SECURITY FUND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2025 2024

20e Accrued Interest from Corporate Bonds Kes Kes

EABL-FXD 02/2017/005 12,449,792 15,421,221

Family Bank 5.5yr Bond 3,203,806 2,883,426

KMRC Fixed Bond 3,980,383 4,676,628

  19,633,981 22,981,275

2025 2024

20f Accrued USD Deposits Kes Kes

Absa Bank ltd 12,607,702 -

Co-op Bank Ltd 805,020 -

Stanbic Bank 2,556,676 -

  15,969,397 -

21. 	 TPS Loans 

2025 2024

Kes Kes

TPS Loans-held by NSSF Employees 541,443,950 600,512,233

TPS Loans-held by Public 1,542,238,466 1,942,873,324

  2,083,682,416 2,543,385,556

Reduction of 18% in TPS loans is due to repayment by homeowners.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Consolidated Bank was valued in 2012 at a point when there was an expression of interest to 
purchase the Fund’s stake. Given the nature of the bank, and the prevailing market conditions, it 
is prudent that it is retained at cost as opposed to reflecting the values obtained in 2012. Fanisi 
Fund II is a private equity fund. Private Equity investments are made in a manner such that the 
Fund made a commitment to invest $1 Million and the funds are only drawn down as Fanisi makes 
investments. The valuation can therefore only be carried out after the Fund has finalized making 
investments. The amount in the financial statements is therefore what has been drawn down. UAP 
shares have been revalued using Over the Counter (OTC) price as at 30th June 2025.

The investment of Kshs. 7,980,156,365 constitute investments in private equities both local and 
offshore are depicted below.

Asset Location Units Value Currency

Purchases  

Acorn Students Association Dev't Reit Local 3,667,481 89,999,984 Kes

Acorn Students Association Investment Reit Local 9,532,455 209,999,984 Kes

AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION Offshore 10,822,508 3,228,551,364 USD

Apollo Money Market Fund Local 200,000,000 200,000,000 Kes

BATIAN INCOME FUND Local 4,200,000 441,509,906 Kes

FANISI FUND II Local 41,158 5,379,626 Kes

FRANKLIN TEMPLETON Offshore 492,477 3,506,855,501 USD

GenAfrica Money Market Fund Local 297,860,000 297,860,000 Kes

Total Purchases   526,616,079 7,980,156,365

Disposals  

BATIAN INCOME FUND Local 1,300,000 136,672,354 Kes

FANISI FUND II Local 6,868 888,743 Kes

FRANKLIN TEMPLETON Offshore 192,081 1,455,574,402 USD

GenAfrica Money Market Fund Local 297,860,000 310,029,311 Kes

Total sales   299,358,949 1,903,164,810

Net additions during the year   227,257,130 6,076,991,555
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Investment properties comprise land and buildings held to earn rental income and/or capital 
appreciation. The fair values of each investment properties were assessed by at least one of the 
independent certified professional valuers including Ebony Estates Limited, Value Line Consulting 
Limited and Legend Management Limited as at 30 June 2025.

The valuations were carried out in accordance with the International Valuation Standards, with 
regard to relevant local statutes, customs and market practice. In determining the fair values of 
investment properties especially in the case of undeveloped land, the valuer used the market 
approach by reference to the open market value which is the best price at which the sale of an 
interest in a property might reasonably be expected to have been completed unconditionally for 
cash consideration on the date of assessment. The valuers also utilised the income capitalisation 
approach by reference to the net cashflows/annual incomes from commercial property (majorly 
buildings) where the buildings were set up primarily for rental purposes unless the approach did 
not reflect reasonable estimates based on current market conditions.

In instances where the market value of a property could not be ascertained due to lack of information, 
the valuers adopted the cost approach which is based on the depreciated replacement cost. With 
this method, the values for buildings and other improvements are determined by calculating the 
present-day replacement cost of putting up a similar and functional structure ready to provide the 
same facilities at the same place but depreciating them accordingly.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets available for 
benefits. The impact of revaluing investment properties on surplus for the year is Kshs.117 million 
as disclosed in the table below which also shows the reconciliation of the movement in the carrying 
amount of the investment property between the opening and closing dates.

2025 2024

24 Movement Kes Kes

Opening balance 35,664,483,481 35,810,225,456

Additions during the year 181,089,600 -

Reduction/disposal during the year (59,025,525) (269,741,975)

Gain/(loss) on revaluation 117,000,000 124,000,000

Transfer to Asset under Construction - -

35,903,547,556 35,664,483,481

Less: Impairment (456,089,600) (275,000,000)

  35,447,457,956 35,389,483,481

Reduction represent sale of Milimani Executive Apartments house units and Nyayo Embakasi. 
Impairment relates to Forest Edge plot and Upper Hill Plot whose title was revoked by the National 
Land Commission. Valuation of Land and buildings was carried out by independent valuers on 
income capitalization and comparison approach. These amounts were adopted on 30th June 
2025.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25.  Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment

Property plant and Equipment includes the following assets that are fully depreciated:

Movement Cost Valuation Normal Annual 
Depreciation

 charge

Kshs Kshs

Motor Vehicles 969,507,419.33 193,901,484

ICT Hardware 363,481,362.79 121,160,454

Furniture 225,231,248.62 22,523,125

Equipment 160,387,643.81 20,048,455

Fittings 117,833,637.79 23,566,728

Softwares 1,247,498,635 415,832,878

Total 3,083,939,947 797,033,124

26.  Intangible Assets

2025 2024

Description Kshs Kshs

Cost

At July 1 1,247,498,635 1,247,498,635

Additions - -

Disposals - -

At June 30 1,247,498,635 1,247,498,635

Amortisation

At July 1 1,247,498,635 1,157,310,418

Charge for The Year - 90,188,217

Disposals - -

Impairment Loss - -

At June 30 1,247,498,635 1,247,498,635

Net Book Value

At June 30 - -

27.   Assets Under Construction

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Tassia Scheme Project 105,158,476 105,158,476

Bamburi Plot 10,152,732 10,152,732

Electronic Document Management System 197,811,405 49,800,000

Viewpark Towers Lift Installations 38,861,096 16,659,413

Data Recovery Centre 137,322,017 -

SS Hse Cctv 150,671,728 -

Sd Wan 59,781,200 -

Bank Recon Module 62,050,000 -

Mavoko Fencing and Gatehouse 390,798,688 -

Refurbishment of Hazina Plaza Msa-Polana 122,210,400 -

Ukunda Branch Office Repair Works 1,668,058 -
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2025 2024

Kes Kes

SSH Nairobi Wall & Gatehouse 8,699,340 -

Kisumu Milimani Project 9,986,403 -

Kitui Branch Office Partition 541,489 541,489

Kabarnet Branch Office Renovations 4,365,158 4,365,158

Kerugoya Branch Office Renovations 3,799,750 3,799,750

Ssh Renovations & Repairs 2,086,886 -

Kitengela Renovation 2,037,037 -

Nssf Nandi Hills Office Renovation 1,139,820 1,139,820

Field Offices Partitioning 35,575,466 15,790,872

Renovation of Hazina Polana 1,408,400 1,408,400

Bulk Filers 24,358,538 24,358,538

Net Amount 1,370,484,086 233,174,648

Movement

Opening balance 233,174,648 145,137,161

Additions during the year 1,137,309,438 95,033,455

Transfer of complete assets - (6,995,968)

1,370,484,086 233,174,648

Less: Provision (Tassia Project) (105,158,476) (105,158,476)

Closing balance 1,265,325,610 128,016,172

28.   Inventory

2025 2024

Kes Kes

General office stationery 18,175,669 28,942,905

Office and computer accessories 5,071,749 9,722,189

Tools and electrical accessories 199,518 704,231

Safety materials and clothing 374,282 909,806

Hospitality materials 2,159,108 4,869,975

Motor vehicle spares 46,633 108,800

26,026,958 45,257,906

Stores and supplies represent the value of items of stationery, consumables and other materials 
held in the stores as at 30 June 2025. A stock-take to ascertain the value is carried at the end of 
every financial year and reconciliation carried out.

29.   Staff Mortgage Scheme Deposits

2025 2024

Kes Kes

KCB Bank 142,611,077 140,745,777

Housing Finance 681,922,097 668,762,970

National Bank of Kenya 504,906,517 495,321,267

  1,329,439,690 1,304,830,014

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Long-term deposits are made up of staff mortgage security deposits and balances of mortgage 
revolving funds bank accounts. The Fund has a staff mortgage scheme advanced at 5% interest to 
staff. All cadres of staff enjoy the facility according to the Human Resource Policy.

30.   Staff Loans

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Car loans 130,985,060 153,421,544

Insurance loans 3,801,462 4,479,550

Other Loans 430,516 430,516

  135,217,038 158,331,610

31.  Receivables and Prepayments

2025 2024

Kes Kes

TPS Debtors (note 31 a) 1,656,314,581 1,626,320,643

Rent Debtors 1,374,942,789 1,563,936,265

Deposits and prepayments (note 31 b) 291,319,174 275,193,480

Tax recoverable (note 31 c) 943,128,304 940,336,114

Staff advances (note 31 d) 50,921,674 43,216,478

Service charge debtors 1,501,266,746 1,112,975,232

Contributions debtors 5,177,658,008 3,144,845,013

Legacy debtors 14,389,969 14,389,969

Contribution Unpaid Cheques 3,271,259 50,397,305

Rent and TPS Unpaid Cheques - -

Clearing balances (11,828,322) 90,077,228

  11,001,384,183 8,861,687,728

Less: Provision for doubtful debts 799,759,470 670,376,547

  10,201,624,713 8,191,311,181

31a.  TPS Debtors

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Public 1,542,876,871 1,521,495,814

Staff TPS Debtors 113,437,709 104,818,150

  1,656,314,581 1,626,313,965

31b.	 Deposits and prepayments

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Other deposits 896,300 896,300

Advances and deposits to supliers 290,422,874 274,297,180

  291,319,174 275,193,480
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31c.  Tax recoverables

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Tax refund due from KRA (1996,1997) 936,633,434 933,841,244

Low interest tax 6,494,870 6,494,870

  943,128,304 940,336,114

  943,128,304 940,336,114

Out of the tax receivable of Kshs 936,633,434, Kshs 904,903,717 relates to an income tax return 
of Kshs 1,067,606,204 filed in 1996 later established that an amount of Kshs 493,257,328 was 
overpaid and a further Kshs 411,646,389 income tax inadvertently paid to KRA in 1997 when 
the Fund had become income tax exempt in accordance with Section 45 of the First schedule 
of Income Tax Act Cap 470 which came into effect on 18 June 1996. The incidental refund of 
the same has remained outstanding and in 2019/2020 financial year, the same continues to be 
recognised as a debt.

Year Amount (Kshs) Comment

1996 493,257,328 Overpayment based on draft accounts

1997 411,646,389 Overpaid based on the Finance Bill 1996 which was 
different from Finance Act 1996. KRA is yet to refund 
incompliance to Section 90 (1)

904,903,717

31d.  Staff advances

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Car Loans Debtors 15,171,474 15,181,924

Car Insurance Debtors 797,375 894,562

Mortgage Loan Debtors 6,917,601 6,917,601

Other Staff Loan Debtors 409,458 434,749

Salary Advances 5,411,304 8,030,790

Staff Imprests 14,079,382 3,819,564

Staff Medical Advance 5,296,615 4,836,969

Staff Vehicle Insurance Advance - 55,139

Meal Allowance -                  3,400 28,000

Staff Household Advance 2,841,867 3,017,180

  50,921,674 43,216,478

Provision for doubtful debts

 General provisions 

 TPS Debtors 33,123,656 32,526,413

 Rent Debtors 16,838,730 20,354,455

 Total general provisions 49,962,386 52,880,867

 Specific provisions 

 Various vacated tenants 725,640,986 546,213,535

 Staff pension debtor 4,587,969 4,587,969

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Mutula Kilonzo 5,015,000 5,015,000

Lloyd Masika Ltd 4,787,000 4,787,000

Bounces cheques 3,271,259 50,397,305

Low interest tax 6,494,870 6,494,870

 Total specific provisions 749,797,084 617,495,679

 Total Provisions 799,759,470 670,376,547

The provision relates to long outstanding items whose recoverability has been judged to be 
doubtful. Effort to recover is ongoing but the provision is to ensure that the financial statements 
do not overstate the financial position of the Fund.

2025 2024

31e Contribution debtors Kes Kes

Opening balance 3,144,845,013 -

Increase during the year 2,032,812,996 3,144,845,013

Reduction during the year - -

Outstanding contribution debtors as at 30 
June

5,177,658,008 3,144,845,013

2025 2024

31f Legacy Debtors Kes Kes

Mutula Kilonzo 5,015,000 5,015,000

Lloyd Masika Ltd 4,787,000 4,787,000

Staff pension debtor 4,587,969 4,587,969

  14,389,969 14,389,969

2025 2024

31g Service Charge Debtors Kes Kes

Opening 1,112,975,232 1,073,043,233

Increase in the year 388,291,514 39,931,999

Decrease in the year - -

Prior year adjustment - -

  1,501,266,746 1,112,975,232
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32.  Cash and Bank Balances

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Cash balances 831,143 1,201,110

Stanbic Bank 55,915,525 4,404,294

Cooperative Bank 2,205,858,594 392,368,711

Kenya Commercial Bank 855,563,342 1,412,940,547

Diamond Trust Bank 171,988,113 -

National Bank of Kenya 140,440,556 326,795,476

Mpesa 24,965,223 -

Equity Bank 593,015 132,757

Ecitizen 58,655,119 42,872,835

Standard Chartered Bank 79,065,649 19,675,002

  3,593,876,278 2,200,390,732

The Fund utilizes the services of several commercial banks to collect contributions from employers 
each month. Funds are transferred from collection accounts to custodian accounts in KCB, 
Standard Chartered Cooperative and Stanbic. Balances held in collection accounts earn interest 
at agreed rates. The Fund has also complied with government directive for collection of revenues 
through Ecitizen. The fair value of the cash and bank balances is equal to their carrying amount. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the cash and 
bank balances above.

33.  Provision for Doubtful Assets

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Imperial 5.25YR FXD Bond (Note 19) 132,200,000 132,200,000

FXDCHASE2015 (Note 19) 534,700,000 534,700,000

REALPPLE5YRFXD Bullet Note (Note 19) 183,750,000 183,750,000

Athi River Mining (Note 23) 16,414,125 16,414,125

L.R.209/11642-Upperhill-Nairobi (Note 24) 115,000,000 115,000,000

Forest Edge (Note 24) 160,000,000 160,000,000

Imperial bank (Note 15) 206,126,260 206,126,260

Doubtful accrued income (Note 20) 276,224,334 276,224,334

Provision for doubtful debts (Note 31 d) 799,759,470 670,376,547

Outering Ring road plot (Note 24) 181,089,600 -

  2,605,263,789 2,294,791,266

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34.   Payables and Accruals

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Payables due to Vendors 633,365,888 252,281,676

Rental Deposits 268,063,157 266,757,400

House Purchase deposits 99,773,431 124,543,946

TPS Creditors 732,938,769 795,554,477

Tassia infrastructure deposits 178,214,314 185,920,873

Taxes Payable (note 34 a) 13,063,846 59,714,401

Sundry creditors and accruals (note 34 b) 56,020,231 55,409,965

Returned benefits (note 34 c) 163,521,928 158,477,570

Provision for gratuity 51,112,515 18,650,964

Provision for pay in lieu of leave (note 34 d) 104,964,808 110,462,898

  2,301,038,887 2,027,774,170

34a.	 Taxes Payable

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Withholding income tax 10,168,385 5,030,112

VAT on rent 5,756,923 53,482,991

Withholding VAT tax (2,861,463) 1,201,299

  13,063,846 59,714,401

34b.  Sundry Creditors and Accruals

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Prepaid rent 43,962,040 44,884,212

Unknown rent debtors 1,138,780 1,138,780

Provision for audit fees 8,830,000 9,280,000

TPS Sundry Creditors (1,788,490) (1,788,490)

 Salary payable (Net pay) 3,879,299 1,896,526

Rounding off difference (1,399) (1,063)

  56,020,231 55,409,965

34 c.	 Returned benefits

2025 2024

Kes Kes

Legacy balances 157,864,145 158,477,570

Bounced EFT 5,657,784 -

  163,521,928 158,477,570
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2025 2024

Kes Kes

34d. Provision for leave pay 110,462,898 90,964,564

Increase during the period 19,498,333

 Reduction in Provision leave pay 5,498,089 -

  104,964,808 110,462,898

35.  Member Liabilities

2025 2024

Kes Kes

(a) Accumulated Member Funds

At start of the year 353,693,475,456 272,760,227,946

Contributions received during the year 81,939,367,930 59,143,557,370

Interest allocation 30,426,320,736 31,502,979,417

Benefit paid during the year (8,736,065,966) (9,713,289,277)

Members’ fund liability before benefit pay-
ments

457,323,098,156 353,693,475,456

Benefits paid during the year

Age benefit (3,852,474,987) (3,816,746,950)

Survivors benefit (298,757,206) (422,217,185)

Invalidity benefit (11,945,124) (19,192,543)

Withdrawal benefit (867,361,547) (1,064,221,238)

Emigration benefit (33,362,882) (24,114,914)

Interest (3,672,164,220) (4,366,796,448)

Total benefits payments (8,736,065,966) (9,713,289,277

(b) Interest allocated to members

Interest allocation as per actuarial 
valuation

30,426,320,736 31,502,979,417

  30,426,320,736 31,502,979,417

(c) Member reserve accounts

At the start of the year 43,307,886,909 39,361,603,650

Allocation of interest (30,426,320,736) (31,502,979,417)

Net Increase in Fund for the year 97,388,886,703 35,449,262,676

at 30 June 110,270,452,875 43,307,886,909

(d) Unremitted member contribution

Contribution arrears accrued 3,144,845,013 3,144,845,013

Increase during the year 2,032,812,996

Increase during the year

  5,177,658,008 3,144,845,013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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36.  Taxation

According to Section 45 of the First schedule of Income Tax Act Cap 470 effective 18 June 1996, 
the Fund is exempted from taxation.  According to Income Tax (National Social Security Fund 
(Exemption) Rules 2002, effective 1 July 2002 the Fund should comply with certain regulations for 
it to remain exempted.  

37.  Compliance with Retirement Benefits Act

In compliance with Retirement Benefits Act, NSSF maintains employer contribution clearing 
accounts where total contributions are posted from employers to the credit of member accounts 
for benefits payment upon qualification as per the Act. During the year, contribution in transit 
decreased from Kshs. 4,320 million as at 30 June 2024 to Kshs. 116 million as at 30 June 2025. 
Management endeavours to ensure all member accounts are updated with contributions received 
in good time.

38.  Related Party Disclosures (IAS 24)

The Fund is controlled by Government of Kenya pursuant to powers conferred upon it in the NSSF 
Act, including the power to appoint members of the Board of Trustees, to approve investments of 
the Fund and to approve its annual budget. The is also related to Consolidated Bank, East African 
Portland Cement and Bamburi Cement ordinary and preference shareholdings and directorships. 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties with which the Fund holds ordinary 
shares.

2025 2024

Kes Kes

(a) Income Earned from Related Parties

Dividend from Bamburi Cement 1,241,561,005 372,128,148

Interest from Treasury bonds 46,063,699,124 33,007,054,820

Interest from Treasury bills 159,100 21,422,129

Interest from staff loans 33,109,409 32,296,072

Rent Income from NSSF Sacco Ltd 7,127,897 7,127,897

  47,345,656,534 33,440,029,065

(b) Key Management and Trustees 
compensation

Salaries and short-term benefits

Trustees remuneration (note 13) 71,556,027 68,782,807

  71,556,027 68,782,807

The amounts disclosed above are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting 
period related to key management personnel and Board of Trustees.

Board expenses include costs for board meetings, consultancies, travel costs and trainings. The 
Board ascertains to continuously avail value to the Fund through offering strategic direction. The 
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costs disclosed above provide the input required to ensure the Board meets its mandate within 
the approved budget thresholds and legal frameworks.

2025 2024

Kes Kes

(c) Loans and advances due from related parties

Staff loans (note 30) 135,217,038 158,331,610

TPS Loans (note 21) 541,443,950 600,512,233

Staff advances (note 31 d) 50,921,674 43,264,192

Staff Mortgage Scheme 1,329,439,690 1,304,830,014

  2,057,022,352 2,106,938,049

(d) Dividends due from related parties

Bamburi Cement - 372,128,148

  - 372,128,148

(e) Debt instruments with related parties

GOK Treasury Bills - 8,771,040

GOK Treasury Bonds 355,391,628,577 253,804,875,051

GOK Eurobonds 34,286,595,973 7,168,671,038

  389,678,224,550 260,982,317,129

The Fund provides qualifying employees with car and housing loans on terms more favourable 
than the market rate. The benefits obtained by staff are subjected to income tax as required under 
the Kenya Income Tax Act.

39.  Contingent Assets and Liabilities

(a)   Contingent Assets

In the financial year 2012/2013, The Board of Trustees approved exclusion of impaired assets 
from the Financial Statements.  The cases to recover the assets are being pursued in courts of law 
and the current status of the cases is as follows:

(i)  Properties in Gazetted Areas 

The Fund acquired investment properties in gazetted areas in New Muthaiga L.R.   No.209/12274 
measuring 18.41 hectares (located within Sigiria Block which is part of the Karura Forest Reserve), 
Ngong Road L.R.Nos.20840 and 20841 lying next to Lenana School (part of Ngong Forest).

New Muthaiga (Value of plots (Kshs. 850,000,000)
The Fund filed a case under (formerly 147 of 2004) NSSF Board of Trustees VS- Kitisuru Limited 
and Geoffrey Chege Kirundi, Mike Maina Kamau, Commissioner of Lands and Attorney General. 
The case is ongoing and is at hearing stage. EACC is currently investigating the matter.

Ngong Road Plot LR. Nos.20840 & 20841 Value of Plot (Kshs. 115,000,000)
The Fund filed a case in court under Milimani HCCC NO. 162 of 2005 NSSF vs Kerios Farm Ltd. The 
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case is ongoing. On 15 July 2014 EACC wrote to the Fund informing it that it is investigating the 
matter. The title to the property was revoked vide a Kenya Gazette Notice No.3640 dated 1 April 
2010. As per the Gazette Notice revoking the title, the parcel of the land had been reserved for 
public purposes and the allocation was therefore illegal and unconstitutional. The Fund was not 
given a hearing or any formal notification of the revocation of title.

The Fund is engaging the Chairman, National Land Commission and the Commissioner of Lands 
seeking for the reinstatement of the title of L.R. No.209/11642 and no positive reply has been 
received to date. As at 30 June 2015, the valuation of the land stood at Kshs.115 million.

L.R.No.17645 situated in Mlolongo along Mombasa road 
The land comprises the area where the Mlolongo weigh-bridge is situated. The government 
cancelled the title to parcel L.R.No.17645 situated in Mlolongo along Mombasa road valued at 
Kes. 27 million at the time of revocation of title. The Fund is therefore at a risk of losing Kes. 27 
Million invested in purchasing the land.

The Fund filed an appeal against judgement of the Court delivered on 28 September 2023 in a 
matter where the Fund filed suit against the government decision to cancel the title under Civil 
Appeal No. 969 of 2023 NSSF Board of Trustees Vs. Hon. Attorney General (Arising out of HCCC 
No. 146 of 2011 NSSF Board of Trustees –vs- Hon. Attorney General). The Fund’s Memorandum of 
Appeal has been filed. A hearing date is awaited. 
The Fund’s position is that a valid title was issued and even at the point of sale the Government 
valued the property and gave a value of Kes. 27 Million. 

(ii)  The amount of Kes.251,516,000.00 invested in Euro Bank

An amount of Kshs. 251, 516,000.00 invested in Euro Bank and expected to have matured on 28 
February 2002 had not been redeemed, as the Bank was placed under receivership in 2003.

The Fund initially won the case against Shah Munge & Partners and was awarded Kshs. 258, 
133,333.00. In 2013, the Fund identified 5,250,000 NSE shares valued at Kshs. 250,000,000.00 
belonging to Shah Munge, but another company by the name Southern Bell Ltd went to court 
claiming ownership of the shares. 

The company lost the case blocking the Fund from selling the 5,250,000.00 shares for Euro Bank 
valued at Kes.250, 000,000.00. The Fund sold the shares including a bonus of 17,500,000 shares 
for Kes. 92,681,284.40, out of which Kshs. 23,523,743.30 was retained and paid out as legal fees 
and other costs.   

(iii)  Discount Securities Ltd 

The amount of Kes.1,201,143,000 in respect of shares purchased through Discount Securities 
Limited. The matter concluded and the culprits convicted. The Fund has now embarked on the 
process of recovery of the lost amount. 
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(iv)  Cash Losses Westlands Branch Fraud (cash losses)

The amount of Kes.7,243,030 was lost through fraud at the Branch. The matter is before a court of 
law for determination though fully provided for in the Financial Statements for 30 June 2015. The 
case is ongoing.

(v)  Contribution Penalties as at June 2025

Contributions penalties receivable estimated to be Kshs.11,622,536,851.68 have not been 
included in the financial statements. The penalties are estimated based on the time contribution 
was received from employers after the due date. The Fund is involved in recovery efforts through 
alternative dispute resolution, court action, and Intergovernmental Relations Technical Committee 
(for cases involving defunct local authorities).

(iv)  	High Court Income Tax Appeal No. 7 of 2014 NSSF Board of Trustees =VS= Commissioner 
of Domestic Taxes, KRA. 

Kes. 904,903,717.00 being pending tax refund due and owing to NSSF from KRA pursuant to 
judgement delivered in High Court Income Tax Appeal No. 7 of 2014 on 29th June 2016. NSSF 
appointed Messrs SMK Business Consultants LLP as Consultants to lead a team from NSSF 
and that from KRA. One meeting was held and after deliberations, KRA sought time for further 
consultation and revert. The Fund has a high chance of success in recovering the money since 
KRA has admitted they owe NSSF the refund.

(v)	 ELC CASE E008 of 2025 - Hazina Plaza

Saif Said Al-Busaidy suing in his capacity as Administrator of the Estate of Khola Binti Mohamed 
Bin Seif and Azzah Binti Mohamed Bin Vs. East Coast Syndicate Limited, the Administrator of 
the Estate of the late Lawrence Regeru Wambaa, Fatemi Investments Limited, Warungu Holdings 
Limited, New Marewa Hotel Limited Mirema Investments Limited & Board of Trustees, National 
Social Security Fund

Hazina Plaza is a ten (10) storey commercial building and two (2) level basements situated along 
Muungano Street at the Junction of Msanifu Kombo and Haile Selassie Avenue in the Central 
Business District of Mombasa County. The property was purchased by the National Social Security 
Fund, Board of Trustees on 21 October 1994 from the Sub- Lessor M/s East Coast Syndicate 
Limited at a cost of Kes. 450 Million. The entire parcel measures approximately 0.32 acres where 
Mombasa/Block XX/328 is 0.14 acres and Mombasa/Block XX/329 is 0.18 acres.

The Fund’s title is a leasehold interest for a term of seventy-nine (79) years & 4 months with effect 
from 1 July 1968 at an annual revisable ground rent of Kes.200.00 registered under the Registration 
of Titles Act, Cap. 281 (repealed by the Land Registration Act, No.3 of 2012) of the Laws of Kenya. 

The Administrator of the Estate of Khola Binti Mohamed Bin Seif and Azzah Binti Mohamed Bin has 
filed suit in respect of Title Number Mombasa/Block XX/78 and all subdivisions made thereunder. 
The deceased Khola Binti Mohamed Bin Seif and Azzah Binti Mohamed Bin leased out Mombasa/
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Block XX/78 to the 1st Defendant, East Coast Syndicate Limited by way of an Indenture for a 
period of ninety-nine years with effect from 1 December 1948. The property measured 3.60 acres. 
The 1st Defendant defaulted sometime in 2018 payment of the stipulated monthly rent of Kenya 
Shillings Three Thousand. 

The Administrator of the Estate of Khola Binti Mohamed Bin Seif and Azzah Binti Mohamed Bin 
has filed suit for the following prayers: declaration that the 1st Defendant is in breach of the Lease 
dated 1 December 1948 and that the same be forfeited and the said property and erected buildings 
thereon revert to the Plaintiff; a declaration that the Plaintiff is entitled to exclusive and unimpeded 
right of possession and occupation of all that piece of land known as Title Nos. Mombasa/Block 
XX/78 as subdivided into Title Nos Mombasa/Block XX/278,280,281,283,328,329&335 and the 
erected buildings and herediments thereon; a declaration that the 2nd to 7th Defendants whether by 
themselves or their servants or agents , subtenants or otherwise  howsoever are wrongfully, illegally 
in occupation of the suit property Title Nos. Mombasa/ BlockXX/ 278,280,281,283,328,329&335 
and accordingly trespassers on the same; an injunction restraining the Defendant’s whether 
by themselves or their servants or agents, tenants or otherwise howsoever from remaining or 
continuing in occupation of the suit properties; possession of the suit properties; manse profits 
monthly from 1st March 2024 for Mombasa/Block XX/278, 280, 281, 283, 328, 329 & 335 until 
possession is delivered; rent arrears from 2018 per month until possession is delivered ; general 
Damages for breach of contract and trespass; without prejudice and/or in the alternative to 
prayers c, d & e above, the court be pleased to order that the 2nd to 7th Defendants to execute 
fresh leases with the Plaintiff for the residue of the term of the lease with variation of rent payable 
to reflect the prevailing market conditions; interest on f, g and h and costs.

It is our position that the Fund is a bonafide purchaser for value of Mombasa/Block XX/328 & 
Mombasa/Block XX/329 acquired proper title. The Fund has enjoyed quiet possession of the 
property from over 31 years free from any interference and can claim adverse possession. 

(b)   Contingent Liabilities

The major cases that may give rise to contingent liabilities during the year are as follows:

(i)  Nyayo Estate Embakasi Phase Six

Nyayo Embakasi Residents Association (NERA) instituted legal proceedings in the High Court of 
Kenya at Nairobi Environment and Land Division ELC NO.1170 of 2014 seeking to stop construction 
of the project because of environmental concerns. This has resulted in delay in completion of the 
works and this has led to the expiry of the Bank guarantee and the mobilization fee of Kes. 215, 
540,774.00 is at risk. The value of work done is thus KES 274.7 million against the payment of Kes 
227.9 million. This implied that the Fund’s exposure is KES 168.7 which will be claimed based on 
the terms of the contract.

(ii)  Nyayo Estate, Embakasi (Mugoya Construction)

Mugoya Construction Company Limited has sued the Fund claiming Kes.7.058 billion against a 
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counter claim by NSSF of Kes.9.873 billion. Included in project costs for Nyayo Estate, Embakasi 
and the counter-claim are questionable payments of Kes.324.356 million made to Mugoya 
Construction Company Limited without security. The Fund is of the opinion that the possibility of 
Mugoya Construction Company Limited succeeding is remote. These and other matters relating 
to dealings with Mugoya Construction Company Limited are under arbitration for determination. 
However, full provision of Kes. 324.36 million was made in the 2008/2009 Financial Statements. 
To date, the arbitration process is still ongoing.

(iii)  Refurbishment of Social Security House, Block C ground floor and associated services

Arbitration between Centurion Engineers and Builders Limited Vs. NSSF Board of Trustees where 
the claimant filed seeking further payment of Kes.460,216,803.73 after settlement of final account 
allegedly for final accounts, interest on delayed payments and loss of investments. The matter was 
referred to arbitration and Architectural Association of Kenya appointed Lilian Gitonga- Kithinji as 
the sole arbitrator.

The Fund filed an objection challenging the jurisdiction of the Arbitral Tribunal to hear and 
determine the dispute. The Hon Arbitrator ruled that the Claimant had fully complied with the 
provisions of the contract in invoking the jurisdiction of the Arbitral Tribunal. The Fund’s application 
was disallowed on 9th May 2024 and dismissed with costs to the Claimant.

(iv)  Arbitration between LEVS Trading Company Limited T/A House of Leather -vs- The 
National Social Security Fund Board of Trustees.

The Claimant a former tenant at Hazina Trade Centre is seeking Kes. 37,575,625 allegedly for loss 
of business after they were evicted from the premises due to non-payment of rent arrears and 
service charge totalling to Kes. 15,688,335.99. 

The Claimant fully settled the arrears and service charge of Kes. 15,688,335.99, leaving the claim 
for loss of business in court. 

The arbitration is part heard before Aurthur Igeria of Igeria and Ngugi Advocates. Each of the 
parties is meeting the costs to the Arbitrator. The matter was heard on 16th May 2024 where the 
Expert Witness for the Claimant together with the Fund Witness were heard. 

(v)	 Kisumu Court of Appeal Civil Application No. 3 of 2021 NSSF Board of Trustees -Vs- 
Keiyo Teachers Co-operative Savings & Credit Society, Andrew Ojal & 7 Others.

This matter relates to Eldoret/Municipality Block 101/176-179 which NSSF sold to the Petitioner 
(then Prime Time Sacco) for Kshs. 50,111,880.00. The Sacco was unable to take possession of the 
property as the land is being claimed by Prisons.   Kenya gazette notice 6865 dated 17.7.2017 
indicating that NSSF should compensate the Teacher’s Sacco.  The High Court delivered its ruling 
in Eldoret ELC No 253 of 2012 on 9 April, 2020. Judgement entered in favour of the Plaintiffs 
against the Fund for Kshs. 50,111,880.00 plus interest from the date of filing suit. Currently there 
are discussions with a view of exploring out of court negotiations.
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(vi)	 Arbitration Matter Between Centurion Engineers and Builders Limited Vs. NSSF Board 
of Trustees 	

The Fund entered into an Agreement with the Claimant for refurbishment of Social Security 
House, Block C Ground Floor and Associated Services at Kes. 387,495,115.00. The Claimant was 
paid the total construction cost which was adjusted to Kes 398,251,338.28 upon issuance of the 
final certificate by the Project Consultant (Conte-Design).  An opinion was sought from the State 
Department of Public Works (SDPW) on value for money invested on the project and it was on the 
basis of the report from SDPW that the final payment was made. 

The Claimant sought a further payment of Kes. 460,216,803.73 allegedly for final accounts, interest 
on delayed payments and loss of investments.  The claim was initially for Kes. 905,240,597.00 
but later amended to Kes 5 Billion.  The Fund has filed a counterclaim of Kes. 53 million being 
liquidated damages for delay in completion of the project by the Claimant. The matter was 
referred to Arbitration and Architectural Association of Kenya appointed Lilian Gitonga- Kithinji as 
the Sole Arbitrator. 

The Fund filed a preliminary objection challenging the jurisdiction of the Arbitral Tribunal to hear 
and determine the dispute which dismissed by the Hon Arbitrator on 9 May 2024. The matter was 
heard on 11,12, & 16 June 2025 where the Claimant and Respondent’s respective cases were 
closed. Parties have been given twenty-one days to submissions and the Claimant given the right 
of reply within 14 days of the Respondent filing its submissions. The Hon Arbitrator will deliver 
a ruling on whether Parties will highlight their submissions before she proceeds to deliver her 
judgement. 

(vii)	 HCC ELC No. 1170 of 2014 as Consolidated With ELC Case No. E063 of 2020 Nakumatt 
Holdings Limited Vs. NSSF Board of Trustees 

Nakumatt Holdings Limited former tenants at Hazina Trade Centre are claiming a sum of Kes. 
2,200,000,000 as damages allegedly arising from disruption and loss of business when the 
Fund commenced construction of Hazina Trade Centre. The Fund filed a counterclaim for special 
damages of Kes. 871, 697,124.10.

The Fund management believes that the Fund was not at fault as the Lease Agreement provided 
for construction to carry on in the event the Fund intended to do so. The Fund further maintains 
that Nakumatt Holdings sub-leased the Fund’s property without the Fund’s authorization and 
therefore the loss of rental income does not arise.  The matter has the potential to disrupt the 
operations of the Fund owing to the pecuniary interest sought by Nakumatt Holdings Limited. 

(viii)	 HCCC No. E142 of 2024 Dinkar Kumar Ramanbhai Patel & 3 Others Vs. National Social 
Security Fund Board of Trustees

The Plaintiffs herein have instituted legal proceedings against the Fund seeking the following 
prayers: A declaration that NSSF is in breach of the five (5) sale agreements dated 3 May 2006 and 
are therefore liable to pay the purchase price paid and all subsequent an incidental expenses/
costs together with the current open market value of the suit properties which the Plaintiffs have 
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computed at KShs. 81,136,330; general damages for breach of contract and costs and interests 
from 3 May 2006 until payment. The Plaintiffs allege that NSSF sold them the land subject of 
suits from which judgment was delivered by Justice S. Okong’o in Nairobi ELC No. 237 of 2007 
which declared that the above suit parcels were derived out of subdivision of LR No. 209/11881 
which was public land (a road reserve) and were not available for alienation. The Fund bought 
the parcel LR No. 209/11881 sometime in 1995 from Hamco Kenya Limited for Kshs. 32,000,000 
and Transfer registered in favour of the Fund on 29 May 1995. The Fund later sold the property 
to Nelson Mwangi Kamau t/a NEMKA Commercial Agencies vide an Agreement of Sale dated 27 
February 2004 for Kshs. 33,500,000.00.

(ix)	 Mombasa Court of Appeal Civil Application No. E045 of 2020
	 National Social Security Fund Board of Trustees Vs. Microcity Computers Limited

The Court of Appeal awarded Kes 112,503,514 to Microcity Computers Limited following their 
Appeal challenging the judgement delivered on 30 April 2020 by Hon P.J. Otieno. The Fund’s 
Advocates filed the application and are awaiting directions from the Supreme  Court. The Fund 
is seeking interpretation from the Supreme Court on the judgement rendered by the Court of 
Appeal. The amount awarded by the Court of Appeal is exorbitant noting that no services were 
rendered or equipment installed by the Contractor. 

(x)	 HC Misc No 67 of 2005 and Misc Application No E 121 of 2022
	 Kilonzo & Co Advocates Vs. National Social Security Fund Board of Trustees (A bill of 

Costs for Kes. 242,184,493.20 in Respect of HCCC No. 804/99 (Now 957/2000)

The Applicant filed a Bill of Costs dated 27 January 2005 in HC Misc Cause No 67 of 2005. The Bill 
was opposed by the Respondent on 29 July 2005(replying affidavit on taxation). No response to 
the affidavit on taxation was filed by the Applicant. The taxation proceedings were left in abeyance 
until 8 October 2018 when the parties appeared before the taxing matter following a notice of 
taxation issued by the Court. Even though a date was reserved for delivery of the ruling on the 
bill of costs on 25 June 2019, the Applicant filed a Notice of Motion on 3 June 2019 for leave 
to amend the bill of costs. The ruling on the application for leave to amend the bill of costs was 
delivered on 14 October 2019 where the application was allowed and the Applicant granted 
leave to file submissions in response to the respondent’s submission on taxation. Despite leave 
being granted, the Applicant is yet to file its submissions to date. The Applicant however informed 
the court that parties were negotiating, which the Respondent objected to through its Advocates. 
The Applicant proceeded to file its Notice of Motion Application (amended application) dated 
30 October 2020 seeking an order for leave to amend the Bill of Costs. The Fund opposed the 
amended application and the Court agreed with the Fund’s opposing arguments and dismissed 
the application on 3 February 2022.  

The Applicant further filed Misc Application No E121 of 2022. The prayers sought in the application 
is veiled as an appeal to challenge the dismissal of the amended application. The Fund has 
opposed this application stating that the Applicant ought to have lodged an appeal setting out 
the grounds of appeal. Misc Application No E 121 of 2022 will have to be dispensed with before 
the taxation of the bill of costs filed in High Court Misc Cause No 67 of2005. The Fund has filed 
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grounds of opposition in response to the application filed by the Applicant. The Applicant has 
over the last 17 years unnecessarily and unjustifiably delayed taxation of their bill of costs. 

The Fund filed written submissions in response and opposition to the Bill of Costs on 24 May 
2019. The Applicant was granted leave to file its submissions on 14 October 2019, in response to 
the Respondent’s submission on taxation, However, they have failed to do so.

The Fund has always been ready to proceed with the taxation but the Applicant is not desirous of 
progressing the matter. The Fund shall seek that the same be dismissed for want of prosecution.

(xi)	 Civil Appeal No E656 of 2022 National Social Security Fund Board of Trustees Vs. Kenya 
Tea Growers Association and 14 Others

The Applicants are seeking Certiorari & Prohibition orders against NSSF from collecting 
contributions from County Government workers. They are seeking a declaration that Sections 
18, 19, 20 & 71 of the NSSF Act are inconsistent with Articles 24, 26, 28, 27, 36, 41 & 43 of the 
Constitution, a permanent injunction prohibiting the Fund from mandatory registration of 
employers and employees, remittance of contributions and a further declaration the NSSF Act 
is void and unconstitutional. They are further seeking orders to restrain implementation of the 
enhanced contribution in line with NSSF Act.

The Employment and Labour Relations Court rendered its decision in a judgment dated 19th 
September, 2022 as herein under: A declaration that the NSSF Act has implications on County 
Finances and therefore the Bill ought to have been tabled before the Senate prior to its enactment 
in terms of Article 205(1) and 110 of the Constitution and to this extent the Act is null and void; 
a declaration that the NSSF Act provisions are inconsistent with the provisions of Article 10 (1)
(b) and of the Constitution as read with Section 3 of the Competition Act by giving the Fund a 
monopoly in the provisions of pension and social security services in the country and to this extent 
is unconstitutional, null and void; with regard to Section 13 of the NSSF Act to the extent that it 
requires the payment of allowances and fees approved by the Cabinet Secretary for Labour, a 
mandate of the Salaries and Remuneration Commission, the said section is in conflict with Article 
230(4) of the Constitution and is therefore null and void; further, Section 19(2) of the NSSF Act 
requires access to public service upon membership of NSSF, the said subsection is in conflict 
with Articles 21(1), 47(1) and 232(1) of the Constitution and to that extent unconstitutional, null 
and void; Section 20 of the NSSF Act which makes it mandatory to register and contribute to the 
Fund and oblige the Petitioner’s members (and other employees who have adequate alternative 
pension or social security schemes) to join the pension or social security schemes operated by 
the 1st Respondent violates rights of employees and employer’s free choice contrary to Article 49 
of the Constitution and is hereby declared null and void; an order of injunction is hereby issued 
restraining the 1st and 2nd Respondent from applying the NSSF Act on the Petitioners’ members 
(or any other employees who have adequate alternative pension or social security schemes) unless 
they opt in; an order of injunction is hereby issued prohibiting and restraining the Respondents 
by themselves, their servants, agents, assigns or any person claiming through them or otherwise 
from demanding, compelling and or requiring mandatory registration,	 enrolment or listing of 
any employer or employee whether registered as a member of any retirement benefit scheme or 
not to register, enrol or list and contribute their earning or any part thereof in terms of the NSSF 
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Act ; and for reasons outlined above, each party shall bear own costs.

The Fund appealed against the decision by moving to the Supreme Court and the Supreme Court 
on 21.2.2024 delivered its judgement in the following terms: Allowed the consolidated appeal on 
the narrow ground that the ELRC had jurisdiction to determine the constitutional validity of the 
NSSF Act; and remitted to the Court of Appeal to determine the substantive merits of the ELRC 
judgement on an urgent basis and directed Each Party to bear its own costs.

The NSSF Act is being implemented albeit the matter having been referred back to the Court of 
Appeal. Management is optimistic that the Court of Appeal will rule in favour of the Fund which is 
implementing a fundamental human right arising from Article 43(1)(e) of the Constitution through 
the NSSF Act. A judgement in favour of the Petitioners will reverse the gains made thus far with 
respect to enhanced contributions and benefits. 

(xii)  ELC No E183 OF 2025

Epco Builiders Limited Vs. Kenya Railways Corporation, National Social Security Fund Board 
of Trustees, Chief Land Registrar & Inspector General of Police

The Plaintiff contemporaneously filed an application and suit seeking the following;

(a)	 A declaration that it is the legal and bonfide owner of Nairobi/Block34/306(formerly known 
as LR No. 209/6439 and Kenya Railways has no right over the property

(b)	 A prohibitory injunction restraining Kenya Railways and their agents from claiming, entering 
into, occupying transferring, selling, encumbering or dealing with the suit parcel

(c)	 An order restraining the defendant or anyone claiming under them from encroaching the 
suit parcel

(d)	 General Damages
(e)	 In the alternative NSSF to indemnify and compensate the Plaintiff to the full extent the value of 

the suit property as at the time of the Judgement pending valuation of the property together 
with stamp duty as paid

(f)	 In the alternative the Chief Land Registrar to indemnify and compensate the Plaintiff to the 
full extent the value of the suit property as at the time of the Judgement pending valuation 
of the property together with stamp duty as paid

(g)	 Exemplary damages against the Chief Land Registrar for betrayal of public trust bestowed 
upon them

(h)	 Costs and interests of the suit
(i)	 Any other relied as the Court may deem just and fit to grant.

The transaction dates back to 1996. NSSF entered into a sale agreement with Guardian 
International Company Limited for the sale of the above property known as L.R.NO. 209/6439 
at Kes174,500,000.00. The property initially belonged to the Kenya Railways Corporation, which 
sold it to M/s Guardian International Company Limited owned by Dr. Sally Kosgei. The Fund sold 
the property to EPCO Ltd in 2007 at Kes 305,375,000.00 but completed the transfer in 2012 when 
a caveat lodged by the National Museums of Kenya was lifted. At the time of purchasing from 
Guardian International, the later represented that it had bought the parcel from Kenya Railways at 
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Kes. 77,000,000 and transfer in their favour endorsed on the title.

The Funds position is that it passed a good title to EPCO Builders Limited. The Fund shall also 
enjoin Guardian International Limited and Dr. Sally Kosgei to protect its interest in the matter. 
In view of the damages sought, an amicable out of Court solution would be best preferred to 
mitigate costs and safeguard the Fund’s interest. 

(xiii)	 ELC No 70 of 2019 Safeway Hyper Supermarket Limited Vs. National Social Security 
Fund Board of Trustees

The claim is for Kes. 30,712,320 being refund of purchase price plus interest. The matter is 
scheduled for further defense hearing on 23 July 2025.

The genesis of the matter is that the Fund was the registered owner of L.R.No 209/11314 situated 
along Jogoo/ Outering Road. The Fund subdivided and sold the property to various individuals 
which included Safeway Hypermarket Limited. Safeway Hypermarket Limited purchased L.R.No 
209/11314/2 measuring 2.570 acres from NSSF vide an Agreement for Sale dated 28 March 2006 
for Kes. 30,712,320.  

When Kenya Rural Urban Roads Authority (KURA) started the expansion of the Outering Road 
project, NLC placed an advertisement indicating that they were in the process of compulsorily 
acquiring 19 parcels of land for the purpose of road expansion. The purchasers of the Fund’s 
parcel of land were concerned that the property was among those NLC earmarked for compulsory 
acquisition. After the process of review by NLC was completed, a determination was made that the 
title LR No, 209/11314 was among the parcels that were unlawfully acquired and the titles were 
recommended for revocation. The purchases were invited to make presentation, in the process of 
review of the grant to determine the propriety or legality.

In the end the matter was heard before the Environmental and Land Court at Milimani in ELC 
Petition No.175 of 2016 and the Court upheld the decision by NLC to revoke the titles. NLC 
cited records dating back to the 1980s which showed that the land had been reserved for future 
expansion of Outering and Jogoo Road. NLC further found out that the allocation of land to private 
entities was done through collusion of public servants. They also cited conflict of interest on the 
part of John Ohas who was the Director of Physical Planning in the Ministry of Local Government 
and a Director of Endesha Multi-purpose Co-operative Society who were finally allocated the land 
in question.

The Fund maintains that it passed good and valid title to the Plaintiff.
Ogolla Okello & Company Advocates is on record for the Fund. 

(xiv)	 In the Matter of Arbitration between Mugoya Engineering & Construction Ltd & 
National Social Security Fund Board of Trustees & Symbion International Ltd  

The Contractor’s filed Milimani HCCC No. 59 of 2005: Mugoya Construction & Engineering Co. 
Ltd Vs. NSSF & Another for Kes. 7,057,915,245, while the Fund filed a counter claim for Kes. 
9,873,038,869.70. The suit was stayed to pave way for Arbitration. The Arbitration was part heard. 
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A new Arbitrator is yet to be appointed by the parties following the untimely demise of the 
Arbitrator Mr. Norman Mururu.
 
The Fund has a high chance of success in the Arbitration as the Contractor failed to complete the 
Nyayo Embakasi Estate project. 

The firms of Macharia Mwangi & Njeru Advocates and Wamalwa & Co Advocates are on record 
for the Fund.

(xv)	 Mombasa HCCC No. 339 of 2008 Abellana Properties Vs. National Social Security 
Fund Board of Trustees and 3 Others

The Plaintiff’s claim is for Kes. 100 million on account of lost economic profit, Kes. 4.5 million 
being legal fees incurred and exemplary damages among others.Following sale of Mbsa/Blk 
XX/143,144 & 152 to the Plaintiff through auction at Kes. 17 million, Mohansons, the owners of 
the property filed Mbsa HCCC No 104 of 2005 Mohansons Properties Ltd –Vs- NSSF Board of 
Trustees. The properties were security given for Hazina Plaza, Mombasa and were sold pursuant 
to judgement rendered in HCCC No. 59 A of 2004 NSSF Board of Trustees –Vs- Azania Hotels (K). 
The Court will determine the matter on its merits.
L.N. Momanyi & Co Advocates is on record for the Fund.

(xv).	 Civil Appeal No. E020 of 2021 National Social Security Fund Board of Trustees Vs. 
Peterkeen M. Kimweli & 47 Others

On 11 October 2018 the Claimants moved to the Employment and Labour Relations Court for the 
following orders among others;

(a)	 All employees of the Fund still interested in joining the case be protected from any punitive 
action from the respondent as a result of filing and prosecuting the case

(b)	 Temporary order of protection restraining the Fund from any orchestrated targeted and 
punitive transfer, pre-meditated, contrived and speculative disciplinary or administrative 
actions or practices including dismissals, harassments, unfair treatment, in retaliation to 
institution of their claim pending hearing and determination of the matter. 

(c)	 The job evaluation be stayed.

The Court ordered the Fund to adhere to all labour laws and its Act in conducting the job evaluation. 
The Claim was amended in 2019, the following being the issues in dispute;

(a)	 Unfair, unlawful and wrongful non-payment of salary arrears to the claimants as a result of 
job evaluation by Pricewaterhousecoopers (PWC).

(b)	 Unfair and unlawful underpayment of salaries to the claimants as a result of the job 
evaluation

(c)	 Violation of the Claimant’s right to fair administrative action, fair remuneration and fair 
labour practices and violation of the Claimants’ right to legitimate expectation.

Judgment was delivered on 24 August 2020 and the following directions issued by the Court to 
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the Fund:

(a)	 NSSF to take the list of 48 claimants and tabulate the dues owing in underpayments with 
regard to salary by placing each claimant in grade 5 and 6 at the next step of salary notch. 
The tabulations to include adjustments in cost of living, pension with interest from due 
date until judgement date on court rates and underpaid annual leave allowance based on 
annual gross salary

(b)	 No termination of employment
(c)	 NSSF to file the tabulations in Court within working 14 days, failure to which the claimants 

to submit their own tabulation for adoption in Court.

The Fund did not file the tabulations as directed by Court leading to the Claimants filing their 
own tabulation of Kes. 165,121,848.2. which was adopted by Court. The Fund appealed against 
the ELRC Judgment. The Fund’s Appeal was heard on 28 February 2023 and Ruling delivered 
on 2 June 2023 allowing the Appeal and setting aside the ELRC judgment. The Respondents 
being aggrieved with the Court of Appeal finding have instituted a further appeal at the Supreme 
Court. Once the Record of Appeal is filed, directions will be given and a hearing date taken. The 
Fund is yet to be served with the Memorandum and Record of Appeal. The Federation of Kenya 
Employers was on record for the Fund in the High Court and Court of Appeal matters.
40.   Financial Risk Management (IFRS 7)

The Fund generates income for its members by investing in various income generating activities 
which involve trading and investing at the stock exchange, investing in government and unquoted 
securities, investment property and offshore investments. These activities expose the Fund to a 
variety of financial risks, including credit risk and the effects of changes in debt and equity market 
prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Fund does not hedge any risks 
and has in place policies to ensure that credit is only extended to customers with an established 
credit history. The Fund’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance. 

Risk management is carried out by the Trustees together with the Fund managers and internal 
audit risk department under policies approved by the Board of Trustees. The fund managers 
review the market trends and information available to evaluate the potential exposures. They 
then arrive at strategies to mitigate against market risks. The Board of Trustees provide written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas such as 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of non-derivative financial instruments and 
investing excess liquidity. The Fund also follows guidelines issued by the Retirements Benefits 
Authority in respect of maximum allowed investment in different types of investments.

The Board of Trustees has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s 
risk management framework. The Board of Trustees has established various Board committees, 
which are responsible for developing and monitoring the Fund’s risk management policies in 
their specific areas. 

All Board committees report regularly to the Board of Trustees on their activities. The Fund’s risk 
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Fund, to set 
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appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and 
services offered. 

The Fund, through its training and management policies and procedures, aims to develop a 
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles 
and obligations.  

Specifically, the Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the 
Fund’s risk management policies and procedures and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Fund. The Committee is assisted in 
these functions by Audit & Risk department which undertake reviews of risk management controls 
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit & Risk Committee.

The Fund’s financial risk management objectives and policies are detailed below:

(a)  	 Significant Accounting Policies

	 Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria 
for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in 
note 1 to the Financial Statements. 

(b)	 Financial Risk Factors
	 The Fund’s overall risk management programme seeks to maximize the returns derived 

from the level of risk to which the Fund is exposed and seeks to minimize potential adverse 
effects on the Fund’s performance. The management of these risks is carried  out by the 
Management and Fund Managers under investment policies approved by the Board of 
Trustees. 

(c)	 Credit risk
	
	 The Fund has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable 

to pay amounts in full when due. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and 
deposits with banks, as well as trade and other receivables and available-for-sale financial 
investments.

	 Management assesses the credit quality of each customer, taking into account its financial 
position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or 
external assessment in accordance with limits set by the Board. The amounts presented in 
the statement of financial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated 
by management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic 
environment.

	 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements representing the 
Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained is made up as follows:
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Description Total amount Fully 
performing

Past due Impaired

Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs
At 30 June 2025

Receivables from exchange 
transactions

3,031,230,970 2,255,627,597 775,603,372 725,640,986

Receivables from non-
exchange transactions

7,997,246,824 7,973,090,726 24,156,098 24,156,098

Bank balances 3,600,590,994 3,600,590,994 - -

Total 14,629,068,788 13,829,309,318 799,759,470 749,797,084

At 30 June 2024

Receivables from exchange 
transactions

3,190,256,908 2,591,162,506 599,094,402 546,213,535

Receivables from non-
exchange transactions

5,671,430,820 5,600,148,675 71,282,144 64,787,275

Bank balances 2,200,390,732 2,200,390,732 - -

Total 11,062,078,459 10,391,701,913 670,376,547 611,000,810

* Past due includes impaired.

The customers under the fully performing category are paying their debts as they continue trading. 
The credit risk associated with these receivables is minimal and the allowance for uncollectible 
amounts that the company has recognized in the financial statements is considered adequate to 
cover any potentially irrecoverable amounts. The Fund has significant concentration of credit risk 
on amounts due from rent debtors.

The board of directors sets the company’s credit policies and objectives and lays down parameters 
within which the various aspects of credit risk management are operated. 

(d)  Foreign Currency Risk                                                                             

The Fund holds substantial investments in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign exchange 
risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar and Ugandan 
Shilling UGX. Foreign exchange risk arises from investment in offshore investments and holding 
foreign currency denominated financial assets.

The fluctuations in currency exchange rates therefore expose the Fund to foreign currency risk.  
IFRS 7 considers the foreign exposure relating to non–monetary assets and liabilities to be a 
component of market price risk not foreign currency risk. However, the Fund has transactional 
currency exposures that arise through purchases of goods and services that are done in currencies 
other than the local currency. Invoices denominated in foreign currencies are paid after 30 days 
from the date of the invoice and conversion at the time of payment is done using the prevailing 
exchange rate. 

The carrying amount of the Fund’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
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Description Other currencies Total

Kshs Kshs Kshs
At 30 June 2025

Financial assets:

Investments 457,061,335,352 49,450,082,867 506,511,418,219

Cash 3,593,876,278 - 3,593,876,278

Debtors 10,201,624,713 - 10,201,624,713

Total 470,856,836,343 49,450,082,867 520,306,919,210

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 2,301,038,887 - 2,301,038,887

Borrowings - - -

Total 2,301,038,887 - 2,301,038,887

Net foreign currency asset/(liabil-
ity)

468,555,797,456 49,450,082,867 518,005,880,322

(e)  Price risk                                                                        

The Fund is exposed to securities price risk because of investments in quoted securities classified 
at fair value through profit or loss. The Fund is also exposed to the risk that the value of debt 
securities will fluctuate due to changes in market value. To manage its price risk arising from 
investments in equity and debt securities, the Fund diversifies its portfolio. For equities, the Fund 
has invested in companies in different sectors of the economy, while for debt securities, the Fund 
has invested in bonds with varying maturities. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance 
with Fund’s investment policy which is approved by the Board of Trustees. Securities held by the 
Fund are traded on the Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE) and Uganda Securities Exchange.

(f)  Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations attributable 
to its financial liabilities. The ultimate responsibility for the liquidity risk management rests with the 
Board of Trustees, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for 
the management of the Fund’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Fund manages liquidity risk by maintaining strict cashflow management 
through continuous monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows. 

The Fund is exposed to daily operational payments and payment to benefit claims payable 
balances. The Fund is required to make periodic payment in respect of benefit when members exit 
active employment and is therefore exposed to the risk of difficulty in raising funds to make such 
payments. It therefore invests a portion of its assets in investments that are readily convertible to 
cash. The Fund sets limits on the minimum proportions of maturing funds available to meet such 
calls and unexpected levels of demand. The Fund’s management monitors the Fund’s liquidity on 
a regular basis and the Board of Trustees review it on a quarterly basis.

The table below represents cash flows payable by the company under non-derivative financial 
liabilities by their remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed 
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in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  Balances due within 12 months equal 
their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Description Less than 1 
month

Between 1-3 
months

Over 5 
months

Total

Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs
At 30 June 2025

Trade payables 656,507,704 - - 656,507,704

Current portion of borrowings - - - -

Provisions - - - -

Employee benefit obligation 104,964,808 - 51,112,515 156,077,323

Total 761,472,512 - 51,112,515 812,585,027

At 30 June 2024

Trade payables 311,996,077 - - 311,996,077

Current portion of borrowings - - - -

Provisions - - - -

Employee benefit obligation 110,462,898 - 18,650,964 129,113,862

Total 422,458,975 - 18,650,964 441,109,939

(g)  Market risk
	
The Board of Trustees has put in place an internal audit function to assist it in assessing the risk 
faced by the Fund on an ongoing basis, evaluate and test the design and effectiveness of its 
internal accounting and operational controls.

Market risk is the risk arising from changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices 
and foreign exchange rates which will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of 
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. Overall responsibility 
for managing market risk rests with the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The Fund’s Finance and Investment Division is responsible for the development of detailed risk 
management policies (subject to review and approval by Audit and Risk Management Committee) 
and for the day-to-day implementation of those policies. 	 There has been no change to the 
entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(h)  Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the entity’s financial condition may be adversely affected as a result 
of changes in interest rate levels. The Fund’s interest-bearing assets are investments in treasury 
bonds, corporate bonds, treasury bills, commercial paper, fixed 

deposits and TPS loans. All of these instruments are at fixed interest rates. The nature of financial 
instruments held, that is fixed interest instruments, mitigates risk exposure of the Fund. Fluctuations 
in interest rates will have an insignificant effect on the Fund’s financial performance. 
(i)  	 Management of interest rate risk
	 To manage the interest rate risk, management has endeavoured to bank with institutions that 

offer favourable interest rates.
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(ii)  	 Sensitivity analysis
	 The Fund analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis by conducting a sensitivity 

analysis. This involves determining the impact on profit or loss of defined rate shifts. The 
sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign 
exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis has been performed on the same basis as the 
prior year.

(iii)	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

(a)  Financial instruments measured at fair value

Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy 
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from 
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the entity’s market assumptions. These two 
types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
(i)	 Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This 

level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
(ii)	 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
(iii)	 Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with 
significant unobservable components. This hierarchy requires the use of observable market 
data when available. The Fund considers relevant and observable market prices in its 
valuations where possible.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

 At 30 June 2025 Level 1 Kshs Level 2 Kshs Level 3 Kshs Total Kshs

Financial assets:

Quoted equities 85,135,034,479 - - 85,135,034,479

Treasury bonds 355,391,628,577 - - 355,391,628,577

Eurobonds 34,286,595,973 - - 34,286,595,973

Corporate bonds 1,573,474,195 - - 1,573,474,195

Private Equity 9,838,554,225 1,359,590,224 199,486,740 11,397,631,189

Sub total 486,225,287,449 1,359,590,224 199,486,740 487,784,364,413

 

Non- financial assets:

Investment property - - 35,447,457,956 35,447,457,956

Sub total - - 35,447,457,956 35,447,457,956

Total 486,225,287,449 1,359,590,224 35,646,944,696 523,231,822,369

At 30 June 2023

Financial assets:

Quoted equities 61,185,359,154 - - 61,185,359,154

Treasury bonds 253,804,875,051 - - 253,804,875,051

Eurobonds 7,168,671,038 - - 7,168,671,038

Corporate bonds 1,723,248,494 - - 1,723,248,494
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Private Equity 1,014,665,677 199,486,740 1,214,152,417

Sub total 323,882,153,737 1,014,665,677 199,486,740 325,096,306,154

 

Non- financial assets

Investment property - - 35,389,483,481 35,389,483,481

Sub total - - 35,389,483,481 35,389,483,481

Total 323,882,153,737 1,014,665,677 35,588,970,221 360,485,789,635

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Disclosures of fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value have not been made 
because the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

41.  Incorporation

National Social Security Fund is established under the National Social Security Fund Act Cap 258 
and is domiciled in Kenya.

42.  Events after the Reporting Period

There were no material adjusting and non- adjusting events after the reporting period.

43.  Currency

The financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings (Kshs)
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